
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 
14 February 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 10)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2022-23 (Pages 11 - 66)

6. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Q3 2021/22 (Pages 67 - 84)

7. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Q3 2021/22 (Pages 85 - 
108)

8. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Update 3 (Pages 109 - 
134)



9. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Charter Review (Pages 135 - 
148)

10. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 Progress Review (Pages 149 - 
166)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items included 
in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature of business 
to be transacted that if members of the public are present during those 
items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined 
in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

None. 

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Dakota Dibben
Samir Jassal
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance and Audit Committee

Wednesday, 10 November 2021 7.30 pm

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden
John Caller
Dakota Dibben 
Samir Jassal
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade
Emma Morley

Lisa Nyon
James Larkin

Andrew Barnett 
Alexandra Jarvis   

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief 
Audit Executive) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)

Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (minutes)   

124. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran. Cllr John Caller 
attended as her substitute.

125. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 21 September 2021 were agreed and signed by the 
Chair.

126. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Sarah Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Director of 
Rosherville Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

127. Update on 2019/20 external audit / draft statement of accounts 2020/21 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) gave a verbal update on the 2019/20 external 
audit and draft statement of accounts for 2020/21 and highlighted the following: 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

2

 The external audit for 2019/20 is still ongoing. As reported previously the two main 
outstanding items to resolve are the accounting treatment of The St George’s 
Shopping Centre transaction and the valuation of HRA dwellings.  

 External advice is being sought from CIPFA regarding the St George’s Shopping 
Centre transaction. The finance team are currently working with Grant Thornton with 
regard to the HRA dwellings valuation. 

 Once the 2019/20 accounts are finalised and reviewed by Grant Thornton, the audit 
of the 2020/21 financial statements would commence. 

 Following on from a question, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) confirmed 
that at the moment there is no definitive date when the 2019/20 audit will be 
concluded, however Members will be kept updated on progress. 

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) and the finance team for all 
their work to resolve the outstanding issues. 

128. General Fund Budget Monitoring Q2 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) updated the Committee with information on actual 
performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including 
projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity. Updated 
Members on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements and informed Members of a proposed in year addition to the Capital 
programme.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) highlighted the following:-

 There is an overall year-end projected favourable variance of around £235k.
 A recurring theme of the report is Covid-19’s effect on the Council’s finances 
 As Central Government Support for business and individuals begin to unwind, there 

will likely be an impact on the Council’s various income streams.
 There is currently a net £250k projected underspend across staffing budgets 

particularly where turnover has increased this year compared to last year.  
 Within the Communities Directorate, there is a projected net deficit with Parking 

Income of £27k. This is the combined impact of the overall projected income loss 
compared to the original budget of £222k, partly offset by the Government’s Sales, 
Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme for the period April – June 2021. 

 Elsewhere within the Communities Directorate, there are reserve movements relating 
to Street Lighting, Leisure Services and the Market. In each case, these are a 
continuation of schemes, which commenced in 2020/21, and are now underway in 
the current financial year. 

 Within the Corporate Services Directorate, there is a favourable variance of £81k. 
This is due to a combination of a reduced borrowing requirement than initially 
envisaged carried over from 2020/21, along with continuing low interest rates having 
a positive impact on the Council’s finances. 

 The summary position for year-end Working Balances is around £11.93m, which can 
be broken down into three elements:

o The Minimum General Fund Working Balance of £2m
o The General Fund Reserve of £3.25m
o Usable Working Balances of around some £6.68m

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

3

 The table in section 3.10.2 set out movements in General Fund reserves for the year 
and showed a net movement for the period of £8.6m, with projected year-end 
earmarked reserves amounting to £10.46m.

 The Medium Term Financial Planning section, sets out the financial environment in 
which the Council currently operates. 

 We are waiting for information on the Local Government Pay Settlement and the 
Spending Review both of which would impact the Council’s finances in due course. 

 The General Fund Capital programme is £57.3m, with current expenditure in 2021-22 
being just under £8m. Updates on individual schemes were provided in the report.   

Following Members comments and questions, the Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
highlighted the following: 

 At Cabinet on Monday 8 November, the addition of the St George’s Creative Hub had 
been approved as an addition to the Capital Programme, funded through a 
combination of S106 contributions and existing balances.  

 Following a question regarding homelessness in section 3.11.3 various grants have 
been received from Central Government funding for homelessness and homeless 
prevention.  The Council has statutory duties within these services and any additional 
expenditure over and above grant income levels, would have to be financed from 
General Fund balances.  

 With regard to a question on the property in Wrotham Road, the Principal Accountant 
(Housing & Exchequer) explained that the property was funded through external 
borrowing and a lot more work had to be done to secure the property than planned. 

 The Chair explained that at an Operational Services Committee meeting he was 
given assurances that although waste collections had increased these had been 
maintained. 

Resolved that Cabinet to approve the addition of the St Georges Creative Hub to the current 
year capital programme as set out in sections 4.2 and 4.3 of the report. 

129. HRA Budget Monitoring Q2 

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) provided the Committee with information 
on actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2021/22, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity. Updated 
Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements.

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) updated Members on the report and 
highlighted key points:- 

 At the end of Q2 the HRA forecast expected to draw some £417k from the general 
reserve against an original budget of £297k. A slightly worse position than reported in 
Q1 and mainly due to a reduction in the forecasted rental income. This has risen as a 
result of the new build programme delivered at a slightly slower rate than originally 
assumed. 

 The repairs and maintenance budget showed a nil variance. However, the Housing 
Team are continuing to monitor the effects of a challenging environment with supply 
chain issues and increasing material costs that have impacted both the in-house 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

4

team and contractors. There is sufficient balance within HRA General Reserve to 
absorb this worsening position. This was shown in section 3.9.1.   

 The Housing Capital Programme and capital schemes for housing totalled £24m with 
general fund housing schemes totalling £2.1m. 

 Expenditure and commitments to the end of Q2 is £12.5m, which is a significant 
improvement on the position we were in this time in the last financial year. 

 Regarding the maintenance programme, the capital programme was affected by the 
same increases in the costs of material and difficulty in sourcing materials, previously 
mentioned. The Housing Team are carefully monitoring this situation. 

 The New Build programme is set out in section 4.5 and the table showed the 
Committee properties that had been delivered, in various stages, since the scheme 
started in 2012. 

 The HRA Business Plan is found at appendix 2 and 3 and it is being reviewed in 
conjunction with the Director of Housing.  

 
Resolved that Members noted the information contained within the report. 

130. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) provided the Committee with a mid-year 
review update report on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to 
September 2021.

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) updated Members on the report and 
highlighted key points:- 

 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement was approved by Full Council in 
February 2021. 

 The 2021/22 Capital Programme is just over £73m of which £20m had been spent to 
date and the current forecast for the year is £45.5m. £18.2m is to be funded from 
existing resources. External borrowing will be sought with a forecast of £27m. The 
Capital Finance requirement for the year is approximately £227m. 

 If the operational boundary needs to be amended in regards to The St George’s 
Centre transaction, this will be discussed with the Chair and Members of the Finance 
and Audit Committee and in due course will be required to be approved by Full 
Council.  

 Loans totalling £12.4m had been secured from other Local Authorities. The pre-
arranged loans, as at 30 September totalled £6m and were secured at a much more 
beneficial rate than would be achieved if borrowing were to be secured today.

 Investment total £56.5m is split between those funds that are managed internally and 
externally.

 With regard to investment performance, the Council has outperformed the 
benchmark for the last six month by 26 basis points.   

 In recent weeks, Gravesham had been able to take advantage of the uncertainty of 
the potential interest rate rise and had secured an investment at 0.415% for £8m. 
The Council would only have managed a 0.3% has this been invested today. 

 As of 30 September, the Council acted in line with all the prudential limits in the 
Annual Strategy and no breaches had been incurred. 

 The report seeks to extend the term deposits with unrated counterparts: ie. Local 
Authorities, Police Authorities, Fire Authorities and Housing Associations to extend 
their maturity profile from 2 years to 50 years. This approval for this increase is 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

5

required to be sought from Full Council in order to lend up to £2m for the Elizabeth 
Huggins Cottage Charity for the development on the site. 

 The capital value of the Property Funds have recovered Covid losses and the capital 
value of Multi Asset funds are continuing to make steady progress in recovering. The 
total capital value of all externally managed funds is now above the sum initially 
invested.  

Following Members comments and questions, the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) highlighted the following:

 It was explained that the latest loans are fixed interest rates and fixed duration. There 
is a policy in the TMSS which states that the Council will not borrow more than, or in 
advance of its need, purely in order to profit from the investments of the extra sums 
borrowed. Currently the inter Local Authority market offers a much better rate than 
the Public Works Loan Board. Loans that had been taken out recently have been 
secured from other Local Authorities. Where possible the Council looks to pre 
arrange borrowing as early as possible as this has worked in the Council’s favour in 
the past. 

 Regarding the Elizabeth Huggins Cottage Charity some residents had been paid 
compensation, however this compensation is being facilitated through the trust itself. 
The Principal Accountant explained that no money has been given to the charity for 
the construction works.  As agreed by Full Council, there is a loan facility in place for 
up to £2m. The Council and Elizabeth Huggins Cottage Charity has secured monies 
from Homes England. Loan amounts will only be paid as and when the charity submit 
a claim along with invoices on behalf of Elizabeth Huggins. Due diligence was carried 
out on the scheme and it was deemed viable and this will continue to be monitored.

Resolved that the Finance and Audit Committee noted the contents of this report and 
recommended to Full Council that the amendment to the non-specified investment 
counterparty criteria as set out in Para 10.5 is agreed. 

The Finance and Audit Committee delegated responsibility to the Chair of the Committee to 
amend the authorised limit and operational boundary as needed in response to the final 
accounting treatment agreed in respect of the St George’s Centre transaction and make any 
necessary recommendations to Full Council.

131. Corporate Risk Register - Mid Year Review 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) presented the Committee with mid-year 
progress information in respect of all risks recorded in the 2021/22 Corporate Risk Register, 
which were set out in an Appendix to the report:-

The Committee was reminded that the Corporate Risk Register had been approved by Full 
Council in April 2021 and a mid-year review of this register had been undertaken by officers. 
The Council will be starting the progress of collating the Corporate Risk Register 2022/23 
and Members are invited to make suggestions to the register either for inclusion or removal 
which will be feed into the Risk Assessment  process in due course.  

Following Members comments and questions, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
highlighted the following:

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

6

 Management Team had reviewed the organisation capacity / resilience risk and this 
was updated in appendix 2. 

 It was suggested that Risk 4 – “Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of 
data” included the arrangements in place with our shared services between other 
Local Authorities. The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) agreed to raise this 
with the Assistant Director (IT & Transformation). .

Resolved that Members noted the progress made, as set out in Appendix III, in managing or 
mitigating each risk recorded within the 2021/22 Corporate Risk Register. 

132. CIPFA Financial Management Code Update 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided the Committee with an update against 
the report and action plan that was presented to the Committee in March 2021 and 
highlighted key points:- 

 The two self-assessed amber ratings have now been fulfilled and the latest self-
assessment concludes that the Council is fully compliance with the code. 

 A risk management working group will commence meeting in November.   

The Chair and Members thanked the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) and the team 
for their hard work in completing the action plan.

Resolved that Members noted the completion of the action plan that was presented at this 
committee on 9 March 2021 and the results of the recent self–assessment as being fully 
compliant with the Code.

133. Procurement of External Audit (PSAA) 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) updated the Committee of the options available 
for the appointment of external auditors from April 2023 and of the invitation to opt into the 
national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023.

Following Members comments and questions, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
highlighted the following:

 Indications at this stage suggest that other Kent Local Authorities will accept the 
invitation to opt into the scheme of local audit appointments.

 The recommendation made by this Committee is subject to Full Council approval.  

Resolved that the Finance & Audit Committee considered the procurement options set out 
in the report and the invitation to opt into the national scheme for local auditor appointments. 
The Committee has endorsed a recommendation being made to Full Council on 7 December 
2021 to accept the invitation to opt in to the national scheme for auditor appointments from 
April 2023.

134. Audit and Counter Fraud Update 

The Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
provided Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 August to 30 September 2021.

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 10.11.2021

7

The Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
outlined the key points from the report and drew Members attention to the following: 

 This was the second of three updates to be produced during 2021/22 detailing the 
work undertaken by the Audit and Counter Fraud Service between 1 August and 30 
September 2021.

 As this reporting period was so short, the number of reviews finalised was limited to 
just one but Members will see more progress in the next update. 

 All matches from the 2019-20 National Fraud Initiative have been dealt with. 
 Under section 6 of the Audit and Counter Fraud Update the proportion of agreed 

assurance assignments that were delivered was 35% and underway was 4%. As at 
10 November, assignments delivered was now 39%.

 In relation to recommendations arising from audits with red opinions that were 
specifically presented to the Committee, the five recommendations that have reached 
their agreed implementation date have all been implemented. 

Following Members comments and questions the Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) highlighted the following:

 There were 26 cases that were concluded with no evidence of fraud, 16 cases 
concluded with the removal of the single person discount, including four which 
resulted in the issue of civil penalties. A saving of £16k historic liability costs 
regarding the single person discount and £8k additional liability for future years.

 Gravesham are broadly in-line with other Local Authorities in the use of civil penalties 
but would have to benchmark to determine whether a similar volume are issued.  

 The Management Team had agreed a revised implementation date for one high 
priority recommendation relating to a homelessness review, which was because of 
exceptional circumstances that would have been unknown at the time the original 
implementation date was agreed. 

The Chair and Members thanked the Head of Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) for the report. 

Resolved that Members approved the amendments to the agreed workplan as detailed in 
section 7 of appendix 2.   

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.20 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification:  Part 1 – Public
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2022/23

PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT:

To consider the Treasury Management Strategy and associated Annual Investment Strategy 
and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2022/23 along with the Capital Strategy for 
2022/26.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Finance & Audit Committee recommends to the Full Council that:

1) The Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 as set out in Appendix 2 be agreed.

2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation on all new capital expenditure as 
set out in Section 5 of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement be approved for 
2022/23 and beyond in accordance with the Authority’s Capital Programme.

3) The Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 as set out in Section 15 of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement be agreed

4) The Capital Strategy for 2022/26 as set out in Appendix 3 be agreed.

5) Delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 
the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the prudential and treasury 
indicators as necessary as a result of the budget approved by Full Council on 
22 February 2022.

6) Delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 
the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2022/23 and the Capital Strategy for 2022/26 following successful 
completion of the 2019/20 and 2020/21 final accounts process.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
to the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the 
Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of longer-
term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer-term 
cash flow surpluses.  On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.

1.3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day 
revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance of 
the interest costs of debt and the investments income arising from cash deposits 
affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result from reserves 
and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as 
a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

1.4 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities.

1.5 CIPFA defines treasury management as: “The management of the authority’s 
borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”.

2. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Treasury Management Reporting

2.1 In December 2021, CIPFA updated the Treasury Management and Prudential 
Codes.  Local authorities are not expected to reflect any changes required under 
the revised codes within their 2022/23 codes.  Full implementation will be required 
for 2023/24.

2.2 Full Council is required to receive reports and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.

 Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy – The first, 
and most important report is forward looking.

 A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress 
report and will update members on the capital position, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require 
revision.

Page 12



3

 An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review document 
and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury 
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within 
the strategy.

Capital Strategy

2.3 The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all 
local authorities to prepare a capital strategy report setting out a high-level long 
term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services.

2.4 This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. 
This ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven 
by expenditure on an asset.  

2.5 The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Finance and Audit 
Committee.

Statement of Accounts 2019/20

2.6 The external audit process of reviewing and certificating the 2019/20 Statement of 
Accounts has yet to be concluded.  The final accounts process has identified 
alternative treatment for the St George’s transaction and required clarification on 
some asset valuations.  Therefore, the figures included within the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Capital Strategy are subject to change once 
the final treatment and asset valuations have been agreed between the Council 
and Grant Thornton.  For this reason, delegated authority is sought for the Director 
(Corporate Services) to amend the Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 
and the Capital Strategy for 2022/26 following successful completion of the 
2019/20 and 2020/21 final accounts process, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Finance and Audit Committee.

Page 13



4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal As per section 1.13B.67 of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Finance 
officer has delegated responsibility from Cabinet. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are 
legally permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Due to the nature of the report, the financial implications are contained 
throughout the report.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising the exposure to 
risk.  In order to achieve this, investments are only placed with institutions 
which meet the criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do 
not exceed those as advised by Capita Asset Services credit ratings which 
are associated with the specific institutions.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings and options 
in order to ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the 
start of any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are 
making a significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

Equality Impact a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain 
answer.

N/A

Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they 
have given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being 
considered, as noted in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks.

Climate Change The use of reserve funding is included within the budget proposals for 
Climate Change Activity and reflected within the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Capital Strategy accordingly.

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which 
minimises the risk of criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure 
appropriate governance around capital expenditure are set out in the Capital 
Strategy. 

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT 

STRATEGY
Gravesham Borough Council

2022 - 2023

Page 17



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS...................................................................................................................2

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................4

2. TRAINING ................................................................................................................................4

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS .......................................................................4

4. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22 TO 2023/24 .........................................5

5. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY............................................................................8

6. BORROWING...........................................................................................................................9

7. TREASURY INDICATORS: LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY........................................10

8. PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES.................................................................................12

9. THE BORROWING STRATEGY............................................................................................13

10. POLICY ON BORROWING IN ADVANCE OF NEED............................................................13

11. DEBT RESCHEDULING ........................................................................................................14

12. NEW FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AS A SOURCE OF BORROWING..................................14

13. APPROVED SOURCES OF LONG AND SHORT TERM BORROWING ..............................14

14. AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS ....................................................................14

15. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY ....................................................................................16

16. CREDITWORTHINESS POLICY............................................................................................18

17. OTHER LIMITS ......................................................................................................................19

18. INVESTMENT STRATEGY....................................................................................................20

Page 18



3

19. END OF YEAR INVESTMENT REPORT...............................................................................21

20. SERVICE INVESTMENTS .....................................................................................................21

21. SCHEME OF DELEGATION..................................................................................................22

22. ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER...............................................................................22

23. RISK .......................................................................................................................................22

24. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME & DISORDER ACT 1998 .......................................................23

25. BACKGROUND PAPERS ......................................................................................................23

Page 19



4

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23 covers two 
main areas:

 Capital Issues

a. The capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential 
indicators

b. The minimum revenue provision (MRP) strategy

 Treasury Management Issues

a. The current portfolio position
b. Treasury Indicators which will limit the treasury risk and activities 

of the council
c. The prospects for interest rates
d. The borrowing strategy
e. Policy on borrowing in advance of need
f. Debt rescheduling
g. The annual investment strategy 2022/23
h. Credit worthiness policy
i. Policy on use of external service providers

1.2 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
DLUHC Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential 
Code, and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.

2. TRAINING

2.1 The CIPFA code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  
Officers last provided training on 18 January 2022 and further training will be 
arranged as required.

2.2 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS

3.1 The Council currently uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.

3.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon the services of our external services providers.  All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our 
treasury advisers.

Page 20



5

3.3 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.

3.4 The contractual arrangement with Link runs to September 2022.  A procurement 
exercise will be undertaken during the Summer to secure the services of external 
treasury management advisors from October 2022.

3.5 Link Asset Services have provided a summary on the economic background.  This 
can be found in Appendix 1.

3.6 The scope of investments within the Council’s operations now includes both 
conventional treasury investments, (the placing of residual cash from the Council’s 
functions), and more complex type investments, such as investment properties.  
The Council engages external consultants to provide a valuation report when 
purchasing an investment property.  The consultants will vary depending on the 
nature of the property.

4. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22 TO 2023/24

4.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans.

4.2 Capital Expenditure. This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of 
this budget cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure 
forecasts.

4.3 Given where the authority is in the annual budget setting process, the capital 
estimates on the following page are based on the latest information available.  
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts and also to 
delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services) in consultation with the 
Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee to amend the forecasts and other 
indicators as necessary in line with the authority’s budget which will be discussed 
and approved by Full Council on 22 February 2022.  Any such amendments will be 
circulated to members of the Finance and Audit Committee prior to amendment. 

Capital Expenditure 2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

Non-HRA 7.533 24.903 72.479 51.960 1.817

HRA 13.158 19.000 24.059 23.513 19.043

Total 20.691 43.903 96.538 75.473 20.860

4.4 The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these 
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of 
resources results in a funding borrowing need.

Page 21



6

Capital Expenditure1 2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

Total 20.691 43.903 96.538 75.473 20.860

Financed by:

Capital receipts 3.272 4.022 5.756 7.470 5.762

Grants/Contributions 0.848 3.433 10.237 4.015 0.963

Revenue Grants not 
yet applied

0.284 0.398 0.215 0.000 0.000

Reserves 0.636 2.355 1.193 1.779 0.704

Revenue 1.101 0.715 0.574 0.000 0.000

Major Repairs Reserve 7.637 6.771 7.061 6.728 6.728

Net financing need 
for the year

6.913 26.209 71.502 55.481 6.703

 

4.5 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement). The 
second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 
The CFR is the total historic outstanding capital expenditure that has not yet been 
paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the 
Council’s indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need.  Any capital 
expenditure above (that has not been immediately paid for) will increase the CFR.

4.6 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in 
line with each assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital 
assets as they are used.

4.7 The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council 
is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council has 
£93.197m of such schemes within the CFR, which is currently shown as a finance 
lease in relation to the St George’s Shopping Centre. However this treatment is 
subject to amendment and agreement with the Council’s auditors prior to the 
effects being reflected within this document.

4.8 The Finance and Audit Committee is recommending to Council to approve the 
CFR projections on the following table:

1 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed

Page 22



7

Note2 2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

CFR – Non HRA 122.340 140.147 199.986 244.977 242.233

CFR – HRA 76.792 79.550 84.662 87.909 87.782

CFR – Commercial 6.300 6.164 6.027 5.891 5.754

Total CFR 205.432 225.861 290.675 338.777 335.769

Movement in CFR 0.695 20.429 64.814 48.102 (3.008)

Note3 2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

Movement in CFR represented by

New capital financing 
need for the year

6.913 23.943 69.195 53.329 4.522

Refinancing of HRA 
Debt

0.000 2.266 2.307 2.152 2.180

HRA contribution to 
loan repayment

(5.418) (4.918) (5.707) (6.218) (6.830)

Less MRP and other 
financing movements

(0.800) (0.862) (0.981) (1.161) (2.880)

Movement in CFR 0.695 20.429 64.814 48.102 (3.008)

4.9 Core funds and expected investment balances.  The application of resources 
(capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or other budget 
decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on 
investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources 
(asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year-end balances for each 
resource.

2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

Fund Balances / 
Reserves (HRA and 
Non-HRA)

33.506 29.576 26.628 24.599 21.866

Capital receipts 11.543 11.532 9.814 8.067 6.720

Grants / Contributions 22.247 12.286 8.969 8.784 8.601

Total core funds 66.296 53.394 45.411 41.450 37.187

2 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed
3 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed

Page 23



8

5. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY

5.1 The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum 
revenue provision – MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional 
voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision – VRP).

5.2 DLUHC regulations have been issued which require the Full Council to approve an 
MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to 
councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  The Council is recommended to 
approve the following MRP Statement.

5.3 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 and capital expenditure 
incurred on or after that date which the authority is satisfied forms part of its 
Supported Capital Expenditure the MRP policy will be

The Regulatory Method - Under the previous MRP regulations MRP was set 
at a uniform rate of 4% of the adjusted General Fund Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) i.e. adjusted for “Adjustment A” on a reducing balance 
method. Adjustment A was introduced to coincide with changes to the capital 
finance system on 1 April 2004 to ensure local authorities were not adversely 
affected financially by these changes. The Capital Financing Requirement is a 
measurement of the council’s underlying need to borrow.

5.4 From 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2020 for all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy 
will be:

Asset Life (Equal Instalment Method) – MRP will be based on the 
estimated life of assets, in accordance with the regulations.  This provides for 
a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.

5.5 From 1 April 2020, the Council considers the most appropriate MRP policy on a 
scheme by scheme basis, whilst ensuring a prudent approach is taken, so that 
sufficient sums are set aside on an annual basis which will result in cash balances 
being available to repay the debt on redemption.

5.6 In addition to the Equal Instalment Method detailed above, the Council may 
determine an MRP charge over the expected useful life of the corresponding asset 
as the principal repayment on an annuity basis.

5.7 There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but 
there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made.

5.8 If assets are transferred between funds, where the transfer results in an increase in 
the General Fund CFR, it will be considered whether it is prudent to make an MRP 
provision on the higher CFR in subsequent years.

5.9 MRP Overpayments – A change introduced by the revised DLUHC MRP Guidance 
was that the allowance that any changes made over the statutory minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or overpayments, 
can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In 
order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must 
disclose the cumulative overpayments made each year.  Up until the 
31 March 2022 the total VRP overpayments were £35.501m.  This is equivalent to 
the value of HRA self-financing loans that have been repaid since the start of the 
scheme.

Page 24



9

6. BORROWING

6.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 6 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so 
that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Council’s 
capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The 
strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and 
projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy.

6.2 The current portfolio position - The Council’s treasury position as at 31 March 
2020 and the position as at 31 December 2021 are shown below for both 
borrowing and investments.

Actual Actual Actual Actual
31/03/2021 31/03/2021 31/12/2021 31/12/2021

Treasury Investments £'000 % £'000 %
Banks 8,000 20% 8,000 12%
Local Authorities - 0% 3,000 4%
Money Market Funds 5,249 13% 19,895 29%
Certificate of Deposits - 0% 8,000 12%
Call Accounts - Bank 8,000 20% 8,000 12%
Call Accounts - Building Society - 0% - 0%
Total managed in house 21,249 52% 46,895 69%
Multi Asset Funds 9,276 23% 9,800 14%
Property Funds 10,017 25% 11,066 16%
Total managed externally 19,293 48% 20,866 31%
Total treasury investments 40,542 100% 67,761 100%

Treasury External Borrowing
PWLB 75,663 93% 75,663 76%
Local Authorities 5,800 7% 24,200 24%
Short Term Loans 14 0% 14 0%
Total external borrowing 81,477 100% 99,877 100%

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) (40,935) (32,116)

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

6.3 On 1 February 2022 a five-year escalator loan was arranged for £3m.  The interest 
rate payable on the loan increases in steps annually from 0.75% in the first year to 
2.50% in the final year but this averages out at 1.598% over the life of the loan. 
The monies will be received on 31 March 2022 from South Oxfordshire District 
Council.

6.4 The Council’s forward projections for borrowings are summarised in the next table.  
The following table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital 
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement – CFR), highlighting any under 
or over borrowing.

Page 25



10

Note4 2020/21
Actual

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

2022/23
Estimate

£m

2023/24
Estimate

£m

2024/25
Estimate

£m

External Debt at 1 April 89.094 81.477 98.767 161.869 214.559

Expected Change in Debt (7.617) 17.290 63.102 52.690 (0.618)

Other long-term liabilities 
OLTL 93.432 96.197 92.916 92.593 92.228

Expected Change in 
OLTL (0.235) (0.281) (0.322) (0.365) (0.407)

Actual gross debt as at 
31 March 174.674 194.683 254.463 306.787 305.762

The Capital Financing 
Requirement

205.432 225.861 290.675 338.777 335.769

(Under)/Over Borrowing (30.758) (31.178) (36.212) (31.990) (30.007)

6.5 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to 
ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of 
these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the 
short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of 
any additional CFR for 2022/23 and the following two financial years (shown as net 
borrowing above).  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.

6.6 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the 
future.  This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in the budget report.

7. TREASURY INDICATORS: LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY

7.1 The Operational Boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not 
normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the 
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the 
ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash resources.

Operational Boundary5 2021/22

Estimate £m

2022/23

Estimate £m

2023/24

Estimate £m

2024/25

Estimate £m

Debt 180.940 246.080 294.550 291.950
Other Long Term Liabilities 97.920 97.590 97.230 96.820
Total 278.860 343.670 391.780 388.770

4 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed
5 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed

Page 26



11

7.2 The Authorised Limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a legal 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this needs to be set or revised 
by the Full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

 This is the statutory limit, determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this 
power has not yet been exercised.

 The Finance and Audit Committee is asked to recommend to Council the 
following Authorised Limit:

Authorised limit6 2021/22

Estimate £m

2022/23

Estimate £m

2023/24

Estimate £m

2024/25

Estimate £m
Debt 190.940 256.080 304.550 301.950
Other Long Term Liabilities 102.920 102.590 102.230 101.820
Total 293.860 358.670 406.780 403.770

7.3 The following table and pictorial representation of the Council’s Operational and 
Authorised limits against the Capital Finance Requirement 

Actual Est Est Est Est Est Est Est Est Est
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
CFR - Non HRA 122.34 140.15 199.99 244.98 242.23 239.50 236.89 234.00 231.04 228.00
CFR - HRA 76.79 79.55 84.66 87.91 87.78 82.59 83.05 83.59 84.17 84.75
CFR - Commercial Activity / 
non-financial instruments 6.30 6.16 6.03 5.89 5.75 5.62 5.48 5.34 5.21 5.07
Total CFR 205.43 225.86 290.67 338.78 335.77 327.70 325.42 322.93 320.41 317.82

External Borrowing 81.48 98.77 161.87 214.56 213.94 213.34 212.79 212.28 211.80 208.40
Other Long Term Liabilities 93.20 92.92 92.59 92.23 91.82 91.37 90.87 90.32 89.72 89.07
Total Debt 174.68 191.69 254.46 306.79 305.76 304.71 303.66 302.60 301.52 297.47

Authorised Limit 249.45 263.86 328.67 376.78 373.77 365.70 363.42 360.93 358.41 385.82
Operational Boundary 234.45 248.86 313.67 361.78 358.77 350.70 348.42 345.93 343.41 370.82

CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT

6 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed

Page 27



12

8. PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES

8.1 Link Asset Services are the Council’s current treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link provided 
the following forecasts on 20 December 2021.  These are forecasts for certainty 
rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps.

8.2 Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic 
damage to the UK and to economies around the world.  After the Bank of England 
took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate 
unchanged at its subsequent meetings until raising it to 0.25% at is meeting on 16 
December 2021.

8.3 As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now includes four 
increases, one in December 2021 to 0.25%, the quarter 2 of 20222 to 0.50%, 
quarter 1 of 2023 to 0.75%, quarter 1 of 2024 to 1.00% and finally, on in quarter 
2025 to 1.25%.

8.4 Investment and borrowing rates

 Investment returns are expected to improve in 2022/23.  However, while 
markets are pricing in a series of Bank Rate hikes, actual economic 
circumstances may seek the MPC fall short of these elevated 
expectations.

 Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the 
COVID crisis and the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of 
England and still remain at historically low levels.  The policy of avoiding 
new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served local 
authorities well over the last few years.

 Following the Government’s consultation on the future of the PWLB, the 
standard and certainty margins were reduced but a prohibition was 
introduced to deny access for yield in its three-year capital programme.  
The current margins over gilt yields are as follows:

- PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)

- PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)

- PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points 
(G+100bps)

- PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)

Page 28



13

 Borrowing for capital expenditure - As Link’s long-term forecast for Bank 
Rate is 2.00%.  As some PWLB certainty rates are currently below 2.00%, 
there remains value in considering long-term borrowing from the PWLB 
where appropriate.  Temporary borrowing rates are likely, however, to 
remain near bank rate and may also prove attractive as part of a balanced 
debt portfolio.  In additions, there are also some cheap alternative sources 
of long-term borrowing if an authority is seeking to avoid a “cost of carry” 
but also wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk.

 While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new 
capital expenditure, to replace maturing debt and the rundown of reserves, 
there will be a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing 
costs and lower investment returns), to any new borrowing that causes a 
temporary increase in cash balances.

9. THE BORROWING STRATEGY

9.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as 
investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be 
considered.

9.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2022/23 treasury operations.  The Director (Corporate Services), 
will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances:

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing 
rates, then borrowing wll be postponed.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, 
then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely action that 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they 
will be in the next few years.

9.3 Any decisions will be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee as part of the 
next Treasury update.

10.POLICY ON BORROWING IN ADVANCE OF NEED

10.1 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its need, purely in order to 
profit from the investments of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, 
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.

10.2 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanisms.

Page 29



14

11.  DEBT RESCHEDULING

11.1 Rescheduling of current borrowing in the debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there 
is still a very large difference between premature redemption rates and new 
borrowing rates, even though the general margin of PWLB rates over gilt yields 
was reduced by 100 basis points increase in November 2020.

11.2 If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee, 
as part of the next Treasury update.

12.NEW FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AS A SOURCE OF BORROWING

12.1 Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both HRA 
and non-HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be given to 
sourcing funding from the following sources for the following reasons: 

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or so – 
still cheaper than the Certainty Rate).

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds 
but also some banks, out of forward dates where the objective is to avoid a 
“cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing certainty over the next few years).

 Municipal Bonds Agency (possibly still a viable alternative depending on 
market circumstances prevailing at the time). 

13.APPROVED SOURCES OF LONG AND SHORT TERM BORROWING

13.1 In recent years when it has been necessary to take on external borrowing to fund 
capital expenditure, this has been secured through the PWLB.  When borrowing, 
the Council will need to carefully consider and take the necessary steps to secure 
the most appropriate source of borrowing.  The Council will consider (but not 
limited to) the following sources for external borrowing.

 PWLB

 Municipal Bonds Agency

 Local authorities

 Banks

 Pension Funds

 Insurance Companies

 UK Infrastructure Bank

 Market (long-term, short-term, LOBO)

 Stock Issue

14.AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

14.1 The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess 

Page 30



15

the affordability of the capital investment plans.  These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  Finance 
and Audit Committee are asked to recommend the following indicators to Full 
Council for approval: 

14.2 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream - This indicator identifies the trend in 
the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of 
investment income), against the net revenue stream.

% 2020/21
Actual

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

2024/25
Estimate

Non- HRA (0.08) 0.53 4.20 22.21 37.93

HRA 29.54 26.93 27.89 28.44 28.85

Commercial activities 27.79 26.99 33.72 39.91 66.12

Total 20.09 18.82 21.24 26.71 31.63

14.3 Commercial Activity – The following local indicator identifies the trend in income 
from commercial properties purchased outside of the borough in relation to net 
revenue spend.

2020/21
Actual

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

2024/25
Estimate 

Net Income from 
Commercial activity £m 0.491 0.506 0.405 0.342 0.206

Net Revenue Spend £m 0.178 0.186 0.180 0.180 0.181

Ratio of income of net 
revenue spend % 36.14 36.33 45.87 52.62 87.40

14.4 HRA ratios – the following indicators identifies the trend of HRA debt in relation to 
revenue income and HRA debt per dwelling.

2020/21
Actual

£

2021/22
Estimate

£

2022/23
Estimate

£

2023/24
Estimate

£

2024/25
Estimate

£

HRA debt £m 78.047 80.805 86.169 86.784 87.137

HRA revenue income £m 28.737 28.790 30.502 31.828 34.645

Ratio of debt to revenue 
income %

39.56 35.63 35.40 36.67 39.76

Number of HRA dwellings 5,642 5,683 5,707 5,868 5,938

Debt per dwelling £ 13,833 13,782 15,099 14,789 14,674

Page 31



16

14.5 Maturity Structure of Borrowing - These gross limits are set to reduce the 
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are 
required for upper and lower limits.

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2022/23
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months to 2 years 0% 50%

2 years to 5 years 0% 75%

5 years to 10 years 0% 75%

10 years to 15 years 0% 100%

15 years to 20 years 0% 100%

Over 20 years 0% 100%

Maturity Structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2022/23
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months to 2 years 0% 50%

2 years to 5 years 0% 75%

5 years to 10 years 0% 75%

10 years to 15 years 0% 100%

15 years to 20 years 0% 100%

Over 20 years 0% 100%

15.ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY

15.1 Investment Policy – Management of Risk - The Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC), formally MHCLG and CIPFA have extended 
the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by 
the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the 
purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a 
separate report).

15.2 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:-

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018

15.3 The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 
and then yield, (return).  The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) 
on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and 

Page 32



17

with the Council’s risk appetite.  In the current economic climate, it is considered 
appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs.  However, 
where appropriate (from an internal as well as external perspective), the Council 
will also consider the value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit 
rated financial institutions, as well as wider range fund options.

15.4 The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing 
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:-

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list 
of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification and 
thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor 
counterparties are the short term and long-term ratings.

2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of 
an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial 
sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic 
and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment 
will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. 
To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to 
maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share 
price and other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order 
to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties.

4. This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments 
that the treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two 
lists in appendix 2 under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ 
investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality 
and subject to a maturity limit of one year.

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, 
may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex 
instruments which require greater consideration by members and 
officers before being authorised for use.

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will 
limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 
£75m of the total investment portfolio, (see paragraph 17.1).

6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty is set at 
£8m and in accordance section 16 and appendix 2.

7. Transaction limits for groups, counterparties and money market funds are 
set at £8m.

8. This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are 
invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 17.1).  

Page 33



18

9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a 
specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 17.1).

10. This authority has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 3.1), to 
provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of 
security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this authority in the 
context of the expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity 
throughout the year.

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling.

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 
9, the Council will consider the implications of investment instruments 
which could result in adverse movement in the value of the amount 
invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund.  
(In November 2018, DLUHC concluded a consultation for a temporary 
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio by 
announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five 
years ending 31 March 2023).

15.5 However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management 
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks 
for investment performance, (see paragraph 16.8). Regular monitoring of 
investment performance will be carried out during the year.

16.CREDITWORTHINESS POLICY

16.1 This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings 
from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and Standard and 
Poors.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following 
overlays:

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies

 Credit Default Swaps (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely 
changes in credit ratings

 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries

16.2 This modelling approach combines credit ratings and any assigned Watches and 
Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
CDS spreads.  The end product of this is a series of colour coded bands which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are 
used by the Council to determine the duration for investments.  The Council will 
therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands.

Colour/ long term rating Maximum Period of investment
Yellow 5 Years

Purple 2 Years

Orange 1 Year

Blue 1 Year (nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)

Red 6 Months

Green 100 days

No Colour Not to be used

Page 34



19

16.3 The Link Asset Services creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information 
othre than just primary ratings.  Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring 
system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

16.4 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-.  There may be 
occassions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally 
lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances consideration 
will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market 
information, to support their use.

16.5 All credit ratings will be monitored on a daily basis by officers within the Finance 
Department.  The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies 
through its use of the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service.

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately.

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in the Credit Default Swap market against the 
iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme 
market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list.

16.6 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this 
Council will also use market data and market information, information on any 
external support for banks to support its decision making process.

16.7 Creditworthiness – Significant levels of downgrades to Sorth and Although the 
credit rating agencies changed their outlook on materialised since the crisis in 
March 2020.  In the main, where they did change, any alterations were limited to 
Outlooks.  However, as economies are beginning to reopen, there have been 
some instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.

17.OTHER LIMITS

17.1 Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment 
portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, group and sectors.

 Non-Specified Investment Limit – The Council has determined that it will 
limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 
£75m of the total investment portfolio.

 Country Limits – As in previous years the Council has determined that it 
will only use approved counterparties from countries with a minimum 
sovereign rating of AAA, as determined by at least two of the three rating 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s).  The list of countries 
that currently qualify using the credit criteria as at the date of this report 
are shown in Appendix 3.  Officers will amend this list during the year 
should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

 The UK Sovereignty Rating – Previously the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement recommended that the UK should be an exemption 
from the above country limits and that officers would continue to place 
investments with counterparties within the UK provided that the sovereign 
rating remained above AA-, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, 

Page 35



20

who (under the Constitution) can take all necessary action in respect of the 
management of the Council’s investments to ensure their security is 
maintained.  This Treasury Management Strategy Statement was then 
amended in March 2020 to enable placing investments with counterparties 
within the UK provided the sovereign rating remained above A+, in 
response to a further downgrade by one of the three main ratings agency 
at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic.

 Currently the UK is rated AA- by both Fitch and Moody’s but rated slightly 
higher at AA by Standard and Poor’s.  Should the UK be downgraded 
further, discussions will be held with the relevant officers at such time and 
members of the Finance and Audit Committee will be kept informed.

 Other Limits - In addition:

a. no more than £16m will be placed with any non-UK country at any 
time;

b. limits in place above will apply to a group of companies;

c. sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.

18. INVESTMENT STRATEGY

18.1 In-house Funds - Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates 
for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by 
investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are required in order to 
manage the ups and downs of cash flow, where cash sums can be identified that 
could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most 
investments as being short term or variable.

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods.

18.2 Investment returns expectations – The current forecast showing in paragraph 
8.1, includes a forecast for a first increase in Bank Rate in May 2022, though it 
could come in February.

18.3 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year, (based on 
a first increase in Bank Rate in Quarter 2 of 2022, are as follows:

Average earnings in 
each year
2022/23 0.50%

2023/24 0.75%

2024/25 1.00%

2025/26 1.25%

Later years 2.00%

Page 36



21

18.1 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant 
access and notice accounts, money market funds and short dated deposits 
(overnight to 100 days) in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.

18.2 Investment treasury indicator and limit – total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days.  These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, as are based 
on the availability of funds after each year end.

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days

2022/23

£m

2023/24

£m

2024/25

£m

Principal sums invested > 365 days 20.000 20.000 20.000

18.3 Whilst the Council has placed £10m with three Property Funds and a further £10m 
with three Multi Asset Funds with a view to holding the funds for a longer term, due 
to the funds liquidity they are not taken into account for the purposes of the above 
indicator.  The indicator applies to funds invested for a fixed period only.

18.4 Investment Risk Benchmark - The Council will use an investment benchmark to 
assess the investment portfolio of 3 month LIBID.

19.END OF YEAR INVESTMENT REPORT

19.1 At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investments activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report.

20.SERVICE INVESTMENTS

20.1 The Investment Strategy recognises that the Council may, from time to time, make 
investment decisions are part of its policy decision making process or to help it fulfil 
its strategic objectives. Such decisions will be subject to due diligence checks but 
will be classified as a service investment, rather than a treasury managment 
investment, and will therefore fall outside of the specified/non specified investment 
categories.

20.2 At the time of preparing this report the Council had interests in two such service 
investments:

 Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) - In January 2015, a report to Cabinet 
outlined proposals by the Local Government Association (LGA) to set up 
the MBA with the aim that the Agency would be able to provide council’s 
with the opportunity to raise funds at significantly lower rates than those 
offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  The Council, along with 
many other local authorities become a member of the MBA and therefore 
£20,000 was paid in February 2015 towards the Agency’s estimated start-
up costs of £1m.  It is anticipated that there will, at some point, be a 
financial return (to be remunerated at commercial rates) for these capital 
subscriptions to the Agency’s establishment costs.  There were significant 
difficulties with the original proposed offer, but work progressed following 
the engagement of PFM and in March 2020 issued its first bond.  

Page 37



22

Gravesham will consider the use of the MBA as and when it is deemed 
appropriate.

 Commercial acquisitions – In previous Treasury Management Strategy 
Statements, updates on commercial properties were reported under the 
Service Investments section of the report.  Due to the revised reporting 
reqiuirements from DLUHC, the impact of such investments are 
incorporated throughout this report and the Capital Strategy provides a 
longer term focus of such investments.

21.SCHEME OF DELEGATION

21.1 The Treasury Management Scheme for Delegation is outlined in Appendix 4.

22.ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER

22.1 The council’s Section 151 Officer is the Director (Corporate Services) and their role 
is outlined in Appendix 5.

23.RISK

23.1 Given the nature, size and volume of the transactions involved, Treasury 
Management continues to remain a high risk area and as such is reflected in the 
corporate risk register.  A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury 
Management is identified below.

Risk Area 
Identified

Potential Impact of Risk Mitigation

Interest rates Interest rate forecasts vary 
from the assumptions made in 
the financial forecasts resulting 
in a shortfall in investment 
interest.

Professional and specialist 
advice taken on interest rate 
forecast.
Cash flow modelled against 
anticipated financial forecast.
Treasury Management 
Strategy and Policies.

Cash flow Unexpected adverse 
movements of significant sums 
of money may vary from the 
cash flow estimated and 
therefore result in a reduction 
in investment interest.

Cash flow modelled against 
anticipated financial forecast.

Sums lost in 
imprudent 
investment

Loss of sums invested in 
institution that is unable to pay 
its creditors.

Invest in institutions in 
accordance with Link Treasury 
Services creditworthiness 
service and in conjunction with 
Finance Teams assessment of 
the various counterparties.

Downgrading of 
banks and building 
societies

Loss of sums invested Invest with the Government’s 
Deposit Management Account 
Facility if necessary.

Legal and regulatory 
risk

The council fails to act in 
accordance with its legal 
powers

Comprehensive 
documentation of the 
organisations legal powers.

Page 38



23

Sums lost through 
fraud, error and 
corruption

Financial Loss Proper system of internal 
controls.

Refinancing 
borrowing on 
appropriate terms 
and conditions.

Higher borrowing costs Reliable forecasts of maturing 
loans and capital expenditure 
to enable the council to 
negotiate appropriate terms.

24.SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME & DISORDER ACT 1998

24.1 Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 has been taken in account when 
preparing the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy.

25.BACKGROUND PAPERS

25.1 CIPFA Treasury Management in the public services - Guidance Notes for Local 
Authorities 2011.

25.2 Templates and forecasts provided by Link Asset Services.

Page 39



19

APPENDIX 1

Link Asset Services – Economic Background As At 11/01/22

 The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 to raise Bank Rate 
by 0.15% from 0.10% to 0.25% and unanimously decided to make no changes to its 
programme of quantitative easing purchases to finish in December 2021 at a total of 
£895bn.

 The November CPI inflation figure spiked from 4.2% to 5.1%, confirming inflationary 
pressures have been building sharply.  However, the Omicron variant caused a sharp 
fall in world oil and other commodity prices.  Prices of goods continue to be forced up 
by supply shortages and shortages of shipping containers due to ports being clogged 
have caused a huge increase in shipping costs.  But these issues are likely to be 
cleared during 2022 and then prices will subside back to more normal levels.  Gas and 
electricity prices will also fall back once winter is passed and demand for these falls 
away.

 Although it is possible that the Government could step in with some fiscal support for 
the economy, the huge cost of such support to date is likely to pose a barrier to 
incurring further major economy wide expenditure unless it is very limited and targeted 
on narrow sectors like hospitality, (as announced just before Christmas).  The 
Government may well, therefore, effectively leave it to the MPC, and to the monetary 
policy to support economic growth.

 The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on rising Bank Rate 
versus selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: -

o Raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most circumstances”

o Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting and reducing its holdings

o Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts

o Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.

Page 40



19

Appendix 2

Specified and Non Specified Investments

Investments that councils can make are of two types and these are identified in the 
subsequent paragraphs and table.

Specified Investments offer high security and high liquidity, must be in sterling and have a 
maturity of no more than a year. Such investments made with the UK government, UK local 
authorities and town/parish councils automatically count as specified investments.

Non Specified Investments are those investments not meeting the definition of specified 
investments, which are therefore of greater potential risk. Any investments with a maturity 
exceeding one year are automatically classed as non specified investments. The criteria for 
selecting counterparties for longer term investments is the same as that for short term 
investments i.e. Link Asset Services Durational Colour bands.

All specified and non-specified Investments will be

 Subject to the sovereign, group and counterparty exposure limits identified in the 
Annual Investment Strategy

 Subject to the duration limit recommended by Link Assets Services Treasury 
Solutions at the time each investment is placed

 Subject to a maximum of £75m of cored funds, in aggregate, being held in non-
specified investments at any one time (£25m in property funds, £25m in Multi Asset 
Funds and £25m in other non-specified investments).

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum of 1 year

Minimum Credit Criteria Maximum maturity period

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility N/A 6 months

UK Government Gilts UK sovereign rating 12 months

UK Government Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating 12 months

Bonds issued by multilateral development 
banks AAA 6 months

Money Market Funds (including Money Market 
Funds with notice periods) AAA Liquid

VNAV Ultra Short Duration Bond Funds with a 
credit score of 1.25 AA Liquid

VNAV Ultra Short Duration Bond Funds with a 
credit score of 1.5 AA Liquid

UK Local authorities and other public 
authorities ie Police and Fire authorities N/A 12 months

Term deposits with housing associations
Blue
Orange
Red

12 months
12 months
6 months

Page 41



20

Green
No Colour

100 days
Not for use

Term deposits with banks and building 
societies Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Term deposits with part nationalised banks Link’s “Blue” rating As per Link’s rating

Certificates of deposit (CD’s) or Corporate 
bonds with banks and building societies Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Certificates of deposit (CD’s) with part 
nationalised banks Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Gilt Funds UK sovereign rating

Sovereign bond issues (other than the UK 
govt) AAA

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities in excess of 1 year

Minimum Credit 
Criteria

Max. 
maturity 
period

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits with UK nationalised 
and part nationalised banks

UK Sovereign 
rating 2 years

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits with banks and 
building societies

UK Sovereign 
rating 2 years

Term deposits with unrated 
counterparties : ie Local 
Authorities, Police Authorities, 
Fire Authorities, Housing 
Associations

UK Sovereign 
rating 50 years

Term deposits with UK 
nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster Bank (part of RBS)

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Certificates of deposits with 
UK nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster bank (part of RBS)

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Certificates of deposits with 
banks and building societies

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Commercial paper issuance 
with UK nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster Bank (part of RBS)

UK sovereign 
rating 2 years

Page 42



21

Commercial paper issuance 
bank and building societies 

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA 5 years

Sovereign bond issues (other 
that the UK Government) AAA 5 years

UK Government Gilts UK Sovereign 
rating

Max of 25% 
5 years

Property Funds N/A No Limit

Multi Asset Funds N/A No Limit

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF INVESTMENTS - The accounting treatment may differ 
from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this 
Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which 
may arise from these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new 
transactions before they are undertaken.

Page 43



22

APPENDIX 3

Approved countries for investments (Position as at 21/01/2022)

All counterparties in addition to meeting the minimum credit criteria specified in the Annual 
Investment Strategy must be regulated by a AAA sovereign rated as such by at least two of 
the three rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s) with the exception of the 
UK.

The list will be reviewed and amended if appropriate on a daily basis by the Director of 
Corporate Services.

As of 21 January 2022 sovereigns meeting the above requirement were:

 Australia

 Canada

 Denmark

 Germany

 Netherlands

 Singapore

 Sweden

 Switzerland

 U.K. (currently rated AA by Standard and Poor’s, AA- by Fitch and Aa3 by 
Moody’s)

 USA (currently rated AAA by Fitch and Moody’s, AA+ Standard and Poor’s)

Page 44



23

APPENDIX 4

Treasury Management Scheme for Treasury Delegation

(i) Full Council

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities

 approval of annual strategy.

(ii) Finance & Audit Committee

 To receive and scrutinise the council’s Treasury Management Strategy and the 
prudential indicators prior to the start of the financial year and make 
recommendations thereon to the Full Council

 To receive and scrutinise the Treasury Management Annual Report and comment on 
any actions that may have taken during the course of the year.

 To monitor the overall state of the council’s finances on at least a quarterly basis and 
advise on any actions it recommends.

 To consider the division of responsibilities in respect of the Treasury Management 
function.

 To consider the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment.

Page 45



24

APPENDIX 5

The treasury management role of the section 151 officer

The S151 (responsible) officer

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports

 submitting budgets and budget variations

 receiving and reviewing management information reports

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit

 recommending the appointment of external service providers

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in 
the long term and provides value for money

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on 
non-financial assets and their financing

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of 
risk compared to its financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long 
term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures 
taken on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above

Page 46



25

APPENDIX 6
GLOSSARY
Authorised Limit This represents a level of borrowing which, 

though not desired, could be afforded but 
may not be sustainable.

Asset Life (Equal Instalment Method) Where MRP is an equal annual charge 
every year and is calculated by dividing the 
original amount of borrowing by the useful 
life of that asset.

Capital Financing Requirement A measurement of the council’s underlying 
need to borrow for a capital purpose.

Certificate of Deposit An investment product offered by banks 
and other financial institutions which is 
issued for a specific period of time and at a 
certain interest rate but which can be 
traded on the secondary market, providing 
a greater level of flexibility. 

CIPFA Treasury Management Code Of 
Practice

The professional code governing treasury 
management, which the council has 
formally adopted.

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility This deposit facility allows short-term or long 
term deposits to be lodged with the 
government. This offers the highest security 
for a Principal sum on short-term placements.

Money Market Funds A money market fund is a “pool” of different 
types of investments, managed by a fund 
manager. The pool of investments will 
typically include bank deposits, certificates of 
deposit (CDs) amongst other investments. A 
number of organisations will invest in a 
particular fund. The interest rate yield on an 
MMF deposit is not known at the time of the 
deal. In return for this uncertainty, money 
can be accessed whenever necessary.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) The minimum amount which a council must 
charge to its revenue budget each year.

Multi-Asset Fund An investment product with a higher level of 
diversification (in areas such as equities, 
bonds, property,.etc) and which therefore 
offers a certain level of protection in times 
when markets are volatile.

Page 47



26

Municipal Bond Agency An agency established by the Local 
Government Association intended to offer 
councils an alternative and less costly 
option for borrowing of long-term funds 
than the PWLB through the introduction of 
competition and diversity to the 
marketplace.

Net Revenue Stream (NRS) The NRS for the general fund is the 
“amount to be met from government grant 
and local taxpayers”, as shown in the 
consolidated revenue account. This 
represents the budget requirement for the 
council. The NRS for the housing revenue 
account is the amount to be met from 
housing subsidy and rent income as shown 
in the HRA accounts.

Operational Boundary This indicator is based on the probable 
external debt during the course of the year; it 
is not a limit. Actual external debt could vary 
around this boundary for short times during 
the year. It should act as a monitoring 
indicator to ensure that authorised limit is not 
breached.

Prudential Indicators These demonstrate a council’s ability to 
meet the key principles of the Prudential 
Code by reflecting the level to which its 
capital programme is affordable, prudent 
and sustainable and they help to explain 
this effectively to those charged with 
governance.

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Part of the government’s debt management 
office, making long-term funds available to 
local authorities on prescribed terms and 
conditions. The PWLB is normally the 
cheapest source of long-term borrowing for 
a local authority.  

Page 48



Capital Strategy
Gravesham Borough Council

2022 - 2026

Page 49



2

Table of contents

1. Introduction...............................................................................................................................3

2. Corporate Priorities and links to other strategic documents.....................................................4

3. Capital Expenditure ..................................................................................................................6

4. Capital Expenditure and Treasury Management Investments .................................................7

5. Commercial Activity and Property Investment Decisions .........................................................8

6. Loans........................................................................................................................................9

7. Priority Areas for capital investment .......................................................................................10

8. Sources of Capital Funding ....................................................................................................13

9. Capitalisation Flexibilities .......................................................................................................14

10. Identification and appraisal of capital project proposals.........................................................14

11. Revenue implications of Capital Expenditure.........................................................................16

12. Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2025/26 ................................................................................16

13. Governance and monitoring of the capital programme ..........................................................18

14. Understanding and Managing Risk ........................................................................................19

15. S151 Officer Assurance..........................................................................................................19

Page 50



3

1. Introduction

1.1 This Capital Strategy is intended to outline the principles followed by Gravesham 
Borough Council in its approach to capital investment over the long-term.  It sets out the 
framework within which the council will plan, procure, prioritise and manage its capital 
investment and financing decisions in support of the delivery of the council’s priorities, as 
set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023, and has intrinsic links to the Treasury 
Management Strategy of the council.

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2003 provides the statutory framework for the 
consideration of affordability in the council’s capital investment decisions, taking into 
account both initial capital investment and ongoing revenue implications of the capital 
investment activity.  Capital projects undertaken by the council will primarily focus on 
those, which deliver long-term economic benefits to the borough and/or generate 
beneficial financial returns that will contribute to maintaining its ongoing financial 
sustainability.

1.3 The strategy has been developed by the Financial Services Team in conjunction with 
Housing colleagues and representatives of the Asset Management Group (AMG), which 
is chaired by the Director (Communities) and works corporately to promote good practice 
in Asset Management. 

1.4 The strategy will be reviewed at least annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose and in 
line with other key strategic documents of the council.  Minor updates will be made to the 
document with the agreement of the S151 Officer.  Any material updates will be 
presented to Full Council for adoption.

Page 51



4

2. Corporate Priorities and links to other strategic documents

2.1 The council’s Constitution provides the Framework for how the council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures that are to be followed to ensure that these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  The Constitution contains specific 
references to how capital investment planning decisions should be taken.

2.2 The Corporate Plan is the key document for setting the strategic direction of the council.  
The plan is developed through consideration of local priorities, understanding the key 
community characteristics of the borough, consultation with residents, businesses and 
key stakeholders in the borough and government policies.  The Corporate Plan 2019-
2023: Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of was adopted by Full Council in October 
2019 and set the thee strategic objectives of the council as being:

People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean borough their home.

Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community. 

Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

2.3 Each council department is required to prepare an annual Business Plan to demonstrate 
how its activity in the forthcoming year contributes to the delivery of the Corporate Plan 
objectives.  The Business Planning template identifies where projects to be undertaken 
during the year are likely to require capital investment.

2.4 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets out how the council will plan for and 
meet the financial challenges it faces over the medium term as a means of delivering a 
robust and stable financial basis on which to deliver quality council services.  The council 
recognises the importance of ensuring that its increasingly limited revenue and capital 
resources are aligned with key policy priorities.

2.5 The Treasury Management Strategy documents how the council will manage its cash 
flows and investment transactions and seek to effectively control the risks associated with 
such activities in the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. The 
strategy also sets out how the council will make use of external professional advisors and 
ensure that the knowledge and skills of officers and Members involved in such activity are 
maintained.  The Capital Strategy will seek to determine the borrowing need of the 
council, with this informing long term cash planning and therefore the treasury 
management activity of the council.

2.6 The Housing Strategy shows how the council and its partners will work together to 
address the borough’s housing needs and includes specific priorities to improve the 
quality of housing in both the private and public sector and to maximise the supply of 
affordable housing.  This is intrinsically linked to the Housing Development Strategy, 
which identifies how the council intends to add to its housing stock and the types of 
homes the council aims to deliver.  Historically, expenditure on the council’s housing 
stock had represented the largest element of the council’s capital investment programme.  
In more recent years, focus has been on maintaining the standard of the council’s 
housing stock and delivering the council’s commitment to delivering new council housing 
units.  

Page 52



5

2.7 The corporate Property Strategy presents a framework for the strategic management of 
the council’s non-dwelling property assets.  The principle objectives of the Property 
Strategy are:

 To provide members and senior management with a source of reference for 
property related assets.

 To retain, increase and develop new sources of income from assets.

 To provide a financial return through its investment portfolio and sales of surplus 
assets.

 To support a programmed, planned maintenance programme.

 To assist Housing Development with the council’s new build housing development 
programme.

 To support adequate and appropriate accommodation for services

 To assist with the delivery of major projects (e.g. Fleet Leisure and Heritage 
Quarter).

2.8 The Property Acquisition Strategy provides a framework for purchasing commercial 
property assets as a way of securing a better total return (i.e. from both income and 
capital appreciation) than cash investments, whilst still maintaining a high level of 
security.   

2.9 The IT Strategy details how Information and Communication Technology (ICT) can be 
applied and developed to support the delivery of the Corporate Plan, the transformation 
agenda of the council and drive service improvement by enabling change and 
efficiencies.

2.10 The Digital Strategy supports the customer service and access strategy of the council 
and aims to expand the service delivery options by providing and encouraging customers 
to use the most convenient and cost-effective digital contact channels, where 
appropriate.

Page 53



6

3. Capital Expenditure

3.1 Capital expenditure involves the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed assets such 
as land, buildings or equipment, which have a long-term value to the council.  Such assets 
support the delivery of council services over the long term and create ongoing financial 
commitments to the council, either through capital financing requirements or ongoing 
revenue costs.  The council uses the following classification of assets:

Asset Classification Asset Type Examples

Council dwellings

Land and buildings

Vehicles, plant and equipment

Infrastructure assets (e.g. paths, street furniture)

Community Assets (e.g. parks and open spaces, 
allotment sites) 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets Under Construction

Intangible Assets IT Software

Investment Properties Properties principally held by the council to 
provide a revenue income stream/capital 
appreciation

Heritage Assets Assets of historic or cultural interest to the 
borough (e.g. statues, monuments, civic 
regalia)

Assets Held for Sale Assets that are being actively marketed for 
disposal

3.2 The council applies a de minimis level of £12,000 for individual items to be charged as 
capital expenditure.  Items below this level are charged to revenue in the year that the 
expenditure is incurred.

Page 54



7

4. Capital Expenditure and Treasury Management Investments

4.1 Treasury Management investments take place as a consequence of the council’s cash 
flows and debt management activity and will seek to maximise the return on the cash 
balances held by the council until this is required for use in the delivery of council 
business.

4.2 The council’s treasury management investment priorities will be security first, liquidity 
second and then return.  The management of these activities is documented in the 
Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy.

4.3 The council’s Annual Investment Strategy recognises that the council may, from time to 
time, make investment decisions as part of its policy decision making process or to help it 
fulfil its strategic objectives. Such decisions will be subject to due diligence checks but 
will be classified as a service investment (and capital expenditure) rather than a treasury 
management investment. At the time of preparing this strategy the council had interests 
in two such service investments:

 Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) – established by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) to provide councils with the opportunity to raise funds at 
significantly lower rates than those offered by the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB).  

 Commercial acquisitions – assets purchased under the council’s Property 
Acquisition Strategy with the intention of generating a revenue income stream 
for the council.

Page 55



8

5. Commercial Activity and Property Investment Decisions

5.1 During 2022/23, the council will continue its programme of activity to develop new ways 
of working and create new income streams through trading operations. Any council 
investment in specific trading operations will be subject to developed business cases, 
supported by independent technical, legal, risk management and financial advice as 
required.  Ongoing performance of these operations will be monitored by the council to 
ensure that they continue to operate within the parameters set by the council as primary 
shareholder.

5.2 Commercial property investment decisions are directed by the requirements of the 
Property Acquisition Strategy.  The strategy forms part of the council’s overall activity to 
proactively respond to ongoing pressures on local government funding and sets the 
principal criteria for selecting investable property assets. 

5.3 Funding of £26.2m was approved by Full Council for implementation of the strategy.  The 
powers to acquire or dispose of properties purchased under the strategy have been 
delegated to the Chief Executive or Director (Corporate Services), supported by a cross-
political party working group advised by the Chief Executive, Director (Corporate 
Services) and the Monitoring Officer.  As appropriate, independent external professional 
advice is sought as part of the due diligence arrangements in evaluating potential 
acquisitions. These arrangements ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 
in place whilst also reflecting the need for the council to be able to respond quickly in the 
event of a suitable property coming to market.

5.4 Any decisions made by the Chief Executive or Director (Corporate Services) are reported 
to the next meeting of the Cabinet for information purposes.  Monitoring of activity under 
the strategy will be reported to Cabinet and the Finance & Audit Committee through 
budget monitoring reports, specific reports on the performance of the council’s property 
investment portfolio and through the council’s Performance Management Framework and 
Treasury Management Indicators. 

5.5 The council has recognised that its decisions to invest in commercial property will expose 
it to fluctuations in the commercial property market.  To this end, the council has 
established a Commercial Income Protection Reserve intended to meet any maintenance 
and upkeep requirements of assets purchased under the Property Acquisition Strategy or 
to smooth the impact on the General Fund revenue budget of any unplanned void 
periods.  The Reserve is valued at 25% of the Rental Income reflected in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.

5.6 There have been increasing indications from the Government over the last year that 
some local authorities may become overly dependent on commercial income as a source 
of revenue for delivering statutory services.  In November 2020 HM Treasury published 
new PWLB lending criteria prohibiting access to PWLB funding for three years where 
councils undertook to buy investment assets. Furthermore, consultations are currently 
being undertaken by CIPFA on the Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code of 
Practice proposing that commercial activity should be the primary purpose of investment 
decisions.  The council will continue to keep abreast of developments in this area and 
ensure its activity has due regard to the codified guidance in place at the time of any 
decision.

Page 56



9

6. Loans

6.1 The council has discretion to make loans for a number of reasons, but primarily for 
economic development or furtherance of housing delivery to meet the needs of the 
borough.  Any such loans will be treated as capital expenditure.

6.2 In making loans the council will undertake appropriate due diligence to evaluate the 
borrower and the risk of borrower default on repayment amounts, ensuring that loan 
terms are reflective of this evaluation. As per the Constitution of the council, any decision 
to issue a loan will be taken in accordance with the treasury management policies and 
practices approved by Full Council.

Page 57



10

7. Priority Areas for capital investment

7.1 The council recognises the importance of strategic consideration of capital project 
proposals as a means of prioritising the limited capital resources it has whilst ensuring 
the availability of resources so that essential assets continue to be provided and 
maintained.  

General Fund 

7.2 The financial resources available to meet corporate priorities are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate. Central government support for capital investment 
has reduced significantly over recent years, and the council recognises that capital 
investment will increasingly need to rely more on internal resources or through the 
council pursuing capital projects which are either self-sustaining or generate positive 
returns, both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings. 

7.3 The council’s capital investment priorities for the General Fund will be:

 Corporate Property Assets – the council has a land and property portfolio valued 
at some £46m at 31 March 2021, (subject to external audit validation) which is 
subject to periodic review by Property Services and the Asset Management Group 
to ensure that these assets continue to support the delivery on council services 
over the long term.  The council has established a maintenance programme to 
support its key property assets which considers both capital and revenue 
requirements to ensure that these assets remain operational. Where acquisition or 
disposal of land or property assets is recommended, this will be actioned in 
accordance with the Property Strategy.

 Sustainability of the council – the council will seek to invest in capital projects 
that support the sustainability of the council and the borough over the longer term.

 Regeneration Investment – the council will seek to invest in capital projects that 
support longer term economic growth and place shaping.  This will include the 
acquisition of strategic sites for the purpose of delivering such projects.

 Website Content Management System –  a new cloud based website content 
management system, which will provide greater resilience; less technical overhead  
and maintenance; more robust disaster recovery and a redesigned website. 

7.4 The following material investments are planned to take place between 2021 and 2026:

 Vehicle Fleet – investment will continue to be made in the council’s waste & 
recycling, repairs & maintenance and grounds maintenance fleets to support the 
ongoing delivery of these services to the borough and its residents.  

 Land Development – master planning exercises are underway to develop council-
owned land assets in Gravesend Town Centre, at Dering Way and at the Brookvale 
Depot to support the delivery of much needed economic development and housing 
within the borough. Schemes included are the redevelopment of area within the 
Town Centre, including The Charter delivered through the Council’s Trading 
Company Rosherville Ltd.

 New Leisure Centre – budget to fund the build costs of a new leisure centre in the 
Borough.

Page 58



11

Housing Revenue Account

7.5 The financial resources available to meet corporate priorities are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate. Central government support for capital investment 
has reduced significantly over recent years, and the council recognises that capital 
investment will increasingly need to rely more on internal resources or through the 
council pursuing capital projects which are either self-sustaining or generate positive 
returns, both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings. 

7.6 The council’s capital investment priorities for the Housing Revenue Account will be:

 Council Dwellings – the council has dwellings portfolio valued at some £409m at 
31 March 2021, (subject to external audit validation).  As a Landlord, the council 
has a responsibility to ensure that the dwellings it provides are fit for purpose and 
maintained to a decent standard.  Where acquisition or disposal of dwellings is 
recommended, this will be actioned in accordance with the approved Housing 
Development Strategy. Investment in the council housing stock ensures properties 
remain lettable, helping to secure and sustain the rental income, which 
fundamentally ensures the viability of the HRA.  The council undertakes a 
programme of stock condition surveys to ascertain the status of its housing stock 
and inform both capital and revenue expenditure requirements over the next 30 
years to ensure the stock is sufficiently maintained.

 New Build and Acquisitions – The council will be looking to continue the 
programme set out in 2021-22, which has been severely impacted by COVID-19 
pandemic. The programme utilises the ‘1-4-1’ receipts generated from the sale of 
council dwellings though the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme, which from April 2021 are 
to be used to meet 40% on the cost of eligible new build schemes and dwelling 
acquisitions.  This investment helps to deliver housing to meet the needs of the 
borough, as well as offsetting the loss of housing stock and associated rent income 
loss from sales through RTB.

 Alleyways - A new project targeted at providing a deep clean of alleyways to 
improve the local environment for residents and enable better access to properties 
is included in the capital programme for 2022-23.  The project will target the most 
challenging areas first and will include working with residents to determine 
opportunities and the desire for alley gates to help keep alleyways free from 
rubbish and fly tipping.  To help enable this work to improve the quality of the local 
environment and also contribute to our climate change objectives, a new electric 
rubbish collection vehicle will be procured for this initiative. £105K has been 
provided for this scheme.

 Fire doors to flats – Following the Grenfell tragedy and advice distributed by 
Government, a risk assessed programme has been developed to replace fire 
doors. 

7.7 The following material investments are planned to take place between 2022 and 2027:

 Maintenance of existing dwelling stock – delivery of a programme of works 
focused on the replacement and improvement of elements within dwellings and 
ensuring the health & safety of our tenants.

Page 59



12

 New Build and Acquisitions – investing in the expansion of the council housing 
stock for the purpose of delivering further affordable housing for use by residents of 
the borough.

Page 60



13

Sources of Capital Funding

7.8 Central government support for capital investment has reduced significantly over recent 
years and financial resources available to meet corporate priorities continue to be 
constrained in the current economic and political climate. There is a need, therefore, for 
greater reliance to be placed on internal resources or external funding, including 
borrowing, to fund capital investment.  Decisions on capital investment will need to have 
a greater focus on projects that are either self-sustaining or generate positive returns 
both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings.

7.9 The capital programme will be funded from the following principal sources:

 Central government - Grants may be allocated in relation to specific programmes 
or projects, such as the Disabled Facilities Grant.

 Third Party funding - funding for capital projects may also be provided by quasi-
government sources, national organisations or other parties external to the council.  
The Council will always seek to maximise external contributions, subject to any 
related grant conditions and/or match-funding obligations.

 Developer contributions - these represent contributions from developers on 
implementation of a permitted scheme towards the provision of public assets or 
facilities and are generally linked to the mitigation of impacts of developments on 
existing communities. These contributions are usually earmarked for specific 
purposes in planning agreements and are generally related to infrastructure 
projects.

 Unsupported borrowing - under the Prudential Code the council has discretion to 
finance the capital programme by undertaking borrowing to fund capital projects with 
the full cost of that borrowing being funded from within council resources. Each 
proposal for borrowing will be assessed in its own merit to ensure that it is prudent, 
affordable and sustainable. 

The council has set an authorised limit and operational boundary for gross debt with this 
reviewed and monitored by the Finance & Audit Committee as part of their treasury 
management responsibilities.  The limits for the forthcoming year and following two 
financial years are set out below:

Operational Boundary1
2022/23

Estimate £m

2023/24

Estimate £m

2024/25

Estimate £m

Debt 246.080 294.550 291.950

Other Long Term Liabilities 97.590 97.230 96.820
Total 343.670 391.780 388.770

Authorised limit2 2022/23

Estimate £m

2023/24

Estimate £m

2024/25

Estimate £m
Debt 256.080 304.550 301.950

Other Long Term Liabilities 102.590 102.230 101.820

Total 358.670 406.780 403.770

1 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed
2 Figures subject to change when the treatment of the St George’s Centre transactions has been agreed

Page 61



14

 Capital receipts from asset disposal - council assets which are deemed surplus 
may be considered for disposal, generating capital receipts that can then be directed 
to fund other capital projects.

 Revenue Contributions, Balances and Reserves - capital expenditure may be 
funded directly from an in-year revenue contribution, a direct contribution from 
working balances or by specific revenue reserves set aside for such purposes.

8. Capitalisation Flexibilities

8.1 Central government support for capital investment has reduced significantly over recent 
years and financial resources available to meet corporate priorities continue to be 
constrained in the current economic and political climate. There is a need, therefore, for 
greater reliance to be placed on internal resources or external funding, including 
borrowing, to fund capital investment.  Decisions on capital investment will need to have 
a greater focus on projects that are either self-sustaining or generate positive returns 
both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings.

10. Identification and appraisal of capital project proposals

10.1 There is a requirement for the council to ensure continued funding for existing programmes 
of work and to prioritise new capital projects that come forward.  For this purpose, the 
council has developed a capital bid process.  New project proposals will be submitted 
using the CP1 Form (see Appendix One) and will be initially endorsed by the relevant 
Director before being put forward for further evaluation by Financial Services.  

10.2 The council has adopted the following high level criteria in assessing such bids:

 the extent to which the project contributes to meeting the key aims and objectives 
of the Corporate Plan;

 the extent to which projects contribute to the priority areas set out in the strategy;

 the impact of the project on service provision and meeting statutory obligations;

 the financial viability of the project and the extent to which it provides future 
benefits to the council and the wider community;

 the consequences of not undertaking the project.

10.3 On receipt of a CP1 Form, the evaluation process will be conducted by Financial Services 
as part of the annual budget setting process.  The outcomes of the evaluation exercise will 
then be presented to the council’s Management Team for review and endorsement of 
projects to be taken forward.  As part of the annual budget setting process, the endorsed 
capital programme will be presented to Cabinet initially before being proposed to and 
approved by Full Council.

10.4 Capital plans for the forthcoming five years are incorporated into the annual budget book. 
The Medium Term Financial Plan and HRA Business Plan incorporate the anticipated 
revenue effects arising from the capital programme. In year capital project proposal can be 
generated from a variety of sources, primarily from external funding opportunities or a 
need to respond to a particular issue that has arisen during the year.  Such proposals will 
be considered in the same way as those submitted through the annual capital bid process.   

Page 62



15

11. Revenue implications of Capital Expenditure

11.1 In approving projects for inclusion within the capital programme, the council will 
ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable, taking 
into account the arrangements for the repayment of debt through the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) policy approved as part of its treasury management 
framework.  Anticipated ongoing revenue budget implications of capital expenditure 
decisions will be documented on the CP1 form used to capture and consider new 
project proposals.  

11.2 Capital financing charges, additional running costs, savings on expenditure or income 
arising from capital investment decisions will be reflected in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

Page 63



16

12. Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2026/27

12.1 The council has a statutory responsibility to set a fully funded three year capital 
programme each year when agreeing the budget. 

12.2 For the purposes of strategic capital planning, the council has extended its public 
capital programming horizon to five years and the proposed programmes for both the 
General Fund and HRA are provided at Appendix Two and Appendix Three, with a 
summary of these plans provided below. These plans are also published in the 
Budget Book, which supports the budget and council tax setting considerations, by 
Full Council in February each year.

TOTAL RESOURCES USED
2022/23 
Original 
Budget         

(£)

2023/24 
Original 
Budget         

(£)

2024/25 
Original 
Budget         

(£)

2025/26 
Original 
Budget         

(£)

2026/27 
Original 
Budget         

(£)
      
General Fund Capital Expenditure 72,479,120 51,960,030 1,817,150 1,184,800 2,072,340
HRA Capital Expenditure 24,058,970 23,513,030 19,042,650 11,188,150 7,888,620
      
TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 96,538,090 75,473,060 20,859,800 12,372,950 9,960,960
      
FINANCED BY:      
      
Grants & Contributions 10,237,740 4,015,330 962,800 832,800 832,800
Major Repairs Reserve 7,060,410 6,728,410 6,728,410 6,728,410 6,728,410
Capital Receipts 5,756,270 7,469,900 5,761,750 2,619,950 1,259,850
Specific Reserves 1,192,750 1,778,710 704,350 202,000 1,089,540
Revenue Contributions 574,020 0 0 0 0
External Borrowing 68,555,850 55,480,710 6,702,490 1,989,790 50,360
Internal Borrowing 2,945,790 0 0 0 0
Revenue Grants Not Yet Applied 215,260 0 0 0 0
      
TOTAL RESOURCES USED 96,538,090 75,473,060 20,859,800 12,372,950 9,960,960

12.3 The fully funded five year Capital Programme of the council has a total value of £215.1m 
of which:

 £129.5m relates to General Fund projects

 £85.6m relates to HRA projects

Page 64



17

13. Governance and monitoring of the capital programme

13.1 The Capital Strategy will be considered annually by the Finance and Audit Committee 
before being presented for approval by Full Council.

13.2 The Constitution of the Council (Financial Procedure Rules, Annex 2.6) requires:

 the Section 151 Officer to ensure that a three-year programme of capital 
expenditure is prepared on an annual basis, following the principles established in 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. The programme will show projects 
already approved and those for future consideration. Such programmes will be 
considered by the Chief Officer Management Team and Cabinet before 
submission to the Full Council.

 the Section 151 Officer and the Director responsible for development 
management to maintain a register of capital funding sources.

 a full report to be presented to Cabinet for any planned or proposed capital 
expenditure exceeding £100,000 or which might entail the council taking on 
significant liabilities before any contractual commitment is entered into.

 A full report to be presented to Cabinet where a revised estimate of a scheme 
either exceeds £100,000 or exceeds the last reported estimate by an amount 
equal to 2% or £10,000, whichever the lesser figure.

13.3 The annual business planning process for the council requires each department to set 
out proposed projects for the year and identify where such projects are likely to require 
capital investment and how projects link to corporate plan objectives and policy 
commitments.

13.4 In-year capital requirements are assessed in accordance with the evaluation process 
defined in this strategy and are considered by Management Team prior to presentation to 
Members.

13.5 At least quarterly, responsible officers are requested to provide updates on the delivery of 
projects included within the annual capital programme.  This process is supplemented by 
financial monitoring information produced by Financial Services and circulated to key 
officers.

13.6 The capital programme is monitored on a quarterly basis as part of the Council’s budget 
monitoring arrangements by both Cabinet and the Finance and Audit Committee, with 
reports to Members provided on new projects, variations to existing projects, slippage in 
programme delivery and the progress of significant schemes.

13.7 The Capital Strategy and the capital programme in subject to Internal and External Audit 
review.

Page 65



18

14. Understanding and Managing Risk 

14.1 Risk is considered throughout the capital investment process set out in this strategy 
through the way in which projects are appraised, approved, monitored and reported on.  
The Prudential Indicators reported as part of the council’s treasury management 
monitoring arrangements also provide measures by which the council can assess and 
understand the risk of its capital investment decisions and ensure that capital expenditure 
remains affordable, prudent and sustainable.

14.2 The council has adopted a project management approach.  Project management tools 
will be used in accordance with the size and scale of the project, with a risk assessment 
carried out as part of the completion of any Project Initiation Document.

14.3 Each capital investment project is assessed to ensure that the council is aware of any 
taxation implications the project may present.

14.4 The council is facing diminishing capital resources and limited access to grants and 
external funding opportunities, which means the council, needs to monitor use of 
available funds to ensure that it is fully aware of the financial implications of capital 
investment.  Suitability and availability of funding is considered on a project-by-project 
basis and levels of capital resources are reported to Management Team and Members 
through quarterly budget monitoring reports.

14.5 The acquisition or disposal of capital assets, or procurement contract to deliver or maintain 
capital assets are to be conducted in line with the council’s Contract Procedure Rules and 
Procurement Strategy. 

15. S151 Officer Assurance

15.1 This capital strategy has been prepared in line with the requirements of the 2018 CIPFA 
Prudential Code and 2018 Treasury Management Code.

15.2 The Section 151 Officer views the strategy to be prudent and affordable and fully 
reflective of the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Treasury Management 
Strategy and other Strategic Plans.

Page 66



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 31 January 2022 / 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – 
Quarter Three 2021/22

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may affect the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the third quarter to 31 December 2021 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity, which affects either budgetary provision or results in 
a permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved 
by Management Team.

Page 67 Agenda Item 6



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter 3, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year.  Variances identified within the report result in a larger 
contribution from the HRA General Reserve to balance the budget than originally forecast.  
Favourable variances resulting from staff vacancies and reduced interest costs resulting 
from the slowed capital programme in 2020/21 have been offset by a larger draw on the 
HRA General Reserve to finance capital budgets rolled forward from 2020/21 and a 
potential reduction in rental income resulting from the slowed delivery of the New Build 
programme due to Covid-19.

2.2. The potential impact of Covid-19 was taken into account when setting the 2021/22 HRA 
budget.  Therefore, there are no additional variances to expenditure or income to report.  
However, officers will continue to closely monitor the impact and highlight variances in the 
future at the earliest opportunity.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £747k, with the level of reserves being £2.8m 
at start of year and projected to be £2m at year-end.

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform and any impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
beyond those considered at the time of budget setting.

Housing Capital

2.5. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £24m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter 2 of £14.9m. Capital budgets totalling 
£2.9m have been carried forward to 2021/22, relating to the maintenance of the Council’s 
housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities Grants.  
The Council was awarded a grant via the Better Care Fund for Disabled Facility Grants 
that was £187k higher than assumed at the time of setting the budget in February 2021.

Page 68



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 31 December 2022.  As at 
31 December 2021, the forecast reflects a net favourable variance to original budget of 
£15k.

Description Original Budget 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast   
2021/22 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,996,680 5,908,020 (88,660)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,812,020 7,757,020 (55,000)
Depreciation 6,948,300 6,948,300 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 589,080 589,080 0
Capital Finance 7,794,080 7,868,580 74,500
Sub Total Expenditure 29,140,160 29,071,000 (69,160)
Rents of Dwellings (26,273,300) (26,234,470) 38,830
Other Rental Income (14,700) (14,700) 0
Service Charges (1,782,900) (1,792,810) (9,910)
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (115,310) 24,690
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,680) (521,680) 0
Other Income (110,620) (110,620) 0
Sub Total Income (28,843,200) (28,789,590) 53,610
Contributions to/(from) reserves (296,960) (281,410) (15,550)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2021/22

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT – £89k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £135k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2021/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first nine months to 31st December 2021, actual staffing spend was £135k lower 
than budgeted.

3.2.2. Capita Housing System: nil variance – due to delays implementing a new Housing 
System, the existing housing system, Capita, is being utilized and supported beyond the 
original termination date.  This has resulted in adverse variance of £50k from the 
budgeted provision.  However, Officers have reached an agreement with the new supplier 
that will offset the adverse variance in future years.

3.2.3. Council Tax on Void Properties: £46k adverse variance- 2021/2022 has seen a 31% 
increase on the number of void properties compared to last year which, through 
discussions with other providers, appears to be common across the social housing sector.  
There have been a number of challenges from an operational perspective such as a 
national shortage of materials and staff shortages due to Covid-19 both of which has had 
a consequential impact on the time it has taken to complete the work. Whilst the property 
remains void, the Council Tax associated with the property must be met from the revenue 
budget.

Page 69



4

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £55k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Insurance Excesses: £55k favourable variance- In 2020/21 adverse weather conditions 
caused roof damage to a number of properties in the borough and in the same year, a fire 
at a property in Palmer Avenue occurred.  Repair costs for both events were incurred 
during the previous financial year and an insurance claim was submitted.  Zurich have 
now reimbursed costs that the Council incurred which were above the insurance policy 
excess, which has resulted in a favourable variance of £55k. 

3.3.2. Repairs & Maintenance – nil variance – A nil variance continues to be reported at this 
stage of the financial year, however, we are working closely with the Housing Team to 
monitor the impact of national delays in the supply chain and the associated increase in 
material costs that is affecting both Contractors and the in-house team which are 
challenging to manage within budget and may affect programme delivery.

The current impacts within Repairs and Maintenance include:

 External refurbishment: Significant increases in the cost of materials, 21-22 year 
programme has been amended to accommodate price increase.

 Compliance programmes: Reporting difficulties with sourcing materials/parts but no 
impact in service delivery.

Details of impacts on the Capital programme have been included in section 4. 

3.4. DEPRECIATION - NIL VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – nil variance – there is no variance to report at this stage.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING - £75K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Interest Cost Savings – £144k – favourable variance – due to the Covid-19 related 
delays in the new build programme, there was a lower external borrowing requirement in 
2020/21.  This has reduced the anticipated cost of borrowing in the current financial year, 
resulting in a favourable variance of £144k against the original budget.

3.5.2. Contribution to Capital Programme - £219k – adverse variance – due to the impact of 
Covid-19 and subsequent delays to the capital programme during 2020/21 there was a 
reduction in the level of spend during the last financial year and, as a consequence, the 
draw from the HRA General Reserve to finance the capital spend was not required.  
However, this year there is now an increase in the required draw from HRA General 
Reserve to finance an element of the capital carried forward budgets.  This has resulted in 
an adverse variance of £219k. 

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £39k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings – £39k adverse variance– Due to the Covid-19 impact on the 
delivery of the New Build programmes from 20/21 into 21/22, there have been delays in 
the completion of units resulting in an expected loss of rental income generated in the 
current year compared to budget projections.  In Q2 it was reported to have an adverse 
variance of £184k on the budget, however, the rental of existing properties to new tenants 
at a higher weekly charge than previous tenants were paying has resulted in an improved 
position as at the end of Q3.

3.7. SERVICE CHARGES - £10K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Service Charges on Dwellings – £10k favourable variance- Following the completion 
and occupation of 147 Wrotham Road, an additional £10k service charges has been 
forecast to be received in 2021/22.

Page 70



5

3.8. NON-DWELLING INCOME - £25K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.8.1. Commercial Rent - £32k favourable variance – a favourable variance is forecast due to 
the increased rental income received for the hire of space for telecommunications masts 
on HRA land and buildings not known at the time of setting the budget.

3.8.2. Garage Rent - £57k Adverse variance – The New Build scheme within the HRA capital 
programme has utilised a number of garage sites for development.  This has therefore 
reduced the number of units available for rent and therefore the potential income from 
garages has decreased.  An exercise has been carried out as part of the budget setting 
exercise for 2022/23 to align future garage rental income budgets with the revised 
potential income. This has identified a forecast adverse variance against the current 
year’s budget of £57k.

3.9. OTHER INCOME – NIL VARIANCE

3.9.1. Other Income – nil variance – as with rental income from dwellings there remains a 
possible impact of COVID-19 on commercial income.  This was factored in when setting 
the budget for 2021/22 and therefore no further variance is reported.

3.10. WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES
3.10.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2021/22 (281,410)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 Sept 2021) including minimum 
HRA Working Balance 2,718,590

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 281,410

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 Dec 2021) 3,000,000
Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.10.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021   
(£)

Contributions 
(Income)      

(£)

Use of 
Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
(£)

Balance 
31/03/2022   

(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (2,763,470) 0 746,870 (2,016,600)

Total (2,763,470) 0 746,870 (2,016,600)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2021/22 is £23,978,630, of which £21,889,230 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £2,089,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,869,940 and £1,069,800, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2020/21.

Page 71



6

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2021/22, with £7,666,620 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  A further £250,000 has been set aside to deal with the refurbishment of 
major void properties.  An additional £1,390,010 capital budgets have been agreed to 
provide the replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play 
Equipment.  The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with 
£12,582,600 allocated for this purpose.

4.3. As at the end Quarter 3, £14.9m has been spent or committed against the capital 
schemes detailed below.  Officers will continue to monitor the impact of Covid-19 on the 
delivery of the capital programme.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2021-22 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 3,910,190 2,363,810 (1,546,380)
B Improvement Programmes 1,771,480 1,345,410 (426,070)
C Health & Safety Works 2,083,950 1,943,610 (140,340)
D Major Void Works 250,000 105,030 (144,970)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,582,600 7,274,480 (5,308,120)
F Housing Computer Systems 345,080 0 (345,080)
G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 0 (127,500)
H Bin Housing 49,470 27,377 (22,093)
I CCTV 56,960 56,960 0
J Fire Doors 712,000 647,050 (64,950)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 21,889,230 13,763,727 (8,125,503)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 2,089,400 1,156,350 (933,050)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 23,978,630 14,920,077 (9,058,553)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2021/22

4.4. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter 3 2021/22:

4.4.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A) 

 Kitchen renewals: 134 completed
 Bathroom renewals: 77 completed
 Windows and door renewals: 80 properties completed
 Roofing: 6 Blocks have had a roof renewal
 Electrical tests: 619 properties completed 
 Electrical tests: 33 Blocks completed 

4.4.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 Central heating systems/boilers installations:  240 completed
 Wet room installations: 34 completed
 Domestic stair lifts installations: 23 completed

4.4.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Fire detection installations in general let properties: 190 completed
 Fire detection installations in sheltered properties: 188 completed

Page 72



7

 Upgrades to communal fire detection and fire alarm systems: 3 Blocks
 Upgrades to door entry systems: 10 blocks
 Passenger lift refurbishment: Refurbishment works to two lifts completed with both 

lifts fully operational from Dec 2021. 
 Fire rated front door replacements to flats: 19 Properties

This programme has resulted from one of the recommendations from the Hackitt 
report

 Carl Ekman water mains and soil stack renewal: The following works have 
commenced:
o Replacement of cast iron soil and rainwater pipework estimated to 

complete March 2022
o Replacement of water mains riser pipework estimated to complete March 

2022
o Installation of new bathrooms by DSO commenced November 2021
o Compliancy Works to upgrade balconies to meet current regulations 

commenced at Carl Ekman House
 Carl Ekman: Fire Sprinkler upgrade following water mains upgrade. Preparatory 

works to all flats in progress. Project estimated to complete by March 2022.

4.4.4. As noted in section 3.3.2 the Capital programme is also being affected by the issues 
reported.  These include:

 Heating installations: Contractors have been reporting an increase in the cost of 
materials and difficulty in sourcing materials.  There has been no impact on service 
delivery, however some contractors are seeking significant increases in the contract 
price.  These have yet to be agreed or confirmed.

 Bathroom programme have been scaled back to just void works due to difficulties with 
procuring materials.

 Planned programmes Roofing and Windows and Doors – on-going issues with delays 
in supply chains however these are shorter than previously experienced. Programme 
deliverables have also been affected by the current situation with the Omicron variant; 
contractors with staff having to self-isolate and tenants refusing access. At the 
present time both these programmes are working to tight deadlines for completion 
end March 2021 however this may extend into April 2021 if current situation 
continues. 

4.5. New Build (Ref E)

4.5.1. In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of the 
Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition 
of additional social housing.

4.5.2. From 1 April 2021, MHCLG has amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of additional 
housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from the previous limit of 
30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only required to fund the remaining 60% 
of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the requirement to spend RTB receipts from three to 
four years after they are generated.

4.5.3. The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been delivered 
since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the number of additional 
properties, which are at various stages of delivery within the current programme.  To date, 
the total number of new Council homes completed, under construction or with planning 
permission is 140. The Housing Development Team continue to work on a pipeline of 
potential development sites to increase the supply of social housing.

Page 73



8

HRA Property Development Stage Number of 
Properties

Delivered and Completed 49
Under Construction 84
Planning Permission Granted 7
Feasibility/Concept Design 334
Total Number of HRA Properties 474

Table 5: New Build Delivery

4.5.4. The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 3:

 Whitehill (Admiral Beatty House) and Nansen Road – Scheme completed July 2021; 
comprising of 8 x 3 bed 5 person houses and 24 x 1 bed & 2 bed apartments. In defects 
liability period  

 St Patrick’s Gardens (Bishops Court) – 4 Week Notice issued with handover and 
completion expected on the 24 January 2022; comprising of 22 x 1 bed & 2 bed 
apartments and 1 x 2 bed wheelchair dwelling. Snagging commenced with play 
equipment installed to new amenity space.

 Valley Drive (340/Mariner Court) – Works are continuing on site with brickwork almost 
complete and roof coverings going on; expected completion date summer 2022. The 
scheme will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for over 55’s including x4 wheelchair compliant 
homes to Block A and 15 x 1 bed & 2 bed apartments for general needs and 1 x 3 bed 
wheelchair dwelling to Block B.

 Constable Road – Works are continuing on site with brickwork and roof structures 
ongoing that will deliver a terrace of 6 x 1 bed bungalows and 1 x 1 bed wheelchair 
compliant bungalow and new play area to the open greenspace with expected completion 
Spring 2022.

 Armoury Drive – The former Milton Barracks site in Armoury Drive will see the 
construction of 2 x 1 bed detached bungalows and 4 x 2 bed apartments.  Contract 
signed 20 December 2021 with an expected start on site of March 2022. 64-week 
programme with expected completion March 2023.  

 St Columba’s Close – The Council’s first carbon neutral development adhering to a 
Passivhaus approach will deliver a mixed scheme comprising 12 x 1 bed and 31 x 2 bed 
apartments, 5 x 3 bed houses and 2 x 4 bed houses with general improvements to the 
public realm. Community engagement has commenced with design works ongoing with a 
planning submission expected June/July 2022.

 147 Wrotham Road - In 2020/21 the Council purchased this property, to provide interim 
housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough. The property includes 10 single 
rooms with en-suite facilities (including one wet room), and a further 4 multifunctional 
rooms which can be used as emergency overnight accommodation, shared kitchen, and 
dining facilities as well as facilities for staff. All major works have been completed and the 
property has been in occupation since November 2021.

4.5.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As of 1 April 2021, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

Page 74



9

4.5.6. Table 6 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-22
2017-18 1,811,560 4,227,000 6,038,560 29,057,180 31-Mar-23
2018-19 1,797,170 4,193,400 5,990,570 35,047,730 31-Mar-24
2019-20 2,869,320 6,695,080 9,564,400 44,612,130 31-Mar-25
2020-21 1,475,440 3,442,690 4,918,130 49,530,260 31-Mar-26

14,859,070 34,671,190 49,530,260

Table 6: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref F) 
4.7.1. The Council has received a formal response from the supplier following a dispute notice 

being sent to them for failing to provide a functioning system within the agreed timeframe. 
The formal response has been reviewed by Legal and Housing colleagues and work is 
currently underway to implement the new system.

4.7.2. The alternative solution from the supplier will better meet the needs of the Council, 
commercial agreement has been reached and final due diligence is taking place.  Officers 
are also participating in a number of discovery workshops with the supplier in conjunction 
with initial delivery planning sessions to form a revised project plan.

Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A review of the replacement programme was undertaken in Q3 to ensure that the 
allocated budget and any potential grant funding is maximised.  All sites have been 
reviewed and it is anticipated that the programme will be delivered in Q4. 

4.8.2.  Following the review of playground sites, it has been established that they will be available 
for public use and not limited to estate residents and therefore the expenditure can be 
funded from the Contain Management Outbreak Fund (COMF) monies.  This expenditure 
will be reported as part of the General Fund programme and therefore the current budget 
of £127.5k will be carried forward into 2022/23. 

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref K) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council in 2021/22, via the Better Care Fund, was 
£1.020m, which was higher than the £833k that was, forecasted when the budget was set 
in February 2021.  The total funding available for use in 2021/22 is now £2.089m, which is 
inclusive of the £1.070m that was carry forward from 2020/21.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance within the wider remit of the Better Care Fund.

4.9.3. All works previously impacted by Covid-19 have now progressed.  As at Quarter 3, 62% of 
the annual budget has been committed/spent, amounting to £1.188m.

Page 75



10

4.9.4. DFG referrals received to date totals 86 for 2021/22, of which, 68 DFG’s have progressed 
to full application stage. There are 175 DFGs including those ongoing from previous 
years.

 68 DFG grant cases were approved 
 56 households had works completed 
 27 applications were aborted or cancelled due to changes in the client’s 

circumstances – Including 11 applications carried over from 21/22
 52 grant cases are currently in progress but have not yet reached the full approval 

stage

4.9.5. The table below gives a comparison of the current level of DFG’s to previous years.

19-20 19-20 19-20 19-20 20-21 20-21 20-21 20-21 21-22 21-22 21-22
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

Approved 22 14 25 23 4 6 26 22 30 55 68
Complete 19 16 11 21 12 8 10 21 15 44 56
Cancelled 5 7 11 3 0 2 8 7 1 12 27
In Progress 44 48 42 42 47 56 51 86 56 59 52
Total 90 85 89 89 63 72 95 136 102 170 203

Table 7: DFG Historic Claim Information

4.9.6. From 2022/23 the Disabled Facility Grant budget will be reported as part of the General 
Fund capital programme.

4.10. Capital Resources
4.10.1. Table 8 below, shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The use 

of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances forward, as 
indicated in this report.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021(£)

Forecast 
Income 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast Use 
of Funding 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
Final Balance 
31/03/2022 (£)

Capital Receipts - HRA (1,010,350) (259,490) 206,430 (1,063,410)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (86,180) 0 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (85,380) (6,948,300) 6,701,680 (332,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) 0 69,700 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,349,860) (3,078,660) 2,956,990 (6,471,530)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (673,360) 673,360 0
Disabled Facility Grants (1,203,630) (1,019,600) 2,089,400 (133,830)
Christianfields Overage 0 0 0 0
Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
General Reserve (revenue) (2,763,470) 0 746,870 (2,016,600)
Total (15,166,070) (11,979,410) 13,444,430 (13,701,050)
Table 8: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2021/22

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

Page 76



11

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three-year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plans for capital and revenue are attached to this 
report at Appendices two and three.

4.11.4. The current version of the HRA Business Plan reflects the changes to the use of HRA 1-4-
4 Right to Buy receipts which were recently announced by MHCLG and came into effect 
on 1 April 2021 (para 4.5.2).  It also reflects the assumption that the number of properties 
sold under the Right to Buy scheme will continue to but at a reduced level of 20 per 
annum to the previous assumption of 30 properties per annum.  Inflationary increases 
year on year have also been reviewed to reflect the current challenging economic 
conditions and supply chain issues.

4.11.5. Officers will continue to work on the Business Plan in conjunction with colleagues in 
Housing to review and assess the impact of other base assumptions within the model.

Page 77



12

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 
31 December against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 78

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


13

Climate Change No direct implications

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q3
HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31
Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure
Replacement Programmes
Kitchen 988 638 988 759 737 735 745 744 744 744 744
Bathroom 225 205 225 173 168 168 170 169 169 169 169
Doors & Windows 950 950 557 428 415 415 420 419 419 419 419
Roofing Replacements 1,039 1,039 890 684 664 663 672 670 670 670 670
Electrical Testing 709 659 709 544 528 528 534 534 534 534 534
Improvement Programmes
Modernisation & Reconfigurations 11 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Communal Improvements 0 0 421 323 314 314 318 317 317 317 317
Insulation Works 80 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Heating Installations 1,050 951 900 691 671 670 679 678 678 678 678
Capital Services & Projects 80 80 80 61 59 59 60 60 60 60 60
Aids and Adaptations 552 552 522 401 389 389 394 393 393 393 393
Health & Safety Works
Fire Precaution Works 1,023 1,023 461 354 344 344 348 347 347 347 347
Door Entry/Warden 125 125 97 75 73 73 74 73 0 0 0
Asbestos Management 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Major Lift Refurbishments 276 276 142 109 106 105 107 107 0 0 0
Tanks/Water Mains 401 560 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
LED Emergency Lighting 101 89 101 78 75 75 76 76 0 0 0
Major Voids 250 200 250 202 206 216 229 240 240 240 240
Additional Stock Condition Schemes
Energy Efficiency Saving Schemes 0 0 1,889 1,451 1,409 1,407 1,425 1,422 1,422 1,422 1,422
Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,917 7,386 8,230 6,332 6,157 6,159 6,249 6,250 5,994 5,994 5,994

Other Capital Expenditure
Housing Computer System 345 0 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Play Equipment 128 0 128 98 95 95 96 96 0 0 0
Bin Housing 49 49 49 38 37 37 37 37 0 0 0
CCTV 57 57 30 23 22 22 23 23 0 0 0
Fire Doors 811 712 807 620 602 601 608 607 0 0 0
LAD2 Grant Scheme 0 148 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Structural 0 0 100 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77
Sheltered Communal Uprades 0 0 117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cycle Storage 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Alleyways - HRA 0 0 105 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 1,390 966 1,966 855 833 832 841 840 77 77 77

New Build Expenditure
Purchases from the Market 0 800 1,750 1,750 800 800 800 800 800 800 800
Whitehill Road 0 717 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Valley Drive 0 3,807 3,428 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
St Patricks Gardens 0 3,329 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 1,419 226 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Armoury Drive 0 176 748 402 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
147 Wortham Road 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
St Columba's 0 0 2,750 5,500 5,000 500 0 0 0 0 0
Off Plan Purchases 0 0 770 2,756 2,756 2,576 0 0 0 0 0
Mountfields 0 0 1,794 3,588 3,264 324 0 0 0 0 0
Worcester Drive 0 0 897 1,829 235 0 0 0 0 0 0
Developing New Schemes (inc Milton Place) 0 0 1,500 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
New Build 12,583 (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
New Build Expenditure Total 12,583 10,648 13,863 16,325 12,055 4,200 800 800 800 800 800

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 21,889 19,000 24,059 23,513 19,045 11,190 7,890 7,890 6,871 6,871 6,871

Financing
MRR (7,812) (6,771) (7,060) (6,332) (6,157) (6,159) (6,249) (6,250) (5,994) (5,994) (5,994)
RTB - Allowable Debt (715) (673) (530) (418) (432) (446) (461) (476) (491) (507) (523)
Other Capital receipts (779) (206) (1,159) 0 (137) (232) (234) (236) (66) (50) (34)
HRA General Reserve/RCCO (715) (715) (574) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RTB - 141 Receipts (2,704) (2,957) (3,917) (6,330) (4,822) (1,680) (320) (320) (320) (320) (320)
Borrowing (9,164) (7,676) (10,818) (10,433) (7,496) (2,674) (627) (608) 0 0 0
Total Financing (21,889) (19,000) (24,059) (23,513) (19,045) (11,190) (7,890) (7,890) (6,871) (6,871) (6,871)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Original 
Budget Q3

HRA Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31
Expenditure
Supervision and Management 5,997 5,908 7,387 7,571 7,800 8,034 8,195 8,359 8,526 8,697 8,871
Repairs and Maintenance 7,812 7,757 7,833 7,008 6,799 7,034 7,345 7,575 7,813 8,059 8,244
Depreciation 6,948 6,948 6,965 7,209 7,425 7,648 7,877 8,114 8,357 8,608 8,866
Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 589 589 435 447 456 467 477 487 498 509 520
Capital Finance 7,544 7,153 7,632 9,649 10,907 11,370 11,897 12,650 13,328 14,049 14,155
RCCO 250 715 574 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue Savings Required
Total Expenditure 29,140 29,071 30,826 31,884 33,387 34,553 35,791 37,185 38,522 39,921 40,655

Income
Rents of Dwellings (26,273) (26,234) (27,955) (29,204) (30,718) (31,901) (33,118) (34,372) (35,663) (36,991) (37,657)
Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (15) (15) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8) (8)
Service Charges (1,783) (1,793) (1,912) (1,978) (2,037) (2,078) (2,119) (2,162) (2,205) (2,249) (2,294)
Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (115) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120) (120)
Intensive Housing Management  - Income (522) (522) (435) (447) (456) (467) (477) (487) (498) (509) (520)
Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (111) (111) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73) (73)
Total Income (28,843) (28,790) (30,502) (31,828) (33,411) (34,645) (35,914) (37,221) (38,565) (39,949) (40,671)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (297) (281) (324) (56) 24 92 123 36 44 28 16

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances
B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
Variances per budget report (297) (281) (324) (56) 24 92 123 36 44 28 16
Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,703 2,719 2,676 2,944 3,024 3,092 3,123 3,036 3,044 3,028 3,016
Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 297 281 324 56 (24) (92) (123) (36) (44) (28) (16)
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve
Opening Balance 2,763 2,763 2,017 1,693 1,637 1,661 1,753 1,876 1,911 1,955 1,983
Use to support revenue position (297) (281) 0 (56) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Use in capital financing (497) (465) (324) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 0 24 92 123 36 44 28 16
Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,970 2,017 1,693 1,637 1,661 1,753 1,876 1,911 1,955 1,983 1,999

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

    Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Report for Cabinet
Report for Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 31 January 2022 / 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2021/22 – Quarter Three

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements.

Recommendation:

1. This report is for information only

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the third quarter to 31 December 2021, as well as updating Members on other key areas 
of financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

Page 85 Agenda Item 7



2

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or results in a 
permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved by 
Management Team

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Three there is a projected underspend for the year of £598,670. 
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year are 
largely attributable to the projected salary underspend, movements within the parking 
income budget, reduced interest payable charges and several other variations across 
income lines.

2.2. As reported in the 2020/21 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a 
favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £147,290 to be approved for carry 
forward into 2021/22. 

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £12.29m, constituted of 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £7.04m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in earmarked reserves 
of £7.14m. This reflects the start of the year position being £19.08m and projected to be 
£11.94m at year-end. Within this movement, £4.41m relates to a drawdown from the 
NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve – see section 3.10.5 for further details. 
Other significant movements largely relate to the financing of the General Fund Capital 
Programme e.g. Asset Enhancement Reserve, DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve, IT 
Infrastructure Reserve and Decriminalisation Reserve.

2.5. It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government supports starts to unwind during 2021/22.

Capital

2.6. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £22.8m, with schemes having 
been re-profiled where necessary as part of the budget-setting process for 2022/23. The 
current working budget includes £14.2m relating to The Charter, and £4m relating to the 
Property Acquisition Programme.  Actual spend, as at the end of Quarter Three was 
£12.39m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2021/22 was £6,420,640, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £98,270 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Page 86



3

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate based on known and projected variances as at 31 
December 2021. 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
2021/22 (£)

Variation 
2021/22 (£)

All Directorate - Salaries 0 (575,000) (575,000)
Chief Executive 168,160 168,160 0
Communities 3,850,700 3,958,230 107,530
Corporate Services 2,917,210 2,712,310 (204,900)
Environment 5,511,040 5,502,040 (9,000)
Housing 1,225,680 1,225,680 0
Items carried forward from 2020/21 0 147,290 147,290
Non-Directorate Specific 888,960 888,960 0
Interest and Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) 0
Government Grant Funding (1,308,260) (2,827,730) (1,519,470)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (7,148,150) (6,160,870) 987,280
Transfers to/ (from) balances 311,050 311,050 0
Transactions below the line 776,250 1,243,850 467,600
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 6,420,640 5,821,970 (598,670)

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) 0
Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) 0
Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) 0
New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) 0
Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 0
Use of Working Balances 98,270 98,270 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (598,670) (598,670)

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – SALARIES 

3.2.1 Staffing: £575k favourable variance – the General Fund staffing budget for 2021/22
incorporates a vacancy allowance for £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will 
occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-
day business activities, as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. The projection is an underspend of £925k, therefore giving rise to the net 
favourable variance of £575k.

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE – £107k adverse variance

3.4.1. Leisure Services Income: £48k adverse variance – the Council has considered 
further support to Gravesham Community Leisure Limited, who manage Cascades and 

Page 87



4

Cygnet Leisure Centres within the borough, in the light of the centres reduced activities 
resulting from government actions to combat Covid-19. Resultantly, fees payable for 
2021/22 have been adjusted with the effect of reduced income to the Council of £48k. 

3.4.2. Garages rental income: £33k adverse variance – the New Build scheme within the 
HRA Capital Programme has utilised a number of garage sites for development. This 
has therefore reduced the number of units available for rent and therefore the potential 
income from garages has decreased. An exercise has been carried out as part of the 
budget-setting process for 2022/23 to align future garage rental income budgets with the 
revised potential income. This has identified a forecast adverse variance compared to 
the current year’s budget of £33k.

3.4.3. Parking Income: £26k net adverse variance – the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
continues to have a detrimental impact on the Council’s income streams, particularly 
within parking services. Although parking charges – both on-street and within car parks 
– have been levied throughout the financial year to date, a continued reduction in the 
number of commuters, town centre workers and visitors to the town centre has led to an 
overall projected income deficit of £222k, compared to the original budget for 2021/22. 
However, it is worth noting that the Council had already factored into the original budget 
an expected loss for 2021/22 of £394k, and therefore the gross income deficit compared 
to pre-Covid levels, would be £616k.

3.4.4. In order to help Local Authorities mitigate income losses arising from the pandemic and 
associated restrictions, the Government has continued its Sales, Fees & Charges 
Compensation Scheme which began in 2020/21, and run a similar initiative for the first 
quarter of this year i.e. covering the period April-June 2021. The estimate for parking 
services is compensation of £196k, therefore giving rise to the net adverse variance 
across the service of £26k.

3.4.5. Leisure Services Studies: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £22k was 
initially made available during 2020/21 to support the furtherance of leisure development 
activities. This incorporated a refresh of the 2016 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, and 
a subsequent feasibility study to investigate the future of existing leisure provisions 
within the borough. The study includes an evaluation of prospective future capital and 
revenue costs as well as a management options appraisal to assist the Council in 
determining the optimum way forward. £6k of the reserve funding was spent during 
2020/21, with the remaining £16k now released to enable the studies to be completed 
during 2021/22.

3.4.6. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £33k was initially 
made available during 2020/21 to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to 
extend the number of units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporated a 
combination of electrical, extraction and kitchen works, designed to extend food-trading 
capabilities to an additional six units, and linked with the Market Strategy, which was 
formally adopted in May 2020. £22k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, 
with the remaining £11k now released to complete the works during 2021/22.

3.4.7. Rental income at Stuart Road, Gravesend: Neutral variance – during quarter 3 of 
2021/22, a revised tenancy arrangement was concluded with the occupier of this site, 
Wickes, securing a long-term rental income stream for the Council. The renegotiation 
has created an initial budgetary income shortfall, which has been offset by a 
corresponding transfer from the Commercial Income Protection Reserve, thus resulting 
in an overall projected neutral variance for the year.

Page 88



5

3.5      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £205k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE
3.5.1 Interest Payable: £190k favourable variance – expenditure within the General Fund 

Capital Programme during 2020/21 was lower than originally budgeted, which meant 
that there was a reduced borrowing requirement than initially envisaged. This is turn led 
to lower associated interest costs, which has continued into 2021/22 generating a 
positive budgetary impact. Additionally, where borrowing has been required, it has been 
at lower interest rates than originally budgeted, and therefore a combination of these two 
factors has led to a favourable projected variance of £190k in 2021/22.

3.5.2 Rosherville LATCO Service Level Agreement (SLA) Income: £15k favourable 
variance – as part of arrangements to facilitate the work of Rosherville Limited and its 
subsidiary organisations, the Council provides a range of services which are recharged 
to the company on a quarterly basis. These include services such as Finance, 
Communications and Information Technology services where officers undertake specific 
duties on behalf of Rosherville Limited as part of the SLA. The majority of the functions 
recharged sit within the Corporate Services directorate, and thus the £15k projected 
additional income for 2021/22 is shown here for clarity of reporting.

3.5.3 St George’s Phase 2 Professional Services: Neutral variance – in order to facilitate 
the wider St George’s Phase 2 development, a range of external professional services 
are required. These incorporate, legal, financial, tax, and property services and are 
estimated to cost £200k in 2021/22. The costs are being funded from the Housing & 
Commercial Growth Fund earmarked reserve, resulting in a neutral variance within the 
2021/22 MTFP.

3.5.4 Corporate Initiatives Professional Services: Neutral variance – similar to the above, 
external professional support and advice has been engaged to the support the 
furtherance of various corporate initiatives, for example Elizabeth Huggins Cottages and 
residual Charter advice. Resultantly, reserve funding of £70k has been transferred from 
the NNDR Growth Fund reserve, ensuring a neutral variance within the 2021/22 MTFP.

3.5.5 Microsoft 365 Technical Support: Neutral variance – as part of the Council’s 
commitment to technology enhancement as well as facilitating a range of agile working 
mechanisms, Microsoft 365 has recently been installed. In order to support the rollout of 
this substantial project, provide resilience within IT services and allow the new system to 
generally bed-in, reserve funding of £48k has been made available to finance the 
engagement of two Microsoft 365 Project Support Officers, each with 6 month contracts 
during 2021/22.

3.5.6 Local Partnerships Net Zero Project: Neutral variance – within the Council’s Climate 
Change agenda, a range of options are being explored across different directorates and 
service areas.  During quarter 3 of 2021/22, the Council engaged Local Partnerships, a 
joint venture between the Local Government Association and HM Treasury, to assist 
with the Net Zero Project, at a cost of £30k funded from the Climate Change earmarked 
reserve.

3.5.7    Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – following the success of the 
“Recycling On the Go” project which was trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens during 
2020/21, the scheme is now being extended across other park areas – Riverside 
Leisure Area, Woodlands Parks and Camer Park. Resultantly, £28k has been made 
available from the Climate Change Reserve to support this work, which will enable the 
purchase of dual compartment litter and recycling bins, increasing both the litter capacity 
available as well as the aesthetic appearance at these locations.

Page 89



6

3.6       ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE  – £9k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE
3.6.1 Planning Pre-Application Income: £9k favourable variance – income within the Planning 

service from pre-applications is continuing to hold up well, and there is currently 
additional income of £9k projected for 2021/22.

3.7       HOUSING DIRECTORATE –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE
3.7.1 Homelessness – The Council has a duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) 

2018 to prevent and relieve homelessness, and facilitate temporary accommodation 
until alternative accommodation is secure or relief duty ends. Over the last 18 months, 
there has been a steady increase in the demand for temporary accommodation requests 
and homelessness provision, exacerbated by circumstances arising from the COVID-19 
pandemic. As of 31 December, there are 159 households in temporary accommodation, 
of which 77 are within Gravesham’s own stock, and 82 are in nightly paid 
accommodation. Increasing demand coupled with the decreasing supply of suitable 
accommodation locally inevitably means that the service is now reliant on nightly paid 
options both in and outside of the Gravesham borough, which is challenging the 
temporary accommodation budget.

3.7.2 There are a number of recent factors that have impacted the Council’s temporary 
accommodation budget including:

 Relationship breakdowns have led to the largest number of homelessness 
approaches over the last six months.

 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 – since the introduction of this on 5 July 2021, there 
have been 77 approaches to the Council where individuals have lost their last 
settled accommodation in these circumstances.

 Lifting of the eviction ban has seen a steady flow of residents presenting Section 
8 and Section 21 Notices.  In the last two quarters of 2021/22 there have been 
141 cases opened who required Housing Options Team support.  

 Households affected with loss of income through loss of employment/furlough 
that has affected their ability to meet their housing costs.

3.7.3 The current budget for temporary accommodation is £699,060. This comprises: £80,000 
as the Council’s own contributions, £77,130 grants carried forward from 2020/21, 
£341,930 Homelessness Prevention Grant 2021/22 and £200,000 forecast Housing 
Benefit temporary accommodation income receipts. It is currently estimated that by 
year-end 2021/22, there will be additional expenditure within the temporary 
accommodation budget of up to £300k. This is being financed by the 2021/22 Central 
Government Covid-19 grant designed to assist local authorities with expenditure 
pressures arising from the pandemic, which has had noticeable impact within the 
Homelessness Service as described above, and therefore a neutral variance is 
projected overall for the year. 

Page 90



7

3.8 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2020/21 – £147,290

3.8.1 The following items from 2020/21 have been approved for carry forward to 2021/22 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

Summary of General Fund 2020/21 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2021/22

Communities Environmental Health £6,100 Statutory Air Quality Action Plan required by DEFRA
Communities Community Engagement £15,000 Match funding of Cultural Waterside Grant - grant decision 

awaited. To assist with welcoming back to town centre 
following easing of Covid-19 restrictions.

Communities Basecamp £7,610 MOD Funding to be used for future armed forces event.
Communities Town Centre £14,250 Light Festival postponed from 2020/21.
Communities Town Centre £21,000 Investment in Town Centre activities as part of welcome 

back post restrictions.
Communities Arts Development £16,140 Align funds to the 2021/22 Arts & Cultural delivery 

programme, following cessation of Gravesham Arts 
Council SLA during 2020.

Communities Arts Development £3,370 Ticket sales from outdoor events to be used to fund 
events in 2021/22.

Communities Regulatory Services £19,500 Digital offering improvements to enhance overall service 
delivery - IT software & equipment.

Environment Cemeteries £9,320 Major works planned for Northfleet Cemetery in 2021/22.
Housing Private Housing £35,000 Housing Stock Condition Survey.

Total carry-forward requests £147,290

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2020/21

 
3.9       FUNDING STREAMS – £64k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1 Government Grant Funding: £1,519k favourable variance – as part of the 
Government’s continuing response to the Covid-19 pandemic in supporting businesses 
and the local economy, a number of business rate reliefs have been awarded during 
2021/22, primarily in the retail and hospitality sectors. These were announced after the 
2021/22 budget-setting process had been concluded, and are therefore projected to 
result in an additional £1,519k received by the Council in 2021/22. This funding is in the 
form of Section 31 grants, and is effectively in-lieu of monies that would otherwise have 
been directly due from NNDR rate-payers through the regular billing process. 

3.9.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves: £987k adverse variance – as a result of the process 
described above, a deficit has arisen on the NNDR Collection Fund whereby a reduced 
level of income is due via that route. Under accounting arrangements, deficits are 
repayable to the Collection Fund in future years, and therefore the additional Section 31 
grants receivable of £1,519k in 2021/22 are being transferred to the Business Rates 
Equalisation Reserve this year for use in subsequent years.

3.9.3 Additionally within the transfers to/(from) reserves section, a total of £531k is reported 
relating reserve funded items as described within individual Communities and Corporate 
Services Directorate sections above. Furthermore, there is a £1k favourable variance 
resulting from an equalisation of reserves being used to be the finance capital 
programme, which has been actioned during quarter 3.

3.9.4 Thus the total of £987k within the transfers to/(from) reserves line comprises £1,519k 
Section 31 grants transferred to the NNDR Equalisation Reserve, £531k drawn down 

Page 91



8

from reserves to fund specific service expenditure, and a £1k favourable variance to 
equalise reserve-funded capital expenditure. 

3.9.5 Transactions below the line: £468k adverse variance – under accounting 
arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded expenditure within 
services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the specific service) are 
shown here. This accounts for £531k of the reported movement in this section.

3.9.6 Retirement Benefits: £40k favourable variance – in addition to the Past Service pension 
lump sum payable to KCC (Kent County Council), which is set on a triennial basis by 
pension actuaries, the Council also holds a budget to make individual retirement benefit 
payments for former employees through KCC.  This budget has consistently generated 
favourable year-end variances in recent years, and similarly a £40k favourable variance 
is now projected in 2021/22. Ongoing provision in this area will be reviewed as part of 
the current budget-setting process.

3.9.7 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £23k favourable variance – the MRP charge for 
2021/22 is based on the Council’s cumulative capital spend that is financed from either 
internal or external borrowing up to the end of 2020/21.  As the capital spend in 2020/21 
on schemes financed from these sources was lower than anticipated at the time of 
setting the 2021/22 budget, there is a resulting projected favourable variance relating to 
MRP in 2021/22 of £23k.

3.9.8 Thus, the total of £468k within the transactions below the line section comprises a £531k 
transfer relating to reserve-funded expenditure, a £40k favourable variance within 
retirement benefits, and a £23k Minimum Revenue Provision favourable variance. 

Page 92



9

3.10 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.10.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 11,283,080 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 311,050 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund 98,270 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2020/21) 598,670 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 December 2021) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 12,291,070 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 December 2021) 7,041,070 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.10.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2021 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 465 (232) 200 433 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163 (909) 100 354 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657 (2,016) 359 --  
Corporate Priorities Reserve 535 (113) 33 455 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123 --  13 136 
Elections Reserve 74 --  18 92 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075 (4,406) 1,519 2,188 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 371 (290) 100 181 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 474 (425) 132 181 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223 (410) 221 1,034 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 375 (95) 226 506 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 --  --  140 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 (57) 57 240 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 (200) --  500 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 1,240 --  --  1,240 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 1,147 (142) --  1,005 
 Service Review Reserve 83 (83) --  --  
 Playgrounds Reserve 136 --  68 204 
Decriminalisation Reserve 228 (228) --  --  
Enterprise Reserve 151 (353) 375 173 
Climate Change Reserve 485 (58) --  427 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 16,585 (10,017) 3,421 9,989 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,494 (546) --  1,948 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 19,079 (10,563) 3,421 11,937 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 93



10

3.10.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.4.5, 3.4.6, and 3.5.3 to 3.5.7 inclusive.

3.10.4 Other reserve movements are initially forecast as per the original budget and are 
subsequently updated as further expenditure plans are established. This can include 
use for both capital and revenue purposes and incorporates any potential re-phasing of 
capital schemes between current and future years.

3.10.5 Of the overall projected net movement in earmarked reserves of around £6.7m, £4.4m 
relates to the budgeted drawdown within the NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation 
Reserve. This is due to Collection Fund accounting arrangements arising from the 
Business Rates position attributable to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21.

3.10.6 The additional Business Rates Section 31 grants received in 2020/21 (to compensate 
the Council for the loss of Business Rates income as a result of the extended retail relief 
given to retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, and nursery providers to support them 
through the pandemic), were transferred to the reserve at year-end 2020/21. The 
legislation that governs Collection Fund accounting means the related deficit as a result 
of the loss of Business Rates income during 2020/21 is not chargeable to the Council’s 
General Fund until 2021/22. As a result, the £4.4m reflected in the table above, will be 
drawn down from the reserve to offset this deficit in 2021/22 and is therefore not an 
available resource to the Council.

Page 94



11

3.11 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.11.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The MTFP 
shows that our budgeted expenditure will exceed our income for the foreseeable future. 
The MTFP is continually monitored to ensure that the financial position of the council is 
accurately reflected. The Medium Term Financial Plan showing the position as at 31 
December 2021 is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

    Local Government Finance

3.11.2 There is continued uncertainty over the long-term future of local government funding. On 
16 December 2021, the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing, Communities 
(DLUHC), set out the Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2022/23. As like last 
year, this is a one-year settlement due to delays in the outcome of the local government 
funding reforms. A fundamental review of local government funding is due to take place 
in 2022.

3.11.3 The key points arising from the 2022/23 provisional settlement are:

 Council Tax referendum principal for 2022/23 allows authorities to raise charges 
by the greater of 2% or £5.

 Negative Revenue Support Grant (RSG), eliminated for 2022/23

 As announced in SR21, the business rates multiplier has been frozen for 
2022/23. Therefore, the three elements of the Business Rates Retention system 
(Baseline Need, NNDR Baseline and Tariff/Top Up amounts) remain at 2021/22 
levels. However, compensation for freezing the business rates multiplier will be 
calculated using the Retail Price Index (RPI). 

 The New Homes Bonus allocations have been announced and will include a 
final year of legacy payments.

 The Lower Tier Services grant which was introduced last year will continue into 
2022/23.

 Introduction of a one off Services Grant of £822m for 2022/23

3.11.4 There were also announcements around specific grants that are to be distributed 
outside of the settlement. These being for:

 Homelessness
 Public Health
 Troubled Families

3.11.5 Details of final settlement announcements and what this means for Gravesham will be 
reported to members in due course. 

Page 95



12

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter 3. This includes the revised original budget for 2021/22, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme 2021/22 
Original 
Budget             

£

2021/22 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2021/22 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2021/22 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance            

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 615,000 171,050 786,050 111,460 (674,590)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 (14,830)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 232,000 292,560 524,560 202,040 (322,520)
Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 100,000 100,000 10,000 (90,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 (17,850) 90,840 30,980 (59,860)
Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 125,130 285,000 60,440 (224,560)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 40,000 40,000 30,240 (9,760)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 0 0 0
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 713,020 4,000,000 0 (4,000,000)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 (3,658,810) 0 0 0
Land at Dering Way 3,590,190 (3,590,190) 0 0 0
St George's Centre 5,151,550 (5,151,550) 0 0 0
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 3,730 3,730 0 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 200,000 (137,000) 63,000 13,500 (49,500)
Gym Equipment Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 (47,800)
Back up Generator 60,000 (60,000) 0 0 0
Parking Machines 251,200 35,920 287,120 0 (287,120)
LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 0 54,750 54,750 54,750 0
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Loan 2,000,000 (1,585,300) 414,700 67,160 (347,540)
Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 12,110 (6,460)
Purchase of Freighters 0 410,400 410,400 410,400 0
Enforcement of Private Housing 0 20,040 20,040 10,210 (9,830)
IT Infrastructure Assets 200,000 89,490 289,490 219,150 (70,340)
Rosherville Loan (The Charter) 27,295,500 (13,048,460) 14,247,040 10,718,920 (3,528,120)
Barrock Row Public Conveniences 0 4,340 4,340 4,340 0
Website Content Management System 65,000 0 65,000 26,000 (39,000)
MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop 37,000 5,120 42,120 42,120 0
Street Cleaning Machine 49,000 0 49,000 49,000 0
New Leisure Centre 4,000,000 (3,714,730) 285,270 0 (285,270)
Electric Vehicle Charging Points 0 127,170 127,170 0 (127,170)
St Georges Creative Hub 0 474,530 474,530 314,580 (159,950)

52,360,790 (29,546,840) 22,813,950 12,387,400 (10,426,550)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – The upgrade of Civic Centre LED lighting is ongoing 
and nearing completion.  Unfortunately, due to problems with the supply chain, there are 
some minor areas that still require completion, although it is anticipated these will be 
completed by the end of 2021/22.  The Cascade Leisure Centre roof works are 
complete, with the majority of monies paid out recoverable from insurers. The Brookvale 
Depot main building and vehicle workshop roofing schemes are currently under review 
in order to identify the most cost effective solution, with works likely to carry over into the 
next financial year.  Temporary works are due to be undertaken to Westcourt Parade to 
make weather tight, to allow sufficient time for a review of the major works required to 
the site which are likely to carry over to 2022/23. Vigo car park resurfacing work has 

Page 96



13

now been completed.  Orders have been placed for replacement entrance doors to 
Woodville Main Auditorium and Kent Room, and are currently being manufactured.   
Cygnets Leisure Centre pool hall roof refurbishment works are completed.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – A number of improvements to the Cemeteries 
are currently underway. The work is expected to be complete by the end of the 2021/22 
financial year.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – The vehicle fleet replacement plan is currently 
under review to take account of the potential purchase of electric vehicles.  Officers are 
awaiting the outcome of this review from the Energy Saving Trust before any electric 
vehicles are purchased.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – Kent County Council approval has been received to 
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street bus gate 
and a legal agreement is in place.  Confirmation of programme for installation is awaited 
prior to capital expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – The installation of wheelie bins in flats for 
recycling is underway.  A project plan is in place relating to HRA properties, whilst 
discussions are underway with private blocks of flats to ensure recycling is available in 
all flats across the borough.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – An order for his project has been placed 
and work has started on the implementation of the Street Cleansing Software.  
Implementation of system will be during quarter 4 of 2021/22.

 Replacement Playground Programme – A review of the replacement programme was 
undertaken in Q3 to ensure that the allocated budget and any potential grant funding is 
maximised.  All sites have been reviewed and it is anticipated that the programme will 
be delivered in Q4.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit - contractors have installed the equipment and 
work is now completed.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – work to redesign the Brookvale depot and deliver 
commercial accommodation at the site is not currently being progressed, pending further 
consideration of the operational use and configuration of the wider Brookvale site. 
Therefore this budget is not likely to be required within the Capital Programme.

 
 Property Acquisition Programme – The council has started to consider potential 

options, but no acquisitions have been progressed in the financial year to 31 December 
2021.

 Land Acquisition Programme – No land acquisition opportunities have been 
considered in the financial year to 31 December 2021.

 St George’s Centre – There are currently no further works planned to the St Georges 
Shopping Centre.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – The flumes are available for use as part of the 
swimming timetable programme, but a small amount of remedial works remain to the 
external flume steelworks.

Page 97



14

 Heritage Assets – Capital expenditure to date relates to surveys and site investigations 
in support of progressing works to the Council’s heritage property assets. Expressions of 
interest are being prepared for submission to the National Lottery Fund, initially in 
respect of three assets, to help inform project applications which will follow. In the 
meantime consultants have been appointed to undertake repair works to the 
Blockhouse.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – The majority of the new gym equipment has been 
installed as reported previously, but the replacement spin bikes is still on hold whilst 
customer participation numbers can be monitored due to the effects of Covid-19. It is still 
anticipated that these will be replaced later in the financial year or early in 2022/23, once 
GCLL are able to ascertain demand for class activities going forward.

 Back-up Generator – given potential plans for the building and new ways of working, 
officers are investigating alternative options other than the possibility of used 
replacement equipment.

 Parking Machines – Options are currently being appraised for the replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines. Steps are being taken to make a recommendation 
for decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs – No requests to utilise these funds have been made in 
the financial year to 31 December 2021.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – Cabinet approved a working capital drawdown of 
£54,750 by Rosherville Limited in September 2021 to further the work of Rosherville 
Property Development Limited in bringing forward The Charter development.

 
 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Loan – As reported to Cabinet on 8 November, the 

council has been successful in helping the Elizabeth Huggin’s Cottages Charity secure 
£500,000 from Homes England to facilitate the planned Phase One redevelopment of 
their site at Cross Lane West. This has been reflected as an in-year adjustment to the 
approved capital programme. The council is in the process of drafting and finalising the 
documentation regarding the loan facility for the remaining funding required.  Works 
commenced on site on 1 October 2021.

 Parking Software – The parking software project was to implement a new parking 
back-office system, a new virtual permit system and an Environmental Enforcement 
system.  The parking and permit system has been implemented and all invoices for this 
project have been paid.  The Environmental Enforcement system is still outstanding and 
we will be looking to start work on this project in Q4 2022.

 Purchase of Freighters – The current replacement programme has been suspended 
until the results of the Consistency in Household Waste Consultation has been released 
so any potential effect to service delivery can be assessed.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – As reported previously, the project is 
complete with all invoices fully paid.

 IT Infrastructure Assets – Expenditure in quarter 3 of 2021/22 related to the ongoing 
improvements with staff equipment for effective working from home (laptops, docks and 
monitors) and the procurement of telephone handsets for use with the new telephony 
platform.

Page 98



15

 Rosherville Loan (The Charter) – Rosherville Limited continue to request monthly 
drawdown of the loan facility made available by the council for the purpose of bringing 
forward The Charter development, in line with the latest cash flow projections for the 
project.

 Barrock Row Public Conveniences – Construction of the Gravesend bus hub 
continues with the toilet unit being brought on site within this quarter. A recharge to 
cover drainage and service ducts, earthworks, toilet block base and changes during the 
construction phase has been paid and further recharge costs are anticipated in Q4. Any 
additional construction and reinstatement works will be reported under the “Essential 
Repairs to Buildings” budget within the final outturn report.

 Website Content Management System – The new website content management 
system implementation is progressing at a good pace and some important milestones 
have been achieved in this quarter. The supplier worked with the Digital Team to design 
the website mock-ups and final designs were demonstrated to Management Team in 
November. The team have signed the designs off and the supplier is currently building 
the designs into the platform. The team have been given the backend platform to begin 
creating or replicating existing website content from the old to the new content 
management system. This phase of the work will continue through January 2022. The 
project is still on track and within budget.

 MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop – The MOT Lane has been installed and is now 
operational, and thus this scheme has been completed.

 Street Cleaning Machine – The machine has been purchased and paid. The machine 
is now in general operation around the town centre. 

 New Leisure Centre – A feasibility study on future leisure centre provision and 
accompanying Cabinet Report, including an outline business proposal and outline 
design for a new leisure centre at Cascades is anticipated to be put forward at the end 
of January.

 Electric Vehicle Charging Points – The Office for Zero Emission Vehicle funding has 
been secured to install 10 x dual connection Electric Vehicle Charge Points in Parrock 
Street car park.  It is anticipated that the project will be completed in March/April 2022 at 
which point the Council will be invoiced in full for the costs.

 The St George’s Creative Hub – The fitting out of two vacant units within the St 
George’s Shopping Centre commenced in Summer 2021 for opening of the new arts 
hub on 11 December 2021. The capital costs are funded by a combination of Council 
S106 receipts and the Government’s Getting Building Fund, which is allocated Kent 
County Council via the South East Local Enterprise Partnership.

Page 99



16

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022           
£

Capital Receipts (473,940) 0 473,940 0
S106 Capital Contributions (577,200) (285,270) 0 (862,470)
Capital Grants unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)
Total Capital Resources (1,189,640) (285,270) 473,940 (1,000,970)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2021/22

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 0 0 0 0
Localised Council Tax Support (83,500) 0 0 (83,500)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2021/22

Page 100



5.1. The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions
General 

Fund             
£

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2021/22                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (5,900) (5,900) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 (60,590) (210,590)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (189,120) 0 0 (189,120)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0 0 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (92,000) 0 0 (92,000)
To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 
such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
Income received - Planning number is 20141214. We await a copy of the S106 
agreement to the Development of the Meopham Police Station.

St Andrews Gardens (285,270) 0 (155,230) (440,500)

£285,270 & £155,230 expected - Contributions towards Strategic Access 
Management & Monitoring Scheme &  towards the improvement of Lanscaping at 
St Andrew's Gardens.

Total S106 Contributions (862,480) 0 (301,720) (1,164,200)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2021/22

P
age 101



6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

6.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 23 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021-22, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

6.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of investments held by the 
Council at 31 December 2021 can be found at Appendix Three of this report.

6.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.23%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

6.4 In the first half of 2021/22, despite the pandemic and the difficult economic situation, 
Property Funds produced an income return of 4.37% overall and Money Market Funds 
produced an average dividend return of 3.25%. Return on internally managed 
investments to 31 December 2021 was 0.24% against a benchmark return of -0.02%.

6.5 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

6.6 At its December meeting, the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 
to raise Bank Rate by 0.15% from 0.10% to 0.25%.  Inflationary pressures continue and 
indications are that there will be more increases to come with financial markets 
predicting 1% by the end of 2022.   GDP only rose by 0.10% in October which 
suggested that economic growth had already slowed even before the Omicron variant 
was discovered.  There are suggestions that growth in November may have been better, 
but the Government’s Plan B Covid-19 restrictions could cause the economy to contract 
in December.
The background papers to this report are held within the Finance Section

Page 102



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 31 
December against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and assess 
full year projections to 31 March 2022. It also illustrates how the projected position 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 103

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 104



MTFP V13 - BMR Q3 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 12,266,490 10,862,520 12,532,620 12,526,210 12,718,340 12,972,670 13,232,110 13,496,760 13,766,730 14,042,070 14,322,910 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) --   (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000)

Salaries (Net) 11,916,490 10,862,520 12,082,620 12,076,210 12,268,340 12,522,670 12,782,110 13,046,760 13,316,730 13,592,070 13,872,910 

Temporary Staff 408,500 673,820 416,680 425,010 433,500 442,170 451,010 460,040 469,240 478,640 488,220 

Wages 160,130 47,320 107,400 249,540 111,730 113,970 116,240 258,560 120,920 123,340 125,810 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,184,500 3,183,220 3,420,710 3,417,970 3,469,720 3,539,170 3,609,960 3,682,190 3,755,830 3,830,900 3,907,540 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,058,460 1,020,000 1,002,790 1,003,760 1,004,750 1,005,760 1,006,790 1,007,840 1,008,910 1,010,000 1,011,120 

Running Expenses 15,032,670 16,579,790 12,907,120 11,997,610 11,978,960 12,075,100 12,211,920 11,568,240 11,746,550 11,883,210 12,023,970 

Capital Financing 870,550 657,170 1,431,960 361,120 2,676,500 2,602,640 2,614,170 2,613,900 2,613,630 2,613,350 2,613,350 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (52,120) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,300,930) (2,879,460) (3,197,060) (3,181,760) (3,228,460) (3,279,920) (3,320,690) (3,385,720) (3,404,390) (3,437,120) (3,444,740)

Other Government Grants (6,666,430) (8,846,270) (4,114,760) (2,743,940) (2,768,820) (2,792,990) (2,817,650) (2,010,010) (2,035,670) (2,061,840) (2,088,530)

Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) (814,240) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000) (1,012,000)

Fees & Charges (6,180,870) (6,897,310) (6,987,700) (6,975,850) (7,078,610) (7,043,600) (6,890,830) (6,925,690) (6,905,720) (6,980,890) (7,016,100)

Rental Income (4,529,350) (4,365,170) (4,405,500) (4,501,810) (4,441,200) (4,718,450) (4,755,520) (4,816,620) (4,866,970) (4,872,060) (4,920,590)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,724,980 3,038,250 1,408,010 1,778,710 704,350 202,000 1,089,540 333,000 172,000 172,000 178,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (7,148,150) (7,142,000) (1,856,090) (1,696,920) 27,480 672,800 (124,180) 367,500 544,130 560,270 568,890 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 311,050 311,050 573,150 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 

Parish Precepts 403,160 403,160 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 471,860 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 6,420,640 5,821,970 12,461,820 12,264,300 15,219,550 15,398,990 16,018,960 16,228,420 16,533,620 16,880,300 17,288,280 

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) (2,701,820) (3,374,230) (3,445,100) (3,514,000) (3,584,280) (3,655,960) (3,729,080) (3,803,660) (3,879,740)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) (573,150) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Lower Tier & Services Grants (126,260) (126,260) (337,380) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) (7,592,170) (7,790,490) (7,994,090) (8,203,050) (8,417,430) (8,637,320) (8,862,800) (9,094,300) (9,331,920)

Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860) (471,860)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 667,930 184,870 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

98,270 98,270 (1,453,370) (706,300) (3,202,210) (3,103,790) (548,550) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

--   (598,670) --   --   --   --   2,890,550 3,006,990 3,013,590 3,054,190 3,148,470 

--   --   --   --   --   --   2,890,550 116,440 6,600 40,600 94,280 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2030-31

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Original 

2021-22

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2024-25

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

P
age 105



MTFP V13 - BMR Q3 Appendix 2

2021-22   

Original

2021-22   

Projected

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

2030-31      

Original

9,283,080 9,283,080 10,291,070 9,410,850 9,054,550 6,202,340 3,448,550 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 311,050 311,050 573,150 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 98,270 98,270 (1,453,370) (706,300) (3,202,210) (3,103,790) (548,550) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,692,400 9,692,400 9,410,850 9,054,550 6,202,340 3,448,550 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 598,670 - - - - (2,890,550) (3,006,990) (3,013,590) (3,054,190) (3,148,470)

9,692,400 10,291,070 9,410,850 9,054,550 6,202,340 3,448,550 359,450 (2,647,540) (5,661,130) (8,715,320) (11,863,790)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Corporate Priorities Reserve 534,840 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670 454,670

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163,200 354,150 37,580 87,580 187,580 287,580 387,580 487,580 587,580 687,580 787,580

Planning Policy Reserve 464,490 432,890 437,290 461,690 511,690 561,690 611,690 661,690 711,690 761,690 811,690

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657,410 - - - - - - - - - -

Decriminalisation (General) 228,460 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123,480 135,980 124,480 112,980 101,480 113,980 126,480 138,980 151,480 163,980 176,480

Elections Reserve 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 370,950 181,460 206,460 191,460 25,460 50,460 15,460 19,460 44,460 44,460 38,460

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 473,960 181,400 - - - - - - - - -

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223,060 1,034,010 1,255,360 - - 352,540 - 221,350 442,700 664,050 885,400

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075,100 2,188,230 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530 1,347,530

Growth Fund Reserve 374,910 505,850 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160 499,160

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000

Service Review Reserve 83,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Playgrounds Reserve 135,530 204,280 113,160 101,910 75,660 74,410 75,160 88,910 117,660 186,410 255,160

Woodville Repairs Reserve 239,820 239,820 297,070 354,320 411,570 468,820 526,070 583,320 640,570 697,820 755,070

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 1,146,620 1,004,540 1,101,380 675,270 666,180 707,770 713,330 722,490 730,050 730,810 738,090

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Climate Change Reserve 484,860 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620 426,620

Enterprise Zone Reserve 151,340 172,850 164,430 160,080 158,150 158,320 160,620 165,110 171,830 186,490 209,250

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 15,412,500 20,291,070 18,394,290 16,341,070 13,516,340 11,435,350 8,222,070 5,582,580 3,113,120 619,200 (1,960,380)

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,001

KEY ITEMS INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increases (Band D) of £4.95 projected incorporated for 2022/23, with 2% increases per annum thereafter.  Council Tax Base has increased by 1.18% in 2022/23 with forecast growth of 0.60% annually from 2023/24.

General pay award budgeted for 2021-22 of 1.75%, with 2% factored in annually from 2022/23 onwards.

Negative RSG removed for 2022-23 as per Provisional Finance Settlement. NHB Scheme payments increased for 2022-23, reverting back to 2021/22 levels thereafter pending the outcome of long term funding reforms.

General Fund minimum working balance set at £2m, with General Reserve balance set at £3.25m.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council is incurring these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

P
age 106



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 154 20/09/21 19/09/22 Moray Council Tradition Maturity 0.1000% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 157 22/10/21 22/04/22 Goldman Sachs International Link Group Maturity 0.4150% -4,900,000.00

Deposit Fixed 158 22/10/21 22/04/22 Goldman Sachs International Link Group Maturity 0.4150% -3,100,000.00

Deposit Fixed 159 05/11/21 04/11/22 Bank of Montreal King & Shaxson Maturity 0.7000% -8,000,000.00

Fixed Total 0.4853% -19,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 180 days notice 143 09/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Call - 180 days notice 144 30/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -4,000,000.00

Call - 180 days notice Total 0.5800% -7,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L1 14/11/19 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0543% -5,281,000.00

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0543% -619,000.00

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.0000% -5,012,000.00

Deposit MMF Deutsche RR MMF 11/06/18 Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity 0.0000% -23,023.00

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0266% -7,172,703.30

Deposit MMF Deutsche MMF 01/04/16 Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity 0.0000% -960,000.00

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0266% -827,296.70

MMF Total 0.0268% -19,895,023.00

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,938,809.34

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -2,093,790.11

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -569,694.82

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,464,214.86

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,929,753.53

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -5,154,639.17

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,715,356.38

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -20,866,258.22

Deposit Total 0.2098% -67,761,281.22

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -67,761,281.22

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 31/12/2021

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 12/01/22 10:52

P
age 107



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 12/01/22 10:52

P
age 108



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Internal 
Audit & Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 October to 31 December 2021

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the amendments to the agreed workplan as detailed in section 

7 of appendix 2.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 

to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local 
authority is responsible for establishing the internal audit service; 
Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to 
the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit 
services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.

Finance and Value for 
Money

Adequate and effective Internal Audit & Counter Fraud functions 
provide the council with assurance on the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could 
have an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud supports the 
council in achieving all of its objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective #3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 109 Agenda Item 8



2

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The Chief 
Audit Executive (CAE) must report periodically to senior management and the 
board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility, and 
performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other 
matters needed or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the third and final update for 2021-22, prior to the 
annual report; detailing the work undertaken by the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
Service between 01 October and 31 December 2021 and the progress made 
against the annual workplan. 

2.2 Section seven of the update report contains details of proposed amendments to 
the agreed plan, which are submitted for Member’s approval.

3. Appendices

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 

3.2 Appendix 2: Audit & Counter Fraud Update Report

4. Background Documents 

4.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: James Larkin

Email: James.larkin@medway.gov.uk

Page 110



3

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 

key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.
The counter fraud arrangements of the council acknowledge that the council can be 
exposed to fraud and are intended to, as far as possible, prevent fraud occurring 
and pursue criminal action if needed when fraud is detected.  Working with partners 
to combat crime and disorder has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website. 
The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Page 111

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 112



Page 1 of 22

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 October – 31 December 2021

Page 113



Page 2 of 22

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility, and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 This is the third and final update for 2021-22, prior to the annual report, covering the period 01 October 

to 31 December 2021 and the following audit reviews have been finalised during the reporting period:

 Governance Framework – Opinion: Green
 Constitution Maintenance – Opinion: Amber
 Risk Management Compliance – Opinion: Amber
 VAT – Opinion: Green
 Leaseholder Management - Opinion: Amber
 Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction Appeals – Opinion: Green

In addition, three reviews are currently going through the quality control process, four reviews are 
currently underway and commencement of a number of others is being arranged with clients. As a 
consequence of this work, plan delivery as of 31 December 2021 was 43% complete, with a further 24% 
underway. Full details of the individual reviews can be found in section 5 of this report.

2.2 Follow up of agreed actions has continued and performance as of 31 December stood at 64%, with 28 of 
44 actions due in the period having been implemented. 16 remain outstanding and are being monitored 
in line with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the progress made in relation to action follow up 
can be found at section 8.

2.3 In respect of actions arising from audits with Red opinions that have been reported to the Committee, 
no actions were due before 31 December in respect of the review of Private Housing Enforcement.

2.4 Investigations concluded during the period have identified cashable savings of £76,323 in the form of 
additional council tax liabilities, both historic and future; as well as civil penalties, new business rate 
liabilities, and government business grants.

2.5 There has been some impact on planned resources due to sickness, and several vacancies over the 
course of the year, the last of which will be filled on 22 Feb 2022. We are currently projecting a loss of 
approximately 71 days (57 audit days and 14 counter fraud days) from the projected 603 available at the 
start of the year. 

2.6 A revision to the plan is sought and it is requested that the review of financial planning is removed.

Page 114



Page 3 of 22

3. Independence
3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2020 

and sets out the purpose, authority, and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.

3.2 Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. The most recent of these reviews was undertaken by Tonbridge & Malling 
Borough Council in 2018-19.

4. Resources
4.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 officers, which during the 
reporting period consisted of; the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, one Internal Audit Manager, 
one Senior Internal Auditor (post vacant until 01 January 2022) six Internal Auditors (5.78FTE), one 
Counter Fraud Manager, two Counter Fraud Officers (one post vacant until 01 Feb 2022), and two 
Counter Fraud Intelligence Analysts (1.86FTE).

4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2021-22 were prepared, was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,815 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 654 days for internal audit & counter fraud work. 

4.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 October to 31 December 2021 amounted to 146 
days and 122 days (84%) were spent on chargeable audit and counter fraud work.  Of this chargeable 
time, 70 days (57%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 52 days (43%) was spent 
on counter fraud and investigations work. In addition, 6 days were spent on SPOC related duties. The 
current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report.

4.4 As previously reported, staff sickness and various periods of vacancy have affected the level of resources 
available, and the latest projections suggest a loss of approximately 71 days (57 audit days and 14 
counter fraud days) from the projected 603 available at the start of the year.

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work
5.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2021-22 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2021. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations, and consultancy services. 

5.2 The tables below provide details of the work from 2020-21 that has been finalised in 2021-22 (excluding 
those detailed in the annual report for 2020-21), the progress of work undertaken as part of the 2021-
22 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed during the period.  

Page 115



Page 4 of 22

2020-21 Internal Audit assurance work completed in 2021-22 (since the last Audit Committee meeting)

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

6 Cyber security 15 14.8 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

14 Corporate debt recovery 15 18.6 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

19 Traded services - 
Rosherville Ltd

15 22 Final report 
issued

Findings reported to the Committee September 2021.

2021-22 Internal Audit assurance work

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Governance framework 8 8.9 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:

RMO1 - An effective Governance Framework is in place.
The review found that while a 2019-23 Code of Governance is in place, which 
underpins the council’s objectives and ensures compliance with the CIPFA / 
SOLACE Delivering Good Governance Framework, there is a need for several 
policies, strategies and plans identified as governance mechanisms to be updated. 
There are arrangements in place for an Annual Governance Statement to be 
compiled each year, alongside a review of the council’s governance arrangements.  
As part of this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s 
governance arrangements is sought from a number of sources, including Assurance 
Statements, External Audit / inspection reports and the Opinion of the Chief Audit 
Executive.  An opportunity was identified to enhance the evidence requirements 
within the Assurance Statements.  Arrangements exist for officers with key 
governance responsibilities to contribute to preparation of the AGS and for the 
AGS to be presented to Management Team and approved by the Financial & Audit 
Committee.  There was evidence available that this process was followed in 
relation to the 2020-21 AGS. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Actions: Three medium and one low priority.
Actions relate to the ensuring that documents identified as governance 
mechanisms are kept up to date and regularly checked to ensure this remains the 

P
age 116



Page 5 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

case; including tables of amendments in policies, reviewing processes for 
ensuring business plans are completed in full and signed off prior to the start of 
the year to which they relate; and, strengthening evidence requirements in the 
assurance statements which contribute to the AGS.

2 Constitution 
maintenance

12 13.2 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to maintain Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Constitution.
The review found that an appropriate Constitution is in place for Gravesham 
Borough Council, which is in line with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 2000, as amended.  Copies of the Constitution are available online and can be 
made available in print, where requested.  The appointment of an Interim 
Monitoring Officer, to temporarily replace the outgoing Monitoring Officer was 
agreed on 23 February 2021 by full Council, though the secondment agreement 
necessary for this role to be carried by a Medway Council employee within the 
Legal Services Shared Service was completed retrospectively during the review.  
Appointment of a new Monitoring Officer was considered by full Council on 05 
October 2021, with it agreed that Medway Council’s newly appointed Monitoring 
Officer be appointed as Gravesham Borough Council’s Monitoring Officer also, 
continuing the previous arrangement.  Appropriate responsibilities have been 
identified to ensure that the Constitution is maintained and are set out within 
Articles 1.5 and 15.3 of the Constitution; an amendment was identified to clarify 
the identity of the ‘Proper Officer’ in the context of making minor amendments to 
the Constitution.  Procedures are in place to regularly review the Constitution and 
there is an appropriate process for proposing changes, including consultation with 
relevant officers and Members, and approval in line with the requirements of the 
Constitution.  Audit testing confirmed that this process is followed in practice, 
though it was noted that the documents forming part of the Constitution would 
benefit from either a review date or a table of amendments being included. 
Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Actions: One high and one medium priority.
Actions relate to a secondment agreement for the new Monitoring Officer being 
put in place and measures being put into place to ensure that the documents that 
make up the Constitution are noted as to when they were updated, or that a 
table of amendments is included.

P
age 117



Page 6 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

3 Risk management 
compliance

10 10 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage operational risks.
The review found that the council’s Risk Management Strategy 2021-22 was 
presented to Cabinet in March 2021 and sets out the council’s risk management 
processes, including responsibility for operational risk management. Audit testing 
confirmed that managers are aware of the Strategy. 
Arrangements exist for operational risks to be identified, assessed, and recorded in 
Service Risk Registers as part of the annual business planning process. Due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the business planning process for 2021-22 was postponed but 
there is an action within the council’s 2020-21 Annual Governance Statement for 
this to be reinstated. Due to the postponement of the business planning process, 
audit testing focused on a review of 2020-21 Service Risk Registers and identified 
some inconsistencies in the level of detail recorded within the template, which is 
designed to ensure compliance with the risk management process. 
Risk management training was delivered by Zurich Municipal in December 2017, 
and further training is scheduled for October 2021. It was noted that there are 
managers involved in the business planning process who will not have completed 
either session. 
Although Business Plans and therefore Service Risk Registers are considered live 
documents and can be reviewed at any time, there is no formal or documented 
process currently in place for registers to be reviewed in the 15 months between 
preparation / submission and the end of the year to which the register relates.  
There are arrangements in place for a compliance check and “sweep” and filter of 
all Service Risk Registers to be undertaken, to identify all high scoring risks, which 
are then shared with Financial Services for awareness when completing the 
corporate risk management process. Risks that are considered to be operational 
should be maintained within the Service Risk Register and managed at a service 
level. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Actions: One high and two medium priority.
Actions relate to reviewing the processes in place for assessing and recording 
operational risks; reviewing the arrangements in place for providing consistent 
risk management training to staff; and, reviewing the arrangements in place for 
reviewing Service Risk Registers.

P
age 118



Page 7 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

4 Performance 
management 
framework & reporting

15 N/A Deferred to 2022-
23

Deferral agreed by Committee September 2021. 

5 Bank reconciliation 10 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Bank reconciliations are carried out accurately and on a timely basis.

6 Project management - 
M365

15 N/A Removed from Plan Removal agreed by Committee November 2021.

7 Income collection 15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place for the processing and accounting of income 
paid by Direct Debit.

8 Housing benefit & CTR 
appeals

15 13.4 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to appropriately process HB and CTR appeals.
The review found that arrangements are in place to notify claimants and other 
persons affected of their right to request an explanation, request a 
reconsideration, or make an appeal against their HB and/or CTR decision, via an 
information sheet provided with the decision notice. Information is also available 
to the public regarding appeals on the council’s website. 
Administration of HB and CTR reconsiderations and appeals is undertaken in 
accordance with relevant legislation, and there are arrangements in place to record 
and monitor all reconsiderations and appeals received. There are no set timescales 
for the processing of reconsiderations and appeals, however local targets have 
been set and there is evidence that these are being met.  Audit testing confirmed 
that reconsiderations are considered by an independent officer and claimants are 
notified of the decision reached, including their right to appeal if the decision has 
not been changed. Audit testing also confirmed that HB appeals are processed 
correctly to the Tribunal Service by an independent appeals officer. CTR appeals 
are made directly to the Valuation Office by the claimant. A written decision for all 
appeals is provided by the Tribunal Service or Valuation Office, with a copy of the 
letter sent to the appellant and all involved parties. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Actions: None.

9 Council Tax discounts, 
disregards & exemptions

10 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to appropriately administer Council Tax 
discounts, disregards, and exemptions.

P
age 119



Page 8 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

10 Housing rent 
administration and 
collection

15 N/A Removed from Plan Removal agreed by Committee November 2021.

11 VAT 10 4.3 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to manage the council’s VAT matters.
The review found officers dealing with VAT have received sufficient guidance / 
training to do so effectively. The Corporate Fair Debt policy had been updated to 
enhance write-on procedures to ensure payments on bad debts have VAT properly 
handled, however this policy has since been superseded by the Corporate Debt 
strategy, which is more strategic in nature. While no specific comments are made 
regarding VAT within the Strategy, it is acknowledged that this scenario is relatively 
rare and would be dealt with when needed.  
Procedures are in place for a digital tax return to be submitted to HMRC, with the 
majority of information pulled directly from the Civica Financial Management 
System. Parallel running was undertaken on implementation of the system and 
returns are still checked manually to ensure they are correct before the final 
submission is made to HMRC. No issues have been identified to date. Procedures 
are in place to ensure appropriate VAT is reclaimed from HMRC and this is fully 
accounted for, with a reconciliation undertaken. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Actions: None.

12 Financial planning 10 Proposal to remove Please see section 7

Corporate risks assurance work
13 Planning applications 

(inc validations and 
decisions)

15 Not yet started

14 Business continuity 
planning

15 Not yet started

15 Garden waste collection 
service 

10 9.9 Final report Issued Findings reported to the Committee November 2021.

16 Temporary 
accommodation

15 Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - The provision of temporary accommodation (TA) outside of the area is 
appropriately managed.

P
age 120



Page 9 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

17 Leaseholder 
management

12 12.2 Final report issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements are in place for the administration of 
leaseholder service charges.
The review found leaseholder service charges are administered in line with 
legislation and a summary of this legislation is available in the Leaseholders’ 
Handbook, though the handbook requires updating. Responsibility for 
administering leaseholder service charges has been allocated, with procedure 
guides in place, though it would be beneficial for these to be more detailed to 
enhance resilience. Arrangements exist for leaseholder service charges to be set 
when properties are sold or transferred, with the charges and terms set out in the 
lease. Records are held of all council leaseholders, though due to the volume of 
information, this is currently stored across several spreadsheets and work is 
planned to create a database to compress the information. 
Leaseholder service charges are set in line with the financial year April – March, 
with interim service charges calculated in February of each year, for the 
forthcoming financial year, and quarterly invoices raised for each leaseholder 
based on these amounts. There is not currently any documented guidance or a 
policy in place setting out how interim service charges are calculated. 
In September of each year, arrangements exist for the actual costs for the previous 
financial year to be provided by the relevant services and apportioned to individual 
leaseholder properties, before being used to prepare Certificates of Service 
Charges for each leaseholder, detailing the actual cost of services provided, less the 
interim service charges for that year, to give either the balance due to the council, 
or the refund due to the leaseholder. If a balance is due, an invoice is raised and if a 
refund is due, this is issued to the leaseholder. Audit testing confirmed that 
Certificates of Service Charges are prepared accurately. Arrangements exist for 
service charge disputes to be investigated. There are arrangements in place for 
leaseholder debt to be regularly monitored and for debt to be recovered in line 
with a debt recovery flowchart, which testing confirmed is followed in practice. 
Leaseholders have a right to request a summary of how their service charges have 
been calculated and to inspect the council’s accounts supporting the summary. A 
management audit can also be requested. As far as officers are aware, such as a 
request has not been received and therefore the council’s preparedness for this 
has not been tested. Opinion: Amber.

P
age 121



Page 10 of 22

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed

Overall Opinion: Amber. Actions: One high and three medium priority.
Actions relate to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated, procedure notes 
being reviewed, the arrangements in place to calculate interim service charges 
being reviewed, and reviewing the arrangements in place to respond to requests 
to view the accounts which can be made available for the inspection of 
leaseholders.

18 Housing allocations 15 Not yet started
19 HRA building compliance 15 Fieldwork 

underway
The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - The council has arrangements in place to ensure the required safety 
checks are carried out on HRA properties so that the council meets its duties as a 
landlord.
RMO2 - The council has arrangements in place to respond to new legislation or 
changes to current legislation.

20 Council housing disabled 
adaptations

15 Not yet started

21 GDPR 15 Not yet started
22 Corporate complaints 15 Terms of Reference 

being prepared 
with client

23 Waste & Recycling 
Collection Service

15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage the council’s domestic waste 
& recycling collection service.

24 Accessibility Regulations 15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to ensure compliance with the Public 
Sector Bodies (Websites and Mobile Applications) (No. 2) Accessibility 
Regulations 2018.

25 Finalisation of 2020-21 
planned work 

20 19.9 Complete All reviews from 2020-21 have been finalised and outcomes reported to the 
Committee.

26 Responsive assurance 
work 

13 N/A Underway Please refer to the table below for information relating to responsive assurance 
activity.

P
age 122



Page 11 of 22

Responsive assurance activity

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & actions made

No activity during the period

Other consultancy services including advice & information

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & actions made

Right to Buy A review of the Right to Buy application process has commenced, with a view to confirming that there are 
arrangements to ensure compliance with the General Data Protection Regulations.

Rosherville A review of the processes for splitting costs between the council and Rosherville Servicing Ltd has commenced, 
with a view to confirming that accounting arrangements are accurate.

Counter Fraud activity

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions made

32 Counter fraud proactive 
work (inc external data 
matching such as NFI & 
KIN)

42 N/A In Progress Work continues with the 2020-21 NFI Exercise, with support from other services. 
Results to date are HB overpayments of £29,904, a reduction in HB awards of 
£31.85pw (£1,656pa), additional council tax liability of £48,307 and liability in 
future years of £27,229. There has also been one duplicate creditor payment 
identified for £1,144, which has been recovered.

33 Fraud awareness 5 N/A Not yet started

Responsive investigation work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

Unfortunately, due to a fault with the reporting software, we are unable to provide a breakdown on 
the number of cases closed in individual areas. We are working to correct this fault while a new fraud 
management system is procured. We are, however, able to provide a breakdown of the financial 
savings achieved by the counter fraud team as this is recorded separately.

£37,484 
(Historic Council 
Tax Liability)

£0 £0

P
age 123



Page 12 of 22

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable savings Non-cashable 

savings Prevented losses

£11,022 
(Additional 
liability for future 
years)

£280 
(Civil Penalties)

£17,536 
(New NNDR 
liability)

£10,000 
(Government 
Business Grants)

Responsive investigation work: internal investigations

Allegation Investigation activity & actions

Nothing to report.

P
age 124



Page 13 of 22

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service’s QAIP was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2019. 

6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives: financial, internal process, learning & 
growth, and customer. The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into 
measures for the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set 
for 17 of the 24 indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such 
outturns at present are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn (for period)

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 
Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost £599,944 (Budgeted Costs)

PM1

b) LA Share

N/A

£209,667
PM2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £339

Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification 21%

PM3

b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

36%
PM4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 

professional qualification training  
25% 28%

PM5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 17 Days

PM6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other local 
authorities as per benchmarking; 
however, it did not provide a 
percentage of compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work required 
to address the remaining 2%. 
We are working to address the areas 
that require improvement.

PM7 Staff turnover N/A 7%
LA Specific Performance Measurements 
PM8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £4,388

Page 125



Page 14 of 22

Ref Indicator Target Outturn (for period)

PM9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work 

N/A 84%

Proportion of chargeable time spent on:
a) assurance work 56%

PM10

b) consultancy work

N/A

1%
Proportion of chargeable time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 15%

PM11

b) reactive counter fraud work

N/A

28%
PM12 Proportion of chargeable time spent on 

SPOC associated duties
N/A 25 days

Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:
a) Delivered 43%

PM13

b) Underway

95%

24%
PM14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 

a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0

PM15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

Number of agreed actions that are:
a) not yet due 22
b) implemented 28

PM16

c) outstanding

N/A

16
PM17 Proportion of actions implemented by 

agreed date
N/A 64%

PM18 Number of referrals received N/A Unavailable
PM19 Number of investigations closed N/A Unavailable

Value of fraud losses identified: 

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered) £76,323

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£0

PM20

c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated 
with blocked applications)

N/A

£0

PM21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100% - based on one survey received 
during the period. 

PM22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% A wider satisfaction survey was last 
completed in March 2019 and was 
positive. Due to the Covid 19 
pandemic, it was not possible to 
conduct a review during 2020-21. 
We hope to issue a new survey later 
in 2021-22.

PM23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role

Positive The Chair of the Audit Committee 
was invited to contribute to the 
HIACF’s mid-year performance 
review.

PM24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 
At the time of writing this report, no 
concerns had been raised with the 
Head of Internal Audit and Counter 
Fraud by Grant Thornton.

Page 126



Page 15 of 22

7. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

7.2 As detailed in paragraph 4.4, we are currently projecting a loss of approximately 57 days from expected 
audit resources. It is proposed that the following reviews are removed from the plan to account for 
some of this lost resource.

7.3 Financial Planning – The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is currently undergoing a refresh, so the 
review of the arrangements is unlikely to add any value at this time. Members can draw assurance from 
the fact that the previous review of this area resulted in a green opinion, and the fact that the updated 
MTFP will be presented to Full Council.  

8. Follow up of agreed actions
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team agree actions for improvement with service 
managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the 
risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk. 

8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all actions due 
on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action has been taken in 
respect of all high priority actions, which is verified by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team.  

8.3 The first of the two tables below details the position of actions within the follow up process as of the 
end of the reporting period and the second details actions that are now more than six months over their 
planned implementation date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant 
Director/Director, which include a request for revised implementation dates where appropriate. 

 

Page 127



Page 16 of 22

Status of agreed actions

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four actions agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Actions relate to the website being updated in line with the Homelessness Reduction Act, and 
the rebadging, implementation, and publication of the Homelessness Prevention Strategy, as in 
line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy delivery plan, the creation of procedure notes to support 
the new requirements of the act and looking at prevention measures and longer term 
accommodation options, in order to make better use of the temporary accommodation budget, 
and help prevent homelessness.

Three actions due, three implemented.
Revised implementation date agreed for one 
high priority action relating to looking at 
prevention measures and longer-term 
accommodation options.

Use of Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three actions agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all relevant staff, 
the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable debtors being reviewed and shared 
with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, and appropriate 
agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, including expected performance 
arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line with the 
agreement, including documenting any meetings held.

Two actions due, two implemented. 
Revised implementation date agreed for one 
high priority action relating to appropriate 
agreements being put in place for all 
enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put 
in place for performance to be monitored in 
line with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held.

Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & Overtime

Opinion: Amber.
Four high priority actions agreed.
Actions relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document and circulating this to staff, 
reminding line managers of their role in checking time recording sheets on a regular basis to 
ensure there are no contraventions to the guidance, the creation of a local policy on overtime 
based around the guidance in the Green Book and any council additions to this, and service 
managers being reminded of this guidance.

Four actions due, none implemented. 
Four high priority outstanding relating to 
creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance 
document and circulating this to staff, 
reminding line managers of their role in 
checking time recording sheets on a regular 
basis to ensure there are no contraventions 
to the guidance, the creation of a local policy 
on overtime based around the guidance in 
the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded 
of this guidance.

Apprenticeship 
Scheme

Opinion: Amber.
Five actions agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority.

Two actions due, two implemented. 
Revised implementation dates agreed for 
one high and two medium priority actions 

P
age 128



Page 17 of 22

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received

Actions relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives of the 
council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a process being put in place 
to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and 
arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy.

relating to a strategy being produced to 
document the aims and objectives of the 
council’s apprenticeship scheme and how 
these will be achieved; a process being put 
in place to ensure that apprenticeships are 
promoted and considered at the earliest 
stage of recruitment; and the Apprenticeship 
Policy being reviewed and updated.

Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

Opinion: Amber.
Six actions agreed: Four high and two medium priority.
Actions relate to reviewing and updating the procedures linked to the lone working policy, 
officers being reminded of the need to include sufficient details of diarised visits, managers 
being reminded of their responsibilities for contacting officers working away from the office, 
records of visits being maintained after the event to enable validation of timesheets and 
mileage claims, a reminder for staff undertaking lone working duties to perform security checks 
prior to visits, including checking the unacceptable behaviour register as appropriate, and 
managers undertaking regular quality control checks of visits.

Six actions due, none implemented
Four high and two medium priority 
outstanding relating to reviewing and 
updating the procedures linked to the lone 
working policy, officers being reminded of 
the need to include sufficient details of 
diarised visits, managers being reminded of 
their responsibilities for contacting officers 
working away from the office, records of 
visits being maintained after the event to 
enable validation of timesheets and mileage 
claims, a reminder for staff undertaking lone 
working duties to perform security checks 
prior to visits, including checking the 
unacceptable behaviour register as 
appropriate, and managers undertaking 
regular quality control checks of visits.

Member Standards Opinion: Amber. 
Three actions agreed: Two medium and one pow priority.
Actions relate to the Member training requirements included in the Constitution being 
reviewed for consistency, arrangements being put in place to maintain a central log of 
attendance at Planning & Licensing training, including 1-1 sessions, to ensure ‘refresher’ 
training is provided to Committee Members at the appropriate frequency, and the point of 
contact for declaring gifts and hospitality being clarified and the Member Gifts and Hospitality 
register being retained in accordance with the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct.  

Three actions due, two implemented. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
Member training requirements included in 
the Constitution being reviewed for 
consistency

P
age 129



Page 18 of 22

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received

Shared Services Opinion: Amber. 
One high priority action agreed.
Action relates to a review of all Shared Service Agreements.

One action due, none implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to a 
review of all Shared Service Agreements.

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Red.
Four high and two medium priority actions agreed.
Actions relate to private Housing procedures being written  and tailored to ensure they reflect 
local priorities; the team investigating digitalisation of Private Housing enforcement processes, 
including making best use of the systems available and moving away from paper files, as well as 
well as reviewing arrangements to ensure the Public HMO Register is accurate; arrangements 
being put in place to facilitate the timely renewal of HMO licences and for enforcement action 
to be taken where this is not the case; arrangements being put in place to ensure the council is 
able to take robust private housing enforcement action; the necessary work to facilitate the 
introduction of Civil Penalties being progressed; and, the service exploring alternative means to 
hold the landlord forums and otherwise engage with landlords

One action due, one implemented.

Cyber Security Opinion: Amber. 
Seven actions agreed: three high and four medium priority. 
Actions relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements for access and monitoring staff 
completion of training /policies. 

Six actions due, six implemented. 

Corporate Debt 
Recovery

Opinion: Amber. 
Three actions agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. Actions relate to a review of 
the debt data matching process and the tools involved, including an assessment on the number 
of potential corporate debt cases and the resource required to manage these cases; the 
process to be followed should corporate debt fail to engage with customers and/or payments 
are stopped being documented; and, reviewing the process for updating customer records on 
relevant systems following corporate debt action to ensure all officers have up to date 
information on the status of corporate debt cases.  

Three actions due, one implemented. 
One high and one medium priority 
outstanding relating to a review of the debt 
data matching process and the tools 
involved, including an assessment on the 
number of potential corporate debt cases 
and the resource required to manage these 
cases and reviewing the process for updating 
customer records on relevant systems 
following corporate debt action to ensure all 
officers have up to date information on the 
status of corporate debt cases.

P
age 130



Page 19 of 22

Audit title Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with management
Number of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has 

been received

Traded Services – 
Rosherville Ltd

Opinion: Amber. 
Three actions agreed: one high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including the Non-Executive 
Directors, training for additional staff on roles and responsibilities, and performance reporting 
from Rosherville to the Shareholder Board.

Two actions due, one implemented.
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board 
including the Non-Executive Directors.

Garden Waste 
Collection Service

Opinion Green.
One low priority action agreed.
Action relates to arrangements being made for a review of the procedures to collect garden 
waste bins from customers where necessary.

One action due, one implemented.

Constitution 
Maintenance

Opinion: Amber
Two actions agreed: One high and one low priority.
Actions relate to a secondment agreement for the new Monitoring Officer being put in place 
and measures being put into place to ensure that the documents that make up the Constitution 
are noted as to when they were updated, or that a table of amendments is included.

Two actions due, one implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to a 
secondment agreement for the new 
Monitoring Officer being put in place.

Governance 
Framework

Opinion Green.
Four actions agreed: three medium and one low priority.
Actions relate to the ensuring that documents identified as governance mechanisms are kept 
up to date and regularly checked to ensure this remains the case; including tables of 
amendments in policies, reviewing processes for ensuring business plans are completed in full 
and signed off prior to the start of the year to which they relate; and, strengthening evidence 
requirements in the assurance statements which contribute to the AGS.

No actions due before 31 December 2021.

Leaseholder 
Management

Opinion: Amber
Four actions agreed: One high and three medium priority.
Actions relate to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated, procedure notes being reviewed, 
the arrangements in place to calculate interim service charges being reviewed, and reviewing 
the arrangements in place to respond to requests to view the accounts which can be made 
available for the inspection of leaseholders.

No actions due before 31 December 2021.

Risk Management 
Compliance

Opinion: Amber
Three actions agreed: One high and two medium priority.
Actions relate to reviewing the processes in place for assessing and recording operational risks; 
reviewing the arrangements in place for providing consistent risk management training to staff; 
and, reviewing the arrangements in place for reviewing Service Risk Registers.

One action due, one implemented. 

P
age 131



Page 20 of 22

Actions outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit title Action Priority Planned 
implementation 

date

Management update

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Information about flexi time and TOIL on 
the intranet should be reviewed and a 
central document created and circulated 
to staff; in addition to the information 
already provided on the intranet, this 
should include:
- guidance regarding the operation of 
TOIL, including eligibility, the rate at 
which time can be re-claimed and how 
this should be recorded;
- clarification on whether a timesheet 
needs to be completed by employees 
who are not taking part in the flexi 
scheme;
- the requirement to book flexi leave and 
TOIL on SS4U, including clarification on 
the recording of part-days;
- additional information / examples on 
how time should be recorded on days 
when personal appointments have 
occurred;
- responsibility for completing 
timesheets, including updating the 
templates;
- a reminder for staff that that they 
should ensure the correct number of 
hours are recorded for a standard 
working day / half day;
- the requirement to give an explanation 
for any authorised adjustments.

High 31 December 
2020

Although outstanding as of 31 December 2021, 
this action has now been completed.  

P
age 132



Page 21 of 22

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Following the circulation of the guidance 
recommended at R1, line managers 
should be reminded of their role in 
ensuring that this is adhered to, by 
checking and signing-off timesheets on a 
monthly basis, as well as how they should 
deal with any concerns.

High 31 December 
2020

Although outstanding as of 31 December 2021, 
this action has now been completed.  

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

A council overtime policy document 
should be created, highlighting the Green 
Book section on overtime, and reiterating 
the correct rates of pay and the Working 
Time Directive. The policy should include 
the process for claiming overtime. This 
document along with a copy of the 
Conditions of Service of the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services 
(Green Book) should be made available 
on the intranet.

High 31 December 
2020

Although outstanding as of 31 December 2021, 
this action has now been completed.  

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & 
Overtime

Service managers should be reminded of 
the overtime rates including the 
guidelines for part-time staff and also the 
Working Time Directive.

High 31 December 
2020

Although outstanding as of 31 December 2021, 
this action has now been completed.  

P
age 133



Appendix A

Page 22 of 22

Definitions of audit opinions & action priorities
Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively, and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Actions made are considered to be opportunities to 
enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and actions have been made to improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety, or damage to reputation.  
Actions have been made to introduce new controls, improve 
compliance with existing controls or improve the efficiency of 
operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the action as 
a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
action within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the action as resources allow. 

Page 134



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Charter Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present for approval the Internal Audit Charter.

Recommendations:
Members approve the Charter presented at Appendix 2.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 

to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance. These Standards are also supported by 
CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. The Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards require internal audit to have a charter to define their 
purpose, authority and responsibility and is periodically reviewed 
and approved. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is 
responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham 
Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to the Section 
151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit services 
through the Shared Service to both authorities.

Finance and Value for 
Money

An adequate and effective Internal Audit function provides the 
council with assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and 
effective use of council resources in delivery of services.

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud supports the 
council in achieving all of its objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective #3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 135 Agenda Item 9



2

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) state that: The purpose, 
authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined in 
an internal audit charter, consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the 
Code of Ethics and The Standards. The Chief Audit Executive must periodically 
review the internal audit charter and present it to senior management and the 
board for approval.

1.2 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter in place was approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee on 15 February 2021.

2. Review of the Charter

2.1 As mentioned in the background to this report, it is a requirement of the PSIAS to 
have a charter in place covering aspects of internal audit activity. The existing 
charter meets all the requirements of PSIAS, however, as officers were previously 
undertaking multi-disciplinary roles, it had been designed to also cover counter 
fraud activity. 

2.2 Officers within Internal Audit and Counter Fraud have now moved to designated 
roles and there is no formal requirement for the activity of the counter fraud team 
to be included in the Charter. It was therefore necessary for changes to be made 
and it was also identified that there may be opportunity to make the links to the 
individual standards much clearer. 

2.3 Accordingly, a complete refresh of the Charter has been undertaken. The sections 
within the Charter now align with the headings of the relevant standards, which 
are also noted with the headings, and the document has been updated to focus on 
internal audit activity in line with those requirements

2.4 A copy of the charter is provided at Appendix 2 for Members’ approval for 2022-
23.

3. Appendices

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 

3.2 Appendix 2: Internal Audit Charter

4. Background Documents 

4.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: James Larkin

Email: James.larkin@medway.gov.uk

Page 136



3

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The Chief Audit Executive 

must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The Internal Audit Charter is 
intended to ensure that the service continues to develop in line with the aspirations 
of those charged with governance at Gravesham Borough Council and Medway 
Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit Team provides an independent and objective opinion to the 
organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving 
the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a sound internal 
control environment has a positive contribution to community safety in its broadest 
sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital/website implications to this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 137

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Internal Audit Charter
Medway Council &

Gravesham Borough Council

Page 139



Page 2 of 9

1. Introduction
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) provide a consolidated approach to internal auditing standards 
across the whole of the public sector. They are an expansion of the Institute of Internal Auditors’ (IIA) 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, adding elements specific to the UK 
public Sector, and are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note to the PSIAS. The ‘Standards’ 
form part of the wider mandatory elements of the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) which is 
applicable to all internal audit functions and has been adopted within the PSIAS:

Internal audit activities are delivered by the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council 
and Gravesham Borough Council, which was formed on 1 March 2016. The Internal Audit Team (‘Internal Audit’) 
recognises and will comply with the mandatory elements of the PSIAS; the Definition of Internal Auditing, the 
Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards 
themselves. 

The Standards require Internal Audit to implement and maintain a Charter, which formally defines the purpose, 
authority, and responsibility of Internal Audit. 

This Charter is designed to meet the requirements of the Standards while also setting out Internal Audit’s position 
within the councils, including functional and operational reporting lines. It also defines the scope of Internal 
Audit’s activities and authorises access to records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the performance 
of these activities. The Charter will be reviewed and presented to the Senior Management and Boards of both 
councils on an annual basis for approval.

2. Mission & Core Principles
Under the IPPF, the ‘Mission’ of internal audit is ‘to enhance and protect organisational value 
by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight.’ This mission is underpinned by the ‘Core 
Principles’, which require the internal audit function to:

 Demonstrate Integrity,
 Demonstrate competence and due professional care,
 Be objective and free from undue influence (independent),
 Align with strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation,
 Be appropriately positioned and adequately resourced,
 Demonstrate quality and continuous improvement

Page 140



Page 3 of 9

 Communicate effectively,
 Provide risk-based assurance,
 Be insightful, proactive, and future focused, and
 Promote organisational development.

3. Purpose (Standard 1000)

Internal Audit is a vital component to the council’s effective running, and will provide assurance, advice, and 
insight to help protect and enhance the risk management, internal control, and governance, arrangements.

The IIA defines internal auditing as: 

“An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an 
organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and 
governance processes”.

Internal Audit’s role is designed to support Senior Management to fulfil their own risk, control, and governance 
responsibilities and provide the Audit Committees with information necessary for them to fulfil their 
responsibilities and duties.

Internal Audit also has a wider role as a ‘critical friend’ of both councils, able to confidently challenge current 
practice, champion best practice, and support management in improvement. This is achieved through Internal 
Audit providing assurance and consulting activities.

The Mission, Vision, and objectives of Internal Audit are set out in the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Strategy.

4. Authority (Standard 1000)

Internal Audit is a statutory requirement for local government; the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require 
local authorities to: 

“Undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance”.

Deriving authority from those Regulations and those authorising this Charter, Internal Audit is free to plan and 
undertake any internal audit work necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. To enable full discharge of its duties, 
Internal Audit has:

 A right of direct access to the Chairs of the Audit Committees and Senior Management,
 Free and unrestricted access to all services, records (including those held electronically), property and 

personnel (Members, officers and third parties, including contractors) of Medway Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council that it deems necessary to undertake its work.

5. Responsibility (Standard 1000)

The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for establishing an internal audit service. Gravesham 
Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver the 
internal audit function through the Shared Service to both councils. 

Page 141



Page 4 of 9

The role of Chief Audit Executive (CAE) is fulfilled by the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (HIACF), who is 
responsible for managing the internal audit function in accordance with the IPPF and arrangements set out in this 
Charter. 

For the purposes of this Charter the following definitions apply:

 The Audit Committees: Those charged with governance. For Medway this role is fulfilled by the Audit 
Committee and for Gravesham this role is fulfilled by the Finance & Audit Committee. The Board will: 
o Approve the Internal Audit Charter, 
o Approve the Internal Audit resource budget, 
o Approve the risk-based Internal Audit Plans,
o Receive reports from the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud on Internal Audit’s performance 

relative to its plans and other matters,
o Receive the annual opinion on the overall control environment of each council. 

 Senior Management: Those responsible for executive leadership and direction. For Medway this role is 
fulfilled by the Corporate Management Team and for Gravesham this role is fulfilled by the Management 
Team. Senior Management is engaged in approving the Charter, reviews, and comments on the Internal 
Audit Plans, and will receive the results of Internal Audit work as set out in the scope of this Charter. 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud reports functionally to the Audit Committees, reports in their name 
to these Committees, and has direct rights of access to the Chairs of these Committees.  Administratively, the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud reports to the Chief Finance Officer of Medway Council and the Director 
(Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council (s151 Officers). See Appendix 1.

The key responsibilities of Internal Audit include: 

 Developing flexible risk-based Internal Audit Plans in consultation with Senior Management and presented 
periodically to the Audit Committees for approval,

 Delivering high quality assurance work focused on the effectiveness of risk management, control, and 
governance arrangements, to help the councils to achieve their objectives, 

 Monitoring the status of agreed management actions and providing regular updates to Senior Management 
and the Audit Committees, including highlighting significant risks, 

 Providing responsive consultancy services, acting as a critical friend and the provision of advice & 
information on matters relating to risk management, control, and governance,

 Liaison with external auditors and other assurance providers to seek optimal assurance coverage. 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit Executive) is responsible for producing an annual 
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of risk management, control, and 
governance for each council. 

6. Independence & objectivity (Standard 1100)

Internal Audit will remain free from undue interference by any element in the organisation, including matters of 
the selection, scope, procedures, frequency, timing, or report content of work. The Head of Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud will confirm to the Audit Committees of each council, at least annually, the organisational 
independence and objectivity of Internal Audit through the annual review of this Charter. 

Internal Auditors must maintain ‘an unbiased attitude that allows them to perform their engagements in such a 
manner that they believe in their work product and that no quality compromises are made’ Maintaining 
objectivity requires Internal Auditors to be impartial and to avoid conflicts of interests that may otherwise impact 
on their professional judgement.

Page 142



Page 5 of 9

A such, officers within Internal Audit will exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, 
evaluating, and communicating information about the activity or process being examined. Internal Auditors will 
make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and not be unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgments. 

In order to achieve a degree of independence and objectivity necessary to effectively discharge its 
responsibilities, arrangements are in place to ensure that Internal Audit: 

 will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities audited,
 will not implement internal controls, develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in 

any other activity that may impair their judgment,
 has the freedom and authority to report in its own name, 
 recognises and addresses potential conflicts of interest through Internal Auditors not undertaking an 

audit for at least one year in an area where they have had previous operational roles, and
 will not allocate assurance engagements to individual Internal Auditors who have undertaken consultancy 

engagements for the specific function until at least one year after the consultancy engagement was 
completed. 

Internal Auditors are required to notify the Internal Audit Manager or Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud of 
any potential impairments to their independence when work is allocated to them.  All Internal Auditors are 
required to submit annual declarations of interest or no interest, the results of which assist the allocation of work 
to the team. 

If independence or objectivity is impaired in fact or appearance, the details of the impairment will be disclosed to 
Senior Management and the Audit Committees.

As Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, the Chief Audit Executive has responsibility for counter fraud activities 
at Both Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council. As such, Internal Audit cannot provide independent 
assurance over the counter fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent assurance over the 
effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of internal audit services on a 
periodic basis. 

7. Proficiency & Due Professional Care (Standard 1200)

Internal Auditors will conduct themselves at all times in accordance with the principles contained in the Code of 
Ethics (Competence, Confidentiality, Integrity and Objectivity). They will also behave in accordance with the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty, Leadership) and 
the Employee Code of Conduct. 

Internal Auditors will perform work with due professional care, competence, and diligence. Internal Auditors 
cannot be expected to identify every control weakness or irregularity, but their work is designed to enable them 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the controls examined within the scope of their review. 

Internal Auditors have a duty to develop and maintain their professional skills, knowledge and judgement based 
on appropriate training, ability, integrity, and objectivity. Internal Auditors will appraise themselves and conduct 
all work in accordance with the IPPF and the PSIAS. 

Internal Auditors will be alert to the possibility of intentional wrongdoing, errors and omissions, poor value for 
money, failure to comply with management policy, and conflicts of interest. They have a direct, personal 
responsibility to report any suspicions of fraud, corruption, or improper conduct to the Head of Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud in accordance with agreed procedures. All counter fraud related activity will be handled by the 
Counter Fraud Team and results of this activity will be used to inform the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud’s (as Chief Audit Executive) annual opinion and the risk-based plan.

Page 143



Page 6 of 9

Opening 
meeting

Terms of 
reference 
circulated

Fieldwork

Wash up 
meeting 

Draft 
report 

circulated 

Draft 
report 

meeting 

Final 
report 

circulated 

Internal Auditors will operate with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding of records and 
information, and in compliance with the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). There 
will be no unauthorised disclosure of information unless there is a legal or professional requirement (subject to an 
obligation to keep information confidential) to do so. Confidential information gained in the course of internal 
audit work will not be used for personal gain and will be managed in accordance with data protection and 
relevant information governance policies.

Internal Auditors will be subject to Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks to comply with security 
requirements for access to any of the computer systems of each council.

8. Scope of Services
The scope of Internal Audit activities includes all activities conducted by the Medway Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council and extends to the entire control environment, including those services provided in partnership 
or under contract with external organisations. There are no restrictions. 

The work of Internal Audit can be categorised into two key areas: 

 Assurance services – an objective examination of evidence for the purpose of providing an independent 
opinion on, risk management, control, and governance processes regarding an entity, operation, function, 
process, system, or other subject matter. This work will primarily be delivered through planned reviews, 
though may also include responsive engagements, the nature and scope of which will be determined by 
Internal Audit.  Whether planned or responsive, significant engagements (taking more than five days) will 
result in a formal report with an opinion and if necessary, agreed management actions. Examples include 
financial, performance and compliance reviews, verification of data/claims, confirmation of procurement 
awards, project support.

 Consultancy services – advisory and related client service activities, the nature and scope of which are set 
by the client, are intended to add value, and improve an organisation’s risk management, control, and 
governance processes without assuming management responsibility. These engagements will support the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud’s (as Chief Audit Executive) annual opinion but will not replace 
assurance engagements. Examples include counsel, advice, facilitation, training. 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit Executive) cannot give total assurance that control 
weaknesses or irregularities do not exist. Managers are fully responsible for the quality of internal control within 
their area of accountability. They should ensure that appropriate and adequate risk management, control 
systems, accounting records, financial processes and governance arrangements exist (the control environment), 
without depending on Internal Audit to identify weaknesses or control failures.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit Executive)  will assist with the implementation of the 
counter fraud policies/strategies and the investigation of fraud and irregularities in line with the 
policies/strategies and the constitutions of both Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.

Page 144



Page 7 of 9

9. Internal Audit Plan (Standard 2010)

At least annually, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud will undertake a risk-based assessment to 
determine the priorities for internal audit activity and develop a risk based Internal Audit Plan for each council. 
The plans will:

 be developed in consultation with Senior Management, 
 take into account the council’s priorities and objectives, 
 consider the risk management framework, 
 consider the work of other assurance providers, and 
 also be based upon Internal Audit’s own judgement of risks.

The Internal Audit Plans will be presented to Senior Management and the Audit Committees for review and 
approval. These plans will be reviewed and adjusted, as necessary, in response to changes in the business, risks, 
operations, programs, systems, and controls. Any such changes to the agreed plan will be reported to the Audit 
Committees for approval via the periodic progress reports.

The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for ensuring the team has sufficient and appropriate resources that can 
be deployed effectively to deliver plans containing sufficient assurance and consultancy work to form an opinion 
on the overall control environment of each council. The Internal Audit Plans will include a resource budget for the 
period and will note the impact of any resource limitations. The Audit Committees will also receive notification of 
changes to projected resource as part of the periodic progress updates.

10.Reporting (Standard 2400)

A written report will be prepared and issued by the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud or designee following 
the conclusion of each significant engagement, with the specific distribution of each report agreed in the Terms of 
Reference issued before the work commences. All final reports will be issued to the relevant Service 
Manager/Head of Service, Assistant Director/Chief Officer, Director, and the Chief Executive; all reports with 
financial elements will also be issued to the Section 151 Officers and all reports with legal elements will also be 
issued to the Monitoring Officers. 

Management actions agreed as a consequence of assurance engagement findings will be followed up by Internal 
Audit and will follow an escalation process to address any significant findings that remain open. Internal Audit will 
not revise the assurance opinions given in final reports based on the results of follow up work. 

On a periodic basis, a summary of Internal Audit’s activity and the results of internal audit engagements will be 
reported to Senior Management and the Audit Committees. These reports will include the outcomes and progress 
updates of follow up in relation to agreed management actions.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit Executive) will deliver an annual opinion report to 
each council that can be used by the organisation to inform its Annual Governance Statement and support the 
Statement of Accounts. This opinion will relate to the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
framework of risk management, internal controls, and governance and will incorporate as a minimum:

 The scope, including the time period covered for the opinion, 
 Scope limitations,
 Consideration of all related projects including the reliance on other assurance providers, 
 A summary of the information that supports the opinion, 
 The risk or control framework or other criteria used as a basis for the overall opinion, 
 The overall opinion, judgment or conclusion reached,

Page 145



Page 8 of 9

 A statement on conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the independence of the 
service, and the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme. 

The opinion will be supported by the content of the annual report, which will include a statement on the 
organisational independence of Internal Audit and conformance with the Code of Ethics, a summary of the 
outcomes of all assurance and consultancy engagements undertaken during the year, a summary of the 
performance of the team in line with the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme, and the status of agreed 
management actions resulting from assurance engagements.  

11.Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (Standard 1300)

The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is committed to providing a high-quality internal audit function 
that meets the needs of its stakeholders and adds value to both councils. It aims to support the achievement of 
strategic objectives by providing independent, insightful assurance on risk management, control, and governance. 

Internal Audit will maintain a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program (QAIP) that covers all aspects of 
internal audit activity, which will deliver this commitment by:

 Providing a system for monitoring and evaluating effectiveness and conformance with the Standards, 
 Ensuring compliance with the Code of Ethics and council Codes of Conduct,
 Creating mechanisms to identify and implement improvements,
 Embedding a culture of continuous improvement within the team,
 Meeting client expectations / demonstrating our importance to the councils,
 Facilitating the Chief Audit Executive’s statement on conformance with the PSIAS.

The QAIP will cover the results of periodic internal and external assessments, supervision of engagements, Key 
Performance Indicators, and customer feedback questionnaires. The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud will 
review the QAIP on an annual basis and present to Senior Management and the Audit Committees for approval. 
The Audit Committees will receive details of outputs against the QAIP as part of their periodic progress updates.

Page 146



Page 9 of 9

APPENDIX 1

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 14 February 2022

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 – Review of 
progress 2021-22

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report provides an update on progress against the Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 
2020-2024 made by the team during 2021-22 to date.

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the changes to the strategy that have been outlined in 

Appendix 3 as part of the 2021 refresh.

Key Implications:
Item Implications
Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 

to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local 
authority is responsible for establishing the internal audit service; 
Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to 
the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit 
services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.

Finance and Value for 
Money

Adequate and effective Internal Audit & Counter Fraud functions 
provide the council with assurance on the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could 
have an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud supports the 
council in achieving all of its objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective #3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 149 Agenda Item 10



2

1. Introduction

1.1 The Finance & Audit Committee approved the Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 
2020-2024 on 10 March 2020. The Strategy was prepared to set out a clear vision 
and set of objectives for the development of the Shared Service. The Strategy 
reflects that the formation of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
with Medway was not solely driven by the requirement to reduce costs, but also 
aspired to deliver increased resilience, flexibility and efficiency and ultimately 
improve the services received by both authorities through shared learning and 
investment in staff.

2. Review of progress against the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-2024

2.1 The Strategy sets out three strategic objectives:

 Aligned priorities: Ensuring the team’s work is focussed on the areas of most 
importance to the organisation, ensuring the results of our work are balanced, 
pragmatic and emphasise positive findings alongside areas for improvement, 
and ensuring our performance measurement arrangements are focussed on 
those areas most valued by the organisation,

 Effective staff:  Developing the team into a flexible and resilient service, 
providing development opportunities and supporting professional and skills 
training to ensure staff are motivated and productive.

 Positive impact: Building strong, positive working relationships with officers and 
Members, raising the profile of the service so the team’s skills and resources 
are used to support the organisation in key projects, producing high quality 
reports promptly following our work to maximise the positive impact of the work 
we do and exploring opportunities for further development and expansion. 

2.2 A review has been conducted and progress against the strategic objectives 
outlined above are detailed in Appendix 2. 

2.3 As part of the annual review, the strategy has also been refreshed to take into 
account the way the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud activities are now delivered 
following the change from multi-disciplinary working to designated roles. The 
refreshed strategy can be found at Appendix 3.

2.4 The 2021 refresh has resulted in significant changes to the introduction to the 
strategy to make the roles of each team and the activities they will deliver much 
clearer. Our mission statement has also been updated to incorporate the aims of 
the counter fraud activity as well as that of internal audit. 

2.5 There has been no change to the strategic objectives, however, the fourth 
statement under the objective ‘Positive Impact’ has been updated to add more 
clarity around the partnership working that may be undertaken.

3. Appendices

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report: 

3.2 Appendix 2: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 - Progress Review 
December 2021.

3.3 Appendix 3: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 (2021 Refresh)

Page 150



3

4. Background Documents 

4.1 There are no background documents.

Lead Officer: James Larkin

Email: James.larkin@medway.gov.uk

Page 151



4

Secondary Implications
Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The Chief Audit Executive 

must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Strategy is intended to ensure that the service continues to develop in line 
with the aspirations of those charged with governance at Gravesham Borough 
Council and Medway Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit Team & Counter Fraud Service provides an independent and 
objective opinion to the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team 
combined with a sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to 
community safety in its broadest sense.
The counter fraud arrangements of the council acknowledge that the council can be 
exposed to fraud and are intended to, as far as possible, prevent fraud occurring 
and pursue criminal action if needed when fraud is detected.  Working with partners 
to combat crime and disorder has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital/website implications to this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 152

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Strategy

2020-2024

Review of Progress 
December 2021

Page 153



Page 2 of 9

I. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal 
audit, counter fraud and investigation services to Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter sets out our purpose, authority, and responsibilities to deliver 
these services to both authorities.  Our Strategy supports the Charter and provides a framework to 
ensure our work is aligned to the priorities and values of both Medway and Gravesham councils.  

This strategy will be delivered through Annual Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plans prepared for 
each authority, setting out the annual programme of work and available resources for each.  Our 
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) will support the service in embedding a culture 
of continuous improvement and help demonstrate the quality and performance of the service to 
both authorities.

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, 
objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes.  The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the 
councils to manage their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent 
activity committed against the councils.  

II. Our mission & vision 

We will adopt the mission statement of internal audit of the Chartered Institute of Internal Audit 
(CIIA) for all aspects of our work:  To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based 
and objective assurance, advice and insight.

Our vision is to deliver high quality assurance, consultancy and counter fraud work to help ensure the 
authorities meet their objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, promoting 
improvement, learning & innovation so that we can truly add value. By investing in our staff and 
working to raise our profile, we aim to become the default respected advisor and critical friend at the 
heart of Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.

Page 154



III. Our strategic objectives & progress to date
We have three core strategic objectives for the Shared Service to drive us towards achieving our mission & vision: 

Objective Progress in 2021-22 to date

Aligned priorities
Our strategies & work plans will be developed and 
reviewed in consultation with key clients to ensure 
they are closely aligned to the core objectives and 
risks of the authorities.

The process to develop the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2021-22 for both 
councils in the Shared Service began in December 2020. 

The planning process involved the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (HIACF) 
consulting with the various Directorate and Divisional management teams of the two 
authorities, seeking service views on what they considered to be their areas of risk 
for the coming year and identifying any changes within services that could add 
further change to the control environment. Due to the impact of the pandemic, this 
engagement was limited in some areas.

The information gathered was then fed into the ‘Audit Needs Assessments’, which 
are risk-based assessments of all auditable areas within each council, to identify the 
most appropriate areas for review. 

From now on the internal audit and counter fraud plans will now be developed 
separately in line with best practice and submitted for separate approval. Separating 
the plans will give Members a more detailed view of how we aim to use the available 
internal audit and counter fraud resources during the year.

The engagement process has now commenced for the development of the 2022-23 
internal audit plan and the HIACF is currently attending the various meetings across 
the two councils to consult on perceived risks and also identify any other forms of 
assurance that could be relied upon and allow internal audit resource to be targeted 
elsewhere.

We have also been reviewing the Audit Needs Assessment process and are making 
changes to the scoring part of the process. It is currently based upon three 
categories, inherent risk, control risk and reputational risk but we are looking to 
include further risk areas, such as financial risk and fraud risk, to create a broader 
picture of overall risks.

We are moving towards ensuring that the internal audit plans are truly risk based and 
will no longer be using a cyclical plan. While we are aware that the cyclical element 

P
age 155



Page 4 of 9

of the plan focuses on certain key areas of the councils’ functions, we have to 
consider whether repeated reviews, that generally show there are no issues, really 
add value in terms of providing assurance. All those key areas are likely to feature 
highly in the overall risk assessment, so will still be considered for appropriate 
review. 

In addition, we are aiming to make internal audit more responsive to changes in the 
risk environment. At present an annual plan is agreed and any changes to that plan 
are subject to Member approval, which can limit our ability to respond in a timely 
manner. Our Audit Needs Assessment will identify the key areas for review in 2022-
23 but this assessment is based on a point in time and can be subject to change, so 
we will be preparing a plan for quarter one and quarter two of 2022-23 that is 
targeted on the highest priority areas, which will be presented to the respective 
Audit Committees in March 2022. The assessment will be updated in year to account 
for any changes in the risk environment, or to the resources available, and the plan 
for quarters three and four of 2022-23 presented to the Committees for approval in 
September 2022.

Our audit work will be scheduled and the scope 
defined in consultation with key clients to ensure we 
focus on the right areas. 

A high-level scope for each review is established as part of the planning process and 
all 2021-22 reviews were scheduled in consultation with services to avoid them 
taking place during peak periods for the client. A more defined scope of each 
individual assurance or consultancy review is developed in consultation with the key 
client to ensure we focus on the right risk areas.

We will again consult with clients regarding the timing of reviews but as it is intended 
to focus on the highest risk areas within the first half of the year, there may be a 
need for some compromise between the Internal Audit team and the client to ensure 
that these reviews can take place at the most suitable time while still addressing the 
priority of the risk.

Our Counter Fraud activity will be directed to the 
most appropriate areas of risk within each authority.

The Counter Fraud team has been through a number of changes during 2021-22, with 
the retirement of the Counter Fraud Assistant at the end of April and resignation of a 
Counter Fraud Officer in October. Consequently, there have been various vacancy 
periods that have impacted on delivery of work.

However, we have focused available resource on addressing the backlog of matches 
from the National Fraud Initiative exercises from 2019-20 and 2020-21. All matches 
from the 2019-20 Council Tax exercise have been cleared and significant progress has 
been made on the 2020-21 exercise, although assistance has been sought from other 

P
age 156



Page 5 of 9

service areas to review appropriate matches. We have also seen a return to home 
visits and interviews following the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions, which has enabled a 
number of cases to progress.

The level of savings for the year to date demonstrates the effectiveness of the team.

We will take a balanced and pragmatic approach to 
our work and our reports will emphasise positive 
findings alongside areas for improvement. 

All internal audit reports are written in a way that provides a balanced look at the 
findings of the review, aiming to highlight any positives identified as well as picking 
up on the areas where recommendations have been made. We also have stages in 
the audit process to ensure that clients are fully engaged throughout the process and 
have the opportunity to discuss actions and findings before formal reports are issued. 

This process has recently been reviewed and updated to ensure that more detailed 
discussions are held with clients about the findings of the audit, including taking a 
more collaborative approach when agreeing actions, to ensure that they are 
appropriate, achievable and add value for money. Given that the clients are the 
experts in their areas, they are best placed to identify an action that addresses the 
control weakness, in partnership with the Internal Auditor. 

We continue to follow up on all agreed actions as they reach their agreed 
implementation dates; seeking confirmation of implementation, including evidence 
in respect of high priority actions, or an update on the current position for those that 
are outstanding. The respective Corporate Management Teams also receive quarterly 
reports detailing the progress against all actions.  

The outcomes of this follow up work are detailed in the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update Reports to each Audit Committee; ensuring that positive action taken by 
management to address any control weaknesses identified is highlighted to Members 
and provide assurance that management are strengthening the council’s control 
environment as a result of our work. 

Our performance measurement and monitoring 
arrangements will be focussed on the aspects of the 
service most valued by senior management and the 
Audit Committees of both authorities. 

Our performance measurement and monitoring arrangements are formally defined 
in the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) that is endorsed by 
senior management and the respective Audit Committees annually.

This document has been subject to its annual review and Members will shortly 
receive the proposed QAIP for 2022-23 for approval.  

P
age 157



Page 6 of 9

Effective staff
We are committed to investing in staff development 
through training and other opportunities and will 
support professional qualification training and 
continuing professional development across the 
service. 

Our Internal Audit Manager was accepted directly into the third year of a three-year 
Level 7 Internal Audit Professional Apprenticeship based on qualifications already 
held, which was completed this year. She was subsequently awarded a MSc in 
Internal Audit Management & Consultancy and now also holds the Internal Audit 
Professional designation.

Two Internal Auditors are just over twelve months into a two-year Level Four Internal 
Audit Practitioner Apprenticeship. Both are progressing well and have completed 
several training modules and exams. The course is due to finish in November 2022 at 
which point they will both hold the Internal Audit Practitioner designation. 

We will be looking at placing more staff on internal audit apprenticeships when the 
current officers finish their course.

Two Counter Fraud Officers completed the assessment process for accreditation 
under the newly created Government Counter Fraud Profession (GCFP). However, 
one has since moved into an Intelligence Analyst role and the other has left the 
authority. The Counter Fraud Manager and HIACF are awaiting the assessment 
criteria for managers to join the GCFP as the practitioner level is not appropriate.

Our newly appointed Counter Fraud Officer commenced a Level Four Counter Fraud 
Investigator apprenticeship with CIPFA in November 2021 and a space has been 
secured on the next intake in April 2022 for the Officer that will be starting in January 
2022. This will lead to both becoming Accredited Counter Fraud Specialists.

We will employ and develop a strong mix of people 
with different skills, technical expertise and we will 
match those people to the work plans to make the 
best use of our staff.  

Since the launch of the Shared Service, individual assurance reviews have been 
allocated to officers based upon a mixture of their existing skills and experience and 
areas where they were less familiar in order to provide them with more challenge 
and increase their experience. 

This practice has continued with rotations of staff each year to increase the 
knowledge base amongst the team and provide greater resilience and maintain 
independence. This practice has still also considered their particular skill sets. 

As mentioned last year, while we aim to ensure a good knowledge base across all 
officers, we are considering whether training should be undertaken in some specialist 
areas such as IT, to ensure that we have suitable skills within the service. The impact 

P
age 158



Page 7 of 9

on resources during the year has limited our ability to move this forward but is an 
area of focus for 2022-23.

We will be a great place to work with a motivated, 
productive, and aspirational workforce.  

Following a consultation in December 2020, officers were formally moved to 
designated roles as either Internal Auditors or Counter Fraud Officers from April 2021 
and following the resignation of an Internal Audit Team Leader in June 2021, a mini 
restructure was completed to create a Senior Internal Auditor role and make the 
remaining Internal Audit Team Leader an Internal Audit Manager and Counter Fraud 
Team Leader to Counter Fraud Manager to reflect the true nature of the 
responsibilities of the roles. 

It has already been demonstrated that the move to designated roles makes the 
service more effective with some of the highest levels of results achieved during 
2019-20 when the approach was trialled. Despite the impacts of Covid-19 and 
temporary redeployments, we also saw an extremely good level of service being 
maintained for both authorities.

The service is continually looking to improve and the changes to the internal audit 
structure have been designed to provide a career path for those with aspirations to 
progress. The newly appointed officers in both areas of the service have a clear 
desire to learn, which is contributing to the motivation to succeed.

Positive impact
We will build strong, positive professional 
relationships with key clients and Members across 
both authorities and engage them in the 
development of our strategies and work plans. 

We continue to ensure there is engagement with services in the process for setting 
the internal audit plans as well as defining the scope of individual reviews. Our 
processes are reviewed frequently with the engagement of clients being a key factor 
to any considerations. The HIACF attendance at DMT’s is primarily aimed at 
identifying risks but also provides an opportunity to remind services about the role 
and purpose of the Internal Audit team to reaffirm that we are a ‘critical friend’ to 
the organisations and are there to help drive continuous improvement.

We also continue to invite service managers from other areas within both councils to 
attend IA&CF Service meetings, where they can talk about the work of their services 
to help inform both Internal Auditors and Counter Fraud Officers what is happening 
across the authorities.

We will raise the profile of the work of the service to 
ensure senior management and Members are aware 

Awareness of the Internal Audit team’s ability to conduct responsive assurance work 
appears to be increasing as requests have been received, however, impacts on 

P
age 159



Page 8 of 9

of the responsive consultancy and investigation 
services we can provide. 

resources that have been created by sickness and vacancies have limited our ability 
to deliver such work during 2021-22. The restructuring of the Internal Audit team and 
creation of a more responsive plan for 2022-23 are aimed at improving the ability to 
react to request for responsive assurance work. 

The Counter Fraud team have attended various service team meetings in the past 
and will be looking to resurrect this practice in 2022-23 when the team will be fully 
staffed, meeting with teams in high risk areas to try and raise fraud awareness and, 
in areas of newly emerging fraud risks, provide an overview of the services that the 
Counter Fraud Team can provide.

We will seek to be involved in key projects and 
working groups at both authorities to provide 
assistance on governance, risk, and control and also 
to promote our work and the services we can provide 
to a wider audience. 

Representatives from the IA&CF Service continue to attend a number of corporate 
working groups at both councils including the Security Information Governance 
Group (Medway), Information Governance Group (GBC), Strategic Risk Management 
Group (Medway) and Risk Management Working Group (GBC).

In addition, members of the Internal Audit team have represented the Service a 
number of project specific working groups across both authorities to provide 
assistance and advice on governance, risk management and control matters where 
appropriate. 

We will share our outputs promptly with clients and 
Audit Committees through high quality reports to 
maximise the positive impact of our work. 

The processes for assurance reviews have been refined with target time periods set 
for each phase of the review process to ensure completion within a reasonable time 
period. The outputs of the Internal Auditors are monitored by the Internal Audit 
Manager and the outputs for timescales relating to quality reviews undertaken by 
the Internal Audit Manager are monitored by the HIACF. 

We are aware of delays this year in the quality control process, which have been 
caused by sickness and the responsibility of reviewing all assurance reviews falling to 
one officer along with their other duties. The restructure within the Internal Audit 
team was designed to remedy this issue and once all officers are in those new roles, 
we will see a much more efficient process. 

The Audit Committees of both authorities continue to receive three update reports in 
year and an annual report outlining all the work undertaken by the service each year. 
From 2022-23, these reports will be separated to provide updates on progress 
against the Internal Audit Plan and the Counter Fraud Plan to ensure there is clarity 
over the work being undertaken by each part of the Service. 

P
age 160



Page 9 of 9

We will continue to build on the success of the shared 
working arrangements and explore all opportunities 
for further development, including the potential to 
expand the partnership and increase cost savings and 
resilience or sell services.

As with last year, there has been no progress on this area during due to other more 
urgent priorities and operational demands, including various recruitment processes. 

However, there have been a number of requests from Housing Associations for 
assistance with counter fraud services, so this is an avenue that will be explored 
during 2022-23.

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud Strategy

2020-2024

(2021 Refresh)

Page 163



Page 2 of 3

I. Introduction
The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide 
Internal Audit and Counter Fraud functions to Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council. Our 
Strategy provides a framework to ensure our work is aligned to the priorities and values of both 
Medway and Gravesham councils and is delivered through Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Plans 
prepared for each authority, setting out the available resources and programmes of work for each.  

The role of the Internal Audit team is to provide an independent, objective assurance and consulting 
activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes. The Internal Audit Charter 
sets out our purpose, authority, and responsibility to deliver the Internal Audit function to both 
authorities and this Strategy is designed to support the Charter. Our Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) will support the Internal Audit team in embedding a culture of 
continuous improvement and help demonstrate the quality and performance of the Internal Audit 
team at both authorities.

The role of the Counter Fraud team is to act as the consultant to each authority on issues of fraud, 
bribery, and corruption. It will assess the fraud risks associated with each council’s objectives, 
providing advice and guidance in relation to fraud prevention and raising fraud awareness amongst 
employees and Members through appropriate training. The Counter Fraud team will also undertake 
pro-active counter fraud activity to identify potential instances of fraud and error as well as respond 
to allegations received with appropriate investigation methods. In cases of proven fraud and error, 
redress will be sought, and the findings used to further enhance fraud prevention, with publicity 
designed to deter potential future offenders. This strategy is designed to support the Anti-Fraud & 
Corruption Strategies of both councils.
 

II. Our mission & vision 
The mission of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is to enhance and protect 
organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice, and insight, and to 
protect assets, resources, and public funds by ensuring they are not misused or misappropriated 
through fraud, bribery, corruption, and theft.

Our vision is to deliver high quality assurance, consultancy, and counter fraud work to help ensure the 
authorities meet their objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, promoting 
improvement, learning & innovation so that we can truly add value. By investing in our staff and 
working to raise our profile, we aim to become the default, respected advisor, and critical friend at 
the heart of Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.

III. Our strategic objectives
We have three core strategic objectives for the Shared Service to drive us towards achieving our 
mission & vision: 

Page 164



Page 3 of 3

Aligned priorities
 Our strategies & work plans will be developed and reviewed in consultation with key clients to 

ensure they are closely aligned to the core objectives and risks of the authorities. 

 Our internal audit activity will be scheduled, and the scope defined in consultation with key 
clients to ensure we focus on the right areas. 

 Our counter fraud activity will be directed to the most appropriate areas of risk within each 
authority.

 We will take a balanced and pragmatic approach to our work and our reports will emphasise 
positive findings alongside areas for improvement. 

 Our performance measurement and monitoring arrangements will be focussed on the aspects 
of the service most valued by senior management and the Audit Committees of both 
authorities. 

Effective staff
 We are committed to investing in staff development through training and other opportunities 

and will support professional qualification training and continuing professional development 
across the service. 

 We will employ and develop a strong mix of people with different skills, technical expertise 
and we will match those people to the work plans to make the best use of our staff.  

 We will be a great place to work with a motivated, productive, and aspirational workforce.  

Positive impact
 We will build strong, positive professional relationships with key clients, partners and 

Members across both authorities and engage them in the development of our strategies and 
work plans. 

 We will raise the profile of the work of the service to ensure senior management and 
Members are aware of the responsive assurance, consultancy, and counter fraud services we 
can provide. 

 We will seek to be involved in key projects and working groups at both authorities to provide 
assistance on governance, risk and control matters and also to promote our work and the 
services we can provide to a wider audience. 

 We will work with key external partners, such as the Police, Immigration, other local 
authorities and the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), to address fraudulent activity 
that crosses organisational responsibilities and boundaries. 

 We will share our outputs promptly with clients and the Audit Committees through high 
quality reports to maximise the positive impact of our work. 

 We will continue to build on the success of the shared working arrangements and explore all 
opportunities for further development, including the potential to expand the partnership and 
increase cost savings and resilience or sell services. 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2022-23
	2. Appendix 2 TMSS
	3. Appendix 3 Capital Strategy 2022-2026

	6 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Q3 2021/22
	Appendix 2 HRA Business Plan (Capital)
	Appendix 3 HRA Business Plan (Revenue)

	7 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Q3 2021/22
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V13 - 2021-22 - BMR Q3
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 31 December 2021

	8 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Update 3
	Appendix 2 - IA&CF Update 01 Oct 2021 to 31 Dec 2021

	9 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Charter Review
	Appendix 2 - Draft Internal Audit Charter 2022-23

	10 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2020-24 Progress Review
	Appendix 2 - IA&CF Strategy Progress Review Dec 2021
	Appendix 3 - Strategy 2020-24 (2021 Refresh)


